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Isofol Medical AB (publ.) is a biotech company working with 
the development of the cancer treatment drug, arfolitixorin, 
which Isofol is primarily developing to treat colorectal cancer 
(CRC) – the third most common type of cancer and one for 
which there is a substantial need for more effective drugs. 
When treating colorectal cancer, arfolitixorin is administered 
in combination with the cytotoxic agent, 5-FU (5-fluorouracil), 
in order to improve tumour size reduction and extend the life 
of the cancer patient. The active substance in arfolitixorin is 
MTHF ([6R] -5,10-methylenetetrahydrofolate). 

The folate-based prodrugs, leucovorin and levoleucovorin, 
are currently used in combination with the cytotoxic agent, 
5-FU, in the treatment of colorectal cancer. Isofol intends  
to replace these with arfolitixorin, with the primary aim of 
 improving the treatment outcomes for over 370,000 colorectal 
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cancer patients in the USA, Europe and Japan. Unlike leucovorin 
and levoleucovorin, which must be metabolised into MTHF in 
the body in order to be effective in the treatment of cancer, 
arfolitixorin’s active substance is MTHF, which means that no 
metabolic activation is required and arfolitixorin consequently 
has the potential to achieve a more powerful antitumoural 
 effect for all patients in combination with 5-FU treatment.

Thanks to a global licensing agreement with Merck & Cie, 
a subsidiary of Merck KGaA, Germany, Isofol has the global 
exclusive right to develop and commercialise arfolitixorin in 
the field of oncology. The licensing agreement with Merck also 
gives Isofol access to the unique, patented MTHF/arfolitixorin 
manufacturing process.

Isofol’s operations are based in Gothenburg and the  company’s 
share is traded on the NASDAQ First North Premier exchange.
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BUSINESS CONCEPT
Isofol shall help extend the lives and improve the 
quality of life of people with cancer by making 
the drug, arfolitixorin, globally available.

GOALS
•  To ensure the success of the AGENT study of colorectal cancer.

•  To achieve marketing authorisation for the candidate drug, arfolitixorin, for the 
primary target markets of the USA, Europe and Japan.

•  To establish a solid commercialisation plan for a successful launch of arfolitixorin.

STRATEGIES
Develop arfolitixorin in the field of oncology
Isofol is a biotech company whose goal is to achieve the market launch of arfolitix-
orin. The drug is designed to reduce the tumour burden, improve the quality of life, 
and extend the lifespan of a large number of colorectal cancer patients in need. The 
company focuses on a cancer drug that is deemed to have very substantial medical 
and commercial potential.

Focus on the greatest unmet clinical need
Isofol is conducting a pivotal study focusing on the treatment of metastatic 
colorectal cancer (mCRC) where substantial unmet clinical need exists; many 
 people are affected and existing treatment alternatives are inadequate. Only 14% 
of patients with mCRC are still alive five years after diagnosis.

Organisational strategy
Isofol has built an organisation with key skills that are complemented by partner-
ship- based collaborations designed to secure resources with optimum expertise.

Commercial strategy and business model
Isofol intends to have a commercialisation strategy in place well in advance of 
submitting a marketing authorisation. Isofol’s goal is to out-license arfolitixorin or 
to sell Isofol to a global pharmaceutical company.

| BUSINESS CONCEPT, GOALS AND STRATEGIES
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THE YEAR IN BRIEF

Financial assets 
at the year end 
totalled SEK  
273 m.  

SEK 273 m

Net sales and 
 other operating 
income totalled 
SEK 0 k (3) and 
SEK 0 k (224), 
respectively. 

SEK 0 k

�The�profit�before�
tax was SEK  
-83 m (-72). 

SEK - 83 m

Earnings per 
share totalled SEK 
-2.60 (-2.60). 

SEK -2.60

| THE YEAR IN BRIEF
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JANUARY–MARCH 2018

An abstract summarising the positive effects 
of  treatment with arfolitixorin was published 
at the Gastrointestinal (GI) Cancers symposi-
um in San Francisco in January, and conclud-
ed that “the lack of need for metabolic activa-
tion makes arfolitixorin a better candidate 
than the currently registered pharmaceuticals, 
leucovorin and levoleucovorin, for improved 
out come of 5-FU-based chemotherapy regi-
mens in mCRC”. 

The company received positive feedback 
on consultations with the European Medicines 
Agency (EMA), and has, therefore, now 
reached unanimity with both the EMA and FDA 
on the most important parameters when 
structuring and implementing the pivotal 
phase III study, AGENT.

The ongoing phase I/II ISO-CC-005 study 
is a clinical tolerance and dosage study to 
 determine the correct dose of Isofol's candi-
date drug, arfolitixorin, ahead of the impend-
ing pivotal study,  ISO-CC-007. Based on these 
study data, a dose of 120mg/m2 has been 
chosen for the continuing study programme.

The incentive programme with stock and 
employees options initiated in 2012 for the 
 period until January 2018 has been wound up. 
450,302 shares were subscribed for at SEK 17 
per share by the company's CEO, Members of 
the Board, and employees.  

APRIL–JUNE2018

In March 2018, Isofol submitted an application 
for a Special Protocol Assessment (SPA) to  
the FDA. The SPA process is designed to 
 establish the specific goals to be achieved  
by the AGENT (ISO-CC-007) pivotal study for 
arfolitixorin.

Isofol announced that enrolment of the first 
patient would be postponed by at least four 
months due to the FDA's requirement for 
 additional patient data.  

Dr. Alain Herrera MD was elected to the 
Board at the Annual General Meeting. Dr. 
 Herrera is an oncologist/haemotologist who 
has been directly involved in several market 
authorisation processes, including the one for 
oxaliplatin.

Results of a retrospective study of patients 
treated with 5-FU-based chemotherapy and 
the leucovorin (LV) folate for metastasised 
colorectal cancer (mCRC) was presented at 
the American Society of Clinical Oncology 
congress (ASCO). The study shows a clear link 
between treatment outcomes, measured as 
progression-free survival (PFS) and expres-
sion levels of genes that control folate metab-
olism and, hence, conversion of LV to the 
 active substance, methylentetrahydrofolate 
(MTHF). Patients with a high genetic expres-
sion level for ABCC3 have an average PFS of 
10.1 months, in comparison with a PFS of 6.5 
months for patients with a low genetic expres-
sion. Studies in patients with metastasised 
colorectal cancer (mCRC) of Isofol's candidate 
drug, arfolitixorin, which contains the active 
substance, MTHF, and does not require meta-
bolic activation to achieve efficacy.

JULY–SEPTEMBER 2018

A patent covering both the Active Pharma-
ceutical Substance (arfolitixorin hemisulfate), 
the pharmaceutical product, and the finished 
injectable solution for the treatment of cancer 
patients, was granted for Isofol's candidate 
drug, arfolitixorin, in the USA and is valid until 
2037. 

OCTOBER-DECEMBER 2018

An Extraordinary General Meeting held on  
18 October resolved to increase the number of 
Board Members to seven and to elect  
Paula Boultbee, Anders Vedin and Magnus 
Björsne as new Members. Board Member Ulf 
Jungnelius was elected as the new Chairman 
of the Board as Jan-Eric Österlund has chosen 
to resign his position for personal reasons. 

The pivotal clinical phase III study, AGENT, 
of arfolitixorin was initiated after the company 
concluded a Special Protocol Assessment with 
the US pharmaceutical authority, the FDA. The 
study will be conducted in the USA, Canada, 
and Europe. 

Robert Marchesani, who has almost 30 
years' experience in the Life Science sector, 
was appointed as an advisor to the company's 
Board of Directors. 

Dr. Roger Tell was recruited to the positions 
of Chief Scientific Officer (CSO) and Senior 
Vice President of clinical development.

An extraordinary General Meeting held  
on 17 December 2017 resolved to establish  
a stock option programme by means of a 
 directed share issue, Series 2018/2022 and 
Series 2018/2023, granting the right to 
 subscribe for shares in the company. The 
Meeting also resolved to authorise the Board 
to implement a new issue of shares and or 
convertibles and or stock options, with or 
without deviation from the shareholders' 
preferential rights in accordance with the 
Board's proposal. 

The first patient was enrolled in the pivot-
al clinical phase III study AGENT with arfolitix-
orin, in December.

 

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE END 
OF THE REPORTING PERIOD

Positive results from the ongoing phase I/II 
ISO-CC-005 study in patients with metasta-
sised colorectal cancer (mCRC) treated with 
arfolitixorin were presented in January. Data 
presented showed that 47% of the patients  
(9 of 19) showed early tumour reduction  
(a reduction greater than 20% of the tumour 
size from the base line) after only 8 weeks 
of first line treatment. Clinical benefit was, in 
addition, demonstrated in 89% of the patients 
(17 of 19), i.e. a reduction of more than 30%  
in tumour size from the base line, or stable 
disease (i.e. no tumour growth less than 20%). 

All employees took part in the company´s 
stock option programme 2018, subscribing for 
a total of 1,260,136 stock options, yielding SEK 
1,482,674 in option premiums, with the senior 
executives (5 such) paying SEK 207,000 per 
person for the stock options. The stock op-
tions were transferred at market value using 
a Black & Scholes calculation conducted by 
Grant Thornton Sweden AB.

| THE YEAR IN BRIEF
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WHAT CHALLENGES DOES COLORECTAL 
CANCER POSE IN COMPARISON WITH 
OTHER COMMON FORMS OF CANCER?
Colorectal cancer, also known as bowel cancer 
and colon cancer is, after lung and breast can-
cer, the third most common type of cancer. Un-
like these types of cancer, however, public 
awareness levels are, unfortunately, very low 
when it comes to colorectal cancer. The dis-
ease can be difficult to diagnose and can, 
 sadly, have managed to spread before it is dis-
covered. There are structured public screening 
programmes in the form of mammography 
and PSA tests, for early detection of breast  
cancer and prostate cancer but programmes 
to detect colorectal cancer, at an early stage 
are considerably less widespread. There are a 
number of symptoms that may indicate 
colorectal cancer, such as blood in the stool 
and screening for this, using a relatively simple 
procedure, should be widely implemented in 
order to detect the disease at an earlier stage.

The development of new cancer drugs for 
the treatment of colorectal cancer has, unfor-
tunately, also been limited and in principle,  
no new preparations have been launched in 
the past 10-15 years for those patients who 
are primary focus for Isofol, namely patients 
with  metastasised colorectal cancer. This is 
one of the reasons why arfolitixorin is a 
unique candidate drug: it is designed to im-
prove the treatment specifically for these pa-
tients. Our pivotal AGENT study, which is cur-
rently in progress in the USA, Canada, and 

Europe, also means that arfolitixorin is one of 
the few candidate drugs for colorectal cancer 
that has reached a late clinical development 
phase.

Playing a part in achieving a better form 
of treatment for so many patients inspires 
and energises us.

WHAT DISTINGUISHES ARFOLITIXORIN 
FROM EARLIER SUPPORTIVE TREATMENTS?
Arfolitixorin is designed to improve 5-FU-based 
chemotherapy by directly providing the active 
pharmaceutical ingredient (API), MTHF, and 
thereby generating a more effective reduction 
in cancer tumours and extending the period for 
which the disease can be kept under control. 
Patients currently receive MTHF by treating 
them with drugs that must be converted in a 
number of complicated stages within the body. 
Isofol has, thanks to our close research work 
with the Sahlgrenska University Hospital, shown 
that it is probable that only a small group of 
patients possesses the adequate genetically- 
based ability to achieve sufficiently high levels 
of MTHF in tumours using existing drugs. We 
have shown in clinical studies that treatment 
with arfolitxorin dramatically increases levels 
of MTHF in colorectal tumours and that this 
also results in clinical benefits for patients. 

Based on this, our goal is to show that 
 arfolitixorin causes both significant tumour 
reduction (ORR) and what is known as pro-
gression-free survival (PFS). Given the prom-
ising results that Isofol has documented to 
date with arfolitxorin, we have every confi-

OUR GOAL IS A BETTER TREATMENT FOR THE 
THIRD MOST COMMON TYPE OF CANCER

dence of achieving our goals for the AGENT 
study.

CAN YOU GIVE US A BRIEF SUMMARY OF 
DEVELOPMENTS IN 2018? 
We passed an historic milestone when the first 
patient was enrolled in our pivotal AGENT 
study with arfolitixorin. The company's Board 
of Directors and organisation was strength-
ened with the addition of key expertise in the 
field of late clinical phase pharmaceutical de-
velopment, commercial development, market-
ing, and sales. We have expanded the scope of 
our preparatory commercialisation work for 
arfolitixorin and conducted an in-depth mar-
ket survey in the USA, Europe and Asia. Just in 
order to build up as complete a picture as pos-
sible of physicians', prescribers', and payers' 
views of arfolitixorin's potential place in tomor-
row's treatment of patients with advanced 
colorectal cancer. Our efforts to find the right 
partner for marketing and selling arfolitixorin 
accelerated during the year, and we are also 
seeing a pronounced rise in interest in arfolitix-
orin amongst pharmaceutical companies that 

coincided with our announcement that we 
were launching the AGENT study.

WHAT IS THE THINKING BEHIND AN 
EXPANDED PHASE IIA STUDY? 
We need, in parallel with the ongoing AGENT 
study, to be able to underpin our discussions 
with potential partners and Key Opinion 
Leaders (KOLs) in the field of colorectal can-
cer. We have also identified a need to present 
patient data on a rolling basis at the very im-
portant medical cancer congresses that takes 
place annually, and to maintain an informa-
tion flow to the market as a whole. Our ex-
panded phase IIa study (ISO-CC-005) makes 
this possible and we are aiming to be able to 
present patient data from the study on multi-
ple occasions during the year. 

YOUR PHASE IIA STUDY HAS BEGUN  
AND YOU WON'T BE ABLE TO PROVIDE 
FEEDBACK ON HOW IT IS GOING UNTIL 
2020. WHAT WILL YOU BE DOING  
IN THE MEANWHILE?

Our goal is to increase tumor response in at least ten percent-
age points more patients, which we feel great confidence to 
achieve.”

| INTERVIEW WITH THE CEO
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We are now increasing our focus on partnering and 
commericalisation work in the USA, Europe, and Asia, 
in order to ensure successful outlicensing of arfolitixorin 
in these markets.

”
Anders Rabbe, CEO, Isofol Medical AB (publ.)

Quite simply - a lot! In addition to the expanded 
phase IIa study, we will be escalating our ef-
forts to build a strong value platform for arfo-
litixorin and to prepare for commercialisation. 
We are also intensifying our partnering work 
and working to increase the scientific commu-
nity's knowledge of arfolitixorin. We are also 
examining the possibility to expand our pivotal 
study to additional countries, such as Japan, in 
order to lay the foundations for broad market 
authorisation. Isofol is also  preparing to list the 
company's shares on the NASDAQ main mar-
ket exchange in Stockholm. 

HOW DO YOU RATE YOUR CHANCES  
OF SUCCESS? 
I am a strong believer in the goals we have 
set for ourselves. We've been in close contact 
with the US and European pharmaceutical 
authorities, the FDA and EMA, who support 
our development programme for arfolitixorin. 
Being a small company allows us to be agile 
and flexible, which is vital now that we're con-
ducting a global pivotal study of 440 patients 
- a task I'm approaching with considerable 
humbleness and respect. By far our most im-
portant task right now is to enrol patients for 
the study, which is the primary focus of every 

board member, manager, and employee.  
It's the single most important factor in deter-
mining Isofol's success, so we are working 
single-mindedly on ensuring that many lead-
ing hospitals take part in the study in order to 
enable effective patient enrolment. 

We have announced a possible expan-
sion of the study in conjunction with the 
planned interim analysis in 2020, in order to 
ensure we have a patient base that enables 
us to create statistically reliable results from 
the AGENT study. If we do this, it will be based 
on our having achieved the ORR efficacy met-
ric (tumour reduction) that we have set while 
realising that additional data will be required 
to ensure statistical relevance for PFS, too.

SO HOW WOULD YOU SUMMARISE  
THE PATH AHEAD RIGHT NOW? 
Our pivotal study has been launched, we have 
presented well-grounded market data, and 
additional expanded phase IIa data that 
forms the basis for our partner discussions, 
and we are preparing a listing on the main 
market. Like I said last year is very much still 
true: the unmet clinical need and our opportu-
nity to improve the lives of so many cancer 
patients means that everyone concerned is 
giving it their all.

Anders Rabbe, CEO

| INTERVIEW WITH THE CEO
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ARFOLITIXORIN 
– A NEW DRUG FOR THE TREATMENT 
OF COLORECTAL CANCER
Isofol intends to address the unmet clinical need in the advanced colorectal 
�cancer�field�using�its�substance,�arfolitixorin,�in�combination�with�one�of�the�
world’s most widely used cancer treatment drugs, 5-FU (5-Fluorouracil). 

5-FU has been the standard treatment for 
colorectal cancer for many years now, and  
is administered to over 70% of patients who 
receive treatment (find out more about  
the disease on page 17). 5-FU-based chemo-
therapy is currently given in combination  
with  leucovorin and levoleucovorin (reduced 
folates) and other cytostatic agents, such  
as oxaliplatin and irinotecan, and biological 
therapies, such as Avastin (bevacizumab) and 
 Erbitux (cetuximab).

Professor Bengt Gustavsson, Isofol’s 
founder, was one of the first people to discover 
the positive impact of the combination of 5-FU 
and leucovorin on efficacy and safety in the 
treatment of colorectal cancer, but in spite of 
this combination approach that uses multiple 
drugs, fewer than half of all patients respond 
to the treatment.  

THE GOAL OF TREATMENT WITH 
 ARFOLITIXORIN IS TO IMPROVE 
 TREATMENT EFFICACY
 When arfolitixorin is administered in combi-
nation with 5-FU, such as in the treatment  
of colorectal cancer, tumour cell mortality 
 increases and more cancer cells die. 

See how arfolitixorin acts in cancer cells. 
Follow the link above or use the QR code.

| CANDIDATE DRUG, ARFOLITIXORIN
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LEUCOVORIN - A PRODRUG THAT MUST BE 
CONVERTED IN THE BODY TO BE EFFECTIVE
The problem with existing drugs designed to 
reinforce the effects of 5-FU is that they are 
what is known as prodrugs, i.e. drugs that are 
inactive in the form in which they are adminis-
tered and must be converted in the body into 
the active form, MTHF ([6R]-5,10-metylentet-
rahydrofolate). 

THE ABILITY TO CONVERT LEUCOVORIN 
VARIES FROM ONE PERSON TO ANOTHER
The conversion of the prodrugs, leucovorin/
levoleucovorin, to the active substance, MTHF, 
is a biochemical process that takes place in 
several stages. The ability to convert the drugs 
in this way is genetically linked and research 
suggests that a majority of patients have a 
limited conversion ability, resulting in poorer 
tumour treatment outcomes. 

A research team working in collaboration 
with Isofol has conducted a number of genetic 
studies of patients with metastatic colorectal 
cancer treated at the Östra Sjukhuset hospital 
in Gothenburg. The studies have shown that 
approximately two thirds of these patients 
had a deficient ability to convert leucovorin 
and levoleucovorin, resulting in a substantially 
worse PFS (Progression Free Survival) than 
that seen in patients with a good metabolic 
ability. For example, see posts from ASCO 
2018 on Isofol's website, isofolmedical.com. 

Isofol’s goal in developing arfolitixorin is 
to solve this problem and to ensure that all 
patients receive maximum benefit from the 
combination treatment with 5-FU.

EXISTING TREATMENT WITH LEUCOVORIN

Arfolitixorin does not need to be converted because it comprises 
the active substance, MTHF. This eliminates the consequence of 
the individual genetic ability to convert leucovorin. This could ena-
ble substantially more patients to benefit from arfolitixorin. 

In a comparative clinical study of patients with colorectal cancer, 
Isofol has statistically confirmed that levels of MTHF in the cancer-

The prodrug, leucovorin, is an inactive drug in the form in which  
it is ingested and which the body must convert in several stages  
to create the active substance, MTHF. Researchers at the Östra 
Sjukhuset hospital in Gothenburg have demonstrated that ap-

Immediately active substance

Arfolitixorin
[6R]-5,10-
methylene-THF

MTHF
[6R]-5,10- 
methylene-THF

ARFOLITIXORIN IS THE FIRST CANDIDATE DRUG COMPRISING 
MTHF, WHICH MEANS NO CONVERSION IS REQUIRED

ous tumour are at least 3-4 times higher in conjunction with treat-
ment with arfolitixorin than is the case with levoleucovorin. 

These much higher levels of MTHF in the cancerous tumour 
after treatment with arfolitixorin generates the preconditions for 
an increased tumor killing effect from the 5-FU, which Isofol 
 intends to finally verify in the impending pivotal study, AGENT 
(ISO-CC-007), of colorectal cancer.

ADMINISTERED EVERY OTHER WEEK
Arfolitixorin is administered every other week by means of an in-
travenous injection in conjunction with other chemotherapy, such 
as 5-FU, oxaliplatin and Avastin. The estimated average treatment 
time with arfolitixorin in conjunction with first line treatment of 
 patients with metastatic colorectal cancer (mCRC) is nine months.

proximately two thirds of the patients studied (2 out of 6 in the 
 illustration) are unable to convert leucovorin sufficiently in con-
junction with treatment of colorectal cancer.  

Today's folates,  
including leucovorin 
and levoleucovorin.

MTHF 
[6R]-5,10-
methylene-THF

MTHF 
[6S]-THF

[6R]-10-
formyl-THF

[6R]-5,10-
methenyl-THF

[6S]-5-
formyl-THF

Activation stages

Active metabolite
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In tumour cells:  
MTHF (arfolitixorin) interacts with 5-FU during chemotherapy,  
resulting in an enhanced anti-tumour effect
The objective is to stop cell division within the tumour, and thereby stop the growth 
of tumours in a cancer patient. Treatment with the cytotoxic drug, 5-FU, blocks the 
conversion to one of the DNA building blocks required for cell division (Thymidine 
– dTMP). Increasing the concentration of MTHF molecules, which is currently done 
with leucovorin, increases the efficacy of 5-FU and reduces the production of the 
building block, Thymidine. The result is that more tumour cells die because the 
cells are starved of new DNA building blocks. Normal cells divide much less often 
than cancer cells and are consequently not affected in the same way by this 
 Thymidine starvation, and the side effects of 5-FU treatment are thus relatively 
mild. Arfolitixorin treatment, which has been shown to result in MTHF levels that 
are at least 3-4 times higher than in comparable treatment with leucovorin, con-
sequently generates the preconditions for a substantial increase in the efficacy of 
5-FU and, hence, of substantially more patients responding to treatment.

MECHANISM OF ACTION

MTHF

TS

Ternary complex
DNA synthesis is blocked

5-FU

(Cytostatic Agents)

(The cancer cell dies)
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Arfolitixorin

In normal cells:  
MTHF is a key component of cell division in normal cells
The MTHF molecule interacts with two other molecules in a protein complex which, 
collectively, form one of the building blocks for DNA (Thymidine – dTMP) required 
for cell division (DNA synthesis) and the repair of damaged DNA 

dUMP

MTHF

TS

Ternary complex

dTMP

DNA 
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Important building block 
for DNA synthesis
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POTENTIAL FOR TREATMENT OF OTHER 
TYPES OF CANCER
Arfolitixorin is thought to have a broad sphere 
of use. Chemotherapy combinations based on 
5-FU are also used in the treatment of  other 
types of cancer, such as pancreatic, stomach, 
breast and head and neck cancers.

Rescue therapy
Arfolitixorin can also be used as rescue thera-
py when treating osteosarcoma (bone can-
cer), which most commonly affects children 
and young people, acute lymphatic leukaemia 
(ALL), Burkitt’s lymphoma, and lymphomas  
of the central nervous system (lymphoma = 
cancer of the lymph glands). The cytotoxic 
drug, methotrexate, is used in high doses to 
eliminate cancerous cells in these types of 
 cancer. The high doses mean that there is also 
a risk of damage to the surrounding tissues, 
and leucovorin (reduced folate) is consequent-
ly given subsequently to rescue the healthy 
surrounding tissues.

Arfolitixorin is also thought to be more effec-
tive than today’s treatment with leucovorin in 
conjunction with rescue therapy.

Isofol has conducted a phase I/II study to 
determine the dosage and safety of the use of 
arfolitixorin in the treatment of osteosarcoma 
and the results show that arfolitixorin is both  
a safe and an effective rescue therapy.

Additional clinical studies will probably be 
required before arfolitixorin can obtain mar-
keting authorisation for the treatment of these 
types of cancer. 

PATENT SECURES ROOM FOR ACTION
Merck initially developed arfolitixorin on the 
initiative of Professor Gustavsson, one of the 
company’s founders. Isofol has entered into  
a global, exclusive supply and licensing agree-
ment with Merck & Cie KGaA for the develop-
ment and commercialisation of arfolitixorin in 
cancer treatment. Isofol’s supply and licensing 
agreement with Merck remains in force as 
long as any of Isofol’s or Merck’s patents re-

main valid – a term which currently extends, at 
a minimum to 2037 (and potentially longer in 
the light of patent applications subsequently 
submitted). This agreement regulates both 
the price that Isofol pays for the API (Active 

Pharmaceutical Ingredient, i.e. the active sub-
stance) and future royalties on sales. The 
 patent portfolio comprises several types of 
patents: substance, formulation, and how they 
shall be used in the treatment process.

ISOFOL'S MAIN PATENTS 

Patent Type Time Region Status

6R-MTHF
Substance/ 
formulation 2037 USA Granted

2034
EU, Japan,  

Canada, etc.

Granted in e.g. 
EU and China. 

Patent pending in 
other countries 

Formulation 2029 USA Granted

2024
EU, Japan,  

Canada, etc. Granted

Clinical treatment, 
dosage regimen 2037/2038 PCT Patent pending

New clinical 
discovery Treatment  method 2038 PCT Patent pending

INCREASED TREATMENT EFFICACY
Isofol’s pivotal study, AGENT, is investigating 
the efficacy of the future treatment methodol-
ogy combining arfolitixorin with the cytotoxic 
drugs, 5-FU, oxaliplatin and the biological ther-
apy, Avastin. The graph shows that the goal  
of this combination is to generate better treat-
ment efficacy than with the current standard 
treatment method, which was introduced in 
2004. The goal is for 55-60% of the patients  
to respond to the treatment in the form of  
a reduction in tumour volume, compared with 
the existing standard treatment where approx-

~10%
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~40-45%
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~55-60%
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~40-45%

imately 40-45% of the patients respond to 
treatment. If this can be demonstrated in the 
pivotal study, it will constitute substantial 
 progress in the treatment of patients with 
 metastatic colorectal cancer. The pivotal study 
aims, in addition to the tumour shrinking effect, 
which will be measured in terms of ORR 
 (Objective Response Rate), to demonstrate  
an improvement in PFS (Progression Free 
 Survival), i.e. that the patient can live for longer 
without tumour growth, which corresponds to 
an increased overall survival rate.

| CANDIDATE DRUG, ARFOLITIXORIN
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OUR CLINICAL STUDIES AND A SHORTER 
ROUTE TO MARKET
Isofol has managed to achieve a truly signifi-
cant reduction of 3-4 years in the development 
time for arfolitixorin, thereby reducing devel-

opment costs by several hundred millions of 
kronor. This has been achieved thanks to the 
pharmaceutical authorities (the FDA in the USA, 
the EMA in Europe, and the Medical Products 
Agency in Sweden) having authorised Isofol to 

move directly from a phase IIa study to the on-
going pivotal phase III study, AGENT, as an IND 
(Investigational New Drug). The abbreviated 
process is due to the fact that arfolitixorin is 
based on the already known and applied sub-

stance, MTHF, which is present in existing drugs 
- the prodrugs, leucovorin and levoleucovorin, 
but which must be metabolised endogenously 
to be effective, a genetically linked ability that 
varies from one individual to another.

PRECLINICAL PHASE I PHASE II PHASE III

TOXICITY, 1-month

SAFETY STUDY DOSE, 
ISO-FF-001

SAFETY STUDY, ISO-MC-091

PHARMACOKINETICS, ISO-CC-002

TOXICITY, 3-months,   
Concluded Q2-2018

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

* Efficacy and safety data: 10 patients: arfolitixorin + 5-FU + oxaliplatin and 10 patients: arfolitixorin + 5-FU + irinotecan

SAFETY AND DOSE-FINDING STUDY,  
ISO-CC-005, 62 patients

Marketing 
authorisation

Interim analysis 
of ORR and PFS 
after 330 
patients have 
been treated  
for at least  
16 weeks

Estimated end-
point for the  
AGENT study

PIVOTAL STUDY, AGENT (ISO-CC-007)

AGENT study 
launched. 440 
patients who are 
receiving first 
line treatment 
for metastatic 
colorectal cancer

EXPANDED COHORT 1*
20 patients

EXPANDED COHORT 2*
20 patients

| CANDIDATE DRUG, ARFOLITIXORIN

12 ISOFOL | Annual Report 2018



THE PHASE III AGENT STUDY
Isofol's phase III pivotal study, AGENT (ISO-
CC-007), was initiated in December 2018 in the 
USA and Europe. 440 patients will be  enrolled 
in the study to undergo first line treatment for 
metastatic colorectal cancer (mCRC). The 
study will have two treatment arms: the first 
group will be treated with arfolitixorin, and the 
second, with leucovorin  (today’s folate-based 
treatment), both in combination with the 5-FU 
and oxaliplatin  cytostatic agents and the bio-
logical therapy, bevacizumab (Avastin). The 
primary focus of the study will be to measure 
the percentage of patients who experience 
 tumour size reduction, Objective Response 
Rate (ORR). The secondary focus will be on 
measuring Progression Free Survival (PFS), i.e. 
the time until the tumour begins to grow again 
or the patient dies. Statistically speaking, tu-
mour size reduction should be demonstrable 
in  between 55 and 60% of patients.

This would correspond to an absolute im-
provement of 10-15 percentage points in ORR 
in those patients treated with arfolitixorin in 
comparison with those treated with leucovorin. 

The EMA and FDA have both confirmed  
that they will accept the study as supporting 

evidence for a New Drug Application (NDA), 
provided that the study’s results show a statis-
tically significant and clinically relevant im-
provement.

Important interim analysis in mid-2020 
The AGENT study has an adaptive design, i.e. 
the number of patients enrolled in the study 
can, if necessary, be increased in order to 
strengthen the statistical sample.

An interim analysis of ORR and PFS is 
scheduled to be performed after approx. 75% 
of the patients have been treated for at least 
16 weeks. The interim analysis will enable the 
determination, firstly, of whether ORR signifi-
cance has been achieved, and secondly, of 
whether additional patients are required to 
also enable the study to demonstrate statisti-
cal significance for PFS. A positive ORR out-
come from the interim analysis may result in 
an independent group, a data safety monitor-
ing board (DSMB), proposing an expansion of 
the study by a further 220 patients (making  
a total of 660 patients), thereby extending the 
study period by 6 months. The interim analysis 
is scheduled for the middle of 2020, depend-
ing on how quickly patients can be enrolled to 

the study. The study as a whole is scheduled 
for completion in the latter half of 2021 (for 
440 patients) or at the end of 2021 (for 660 
patients).

ADDITIONAL DATA TO BE GENERATED 
FROM THE PHASE II ISO-CC-005 STUDY
The phase IIa study, ISO-CC–005, is studying 
the safety and efficacy of arfolitixorin in pa-
tients with mCRC. The primary purpose of the 
study is to establish a safe and effective dos-
age for future studies and clinical practice. 
The dose-finding component comprised 51 
patients and was completed in March 2018.

Isofol has elected, on its own initiative, to 
expand and extend the ISO-CC-005 study in 
order to generate additional efficacy data 
that can be published before data from the 
phase III pivotal study,  AGENT (ISO-CC-007), 
is available. A further 40 patients will receive 
first line treatment of mCRC. The patients will 
be treated with 5-FU in combination with an 
arfolitixorin dose of 120mg/m2 (approx. 200 
mg for an adult male), which is the dose that 
is being used in the AGENT pivotal study. Pa-
tients also receive supplementary treatment 
in the form of oxaliplatin or irinotecan (an al-

Arfolitixorin + 5-FU + oxaliplatin + bevacizumab

Leucovorin + 5-FU + oxaliplatin + bevacizumab

440 patients in the USA, 
Canada, and Europe

mCRC
First line 

 treatment

ternative to oxaliplatin). The patients will be 
monitored over the course of 8 weeks to 
measure tolerability and tumour response. 
After the initial 8 weeks, the patients who have 
benefited from the treatment will be offered 
the chance to continue the study for further 
evaluation.

Isofol was able to present promising data 
from the first 19 out of a total of 40 patients as 
early as the beginning of 2019. After 8 weeks' 
treatment, data showed early tumour shrink-
age, defined as equal to or greater than 20% 
in 47% of the patients (9 of 19) and clinical 
benefit from the treatment in 89% of the 
 patients (17 of 19). Isofol expects to present 
data from all 40 patients at mid-year of 2019. 

MATERIALS MANUFACTURING IN PLACE
Isofol, in collaboration with its partners, Merck 
and Recipharm, has quality-assured the multi-
stage arfolitixorin manufacturing process, all 
the way up to commercial level, Good Manu-
facturing Practice (GMP), thereby also secur-
ing the requisite clinical trial materials supply 
for the pivotal study on which registration will 
be based.

PRIMARY EFFICACY METRIC
Objective Response Rate, ORR

Progression-Free Survival, PFS

SECONDARY EFFICACY METRIC

| CANDIDATE DRUG, ARFOLITIXORIN
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ISOFOL'S HISTORY 

2017
Isofol granted IND (Investiga-
tional New Drug) status for ar-
folitixorin by the FDA and clini-
cal trials on colorectal cancer 
patients in the USA can begin.

Isofol's share is listed on the 
NASDAQ First North exchange.

2008
Company founded

2010
First clinical study in Sweden 
approved by the Swedish Medi-
cal Products Agency. 
First patent family approved in 
Europe

2011
Clinical phase I and phase II 
studies begin

2013
Exclusive global supply and 
 licensing agreement between 
Merck and Isofol for the use  
of arfolitixorin (Modufolin®) in 
cancer treatment

2014
Agreement with Recipharm to 
manufacture arfolitixorin for 
Isofol

2016
The FDA and EMA support 
 Isofol's clinical development 
plan for Modufolin in colorectal 
cancer patients, enabling Isofol 
to proceed directly to a pivotal 
study.

2018
Successful meetings with the 
FDA and EMA at the end of the 
phase II study, at which they 
approved the study design for 
the critical clinical phase III 
study of arfolitixorin.

The pivotal phase III AGENT 
study of arfolitixorin begins in 
the USA and Europe

2019-2020
Goal: to list the company's 
share on the NASDAQ 
Stockholm Exchange's   
main list. 

| ISOFOL'S HISTORY
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RESEARCH PARTNERSHIP
Isofol Medical AB was founded in 2008 and 
was based on a research partnership between 
Professor Bengt Gustavsson and Merck & Cie, 
the world's leading manufacturers of folate-
based therapies. In 1978, the research team 
discovered that the folate-based treatment, 
leucovorin (LV), significantly increased the 
 effect of the cytotoxic antimetabolite, fluoro-
uracil (5-FU). This discovery subsequently led 
to the 5-FU/LV combination that now lies at 
the core of colorectal cancer treatment.

Genetic ability
Professor Gustavsson formulated the hypoth-
esis that the reason why only a few of his 
 patients responded fully to the leucovorin 
treatment was due to their genetic ability to 
use enzymes to convert and metabolically 

activate the treatment. Although many 
judged it as impossible, Merck & Cie succeed-
ed in 2005, after a long development process, 
finally producing a stable racemic mixture of 
the 1 and d forms of the non-active metabolite 
for leukovorin, MTHF. This new developed 
substance now forms the active ingredient in 
arfolitixorin.

Isofol founded
A developmental programme in which the 
 active component of arfolitixorin could be 
tested clinically was designed in order to con-
firm the original hypothesis. The programme 
was expensive and Isofol Medical AB was 
founded in order to finance the development 
work and enable any potential commerciali-
sation. The original founders were Professor 
Gustavsson and Yield Life Science (publ.) AB, 

but the company has since grown, and by 
2016, over 100 new shareholders had joined in 
the hope of realising the vision of improving 
the efficacy and minimising the side effects of 
treating cancer with antimetabolites.

THE PHASE III AGENT STUDY
Isofol has now initiated the pivotal phase III 
AGENT study in order to demonstrate the 
efficacy of arfolitixorin in the treatment of 
patients with colorectal cancer.

It was widely thought to be 
impossible, but in 2005, Merck & 
Cie succeeded, after a lengthy 
development process, in manu-
facturing a stable, non-racemic 
form of the active metabolite. 

”
Bengt Gustavsson, founder

PROMOTING THE DEVELOPMENT  
OF ARFOLITIXORIN

| ISOFOL'S HISTORY
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COLORECTAL CANCER – THE THIRD 
MOST COMMON TYPE OF CANCER

Colorectal cancer (or CRC), also known as can-
cer of the large intestine, bowel cancer, rectal cancer 
or colon cancer, is a type of cancer that results from 
uncontrolled cell growth in the large intestine, colon 
or caecum. The disease progression is often slow, 
happening over several years, and starts as a pro-
truding growth of tissue, known as a polyp, which 
starts in the mucous membrane and then grows into 
the intestinal cavities. Polyps can be cancerous, i.e. 
capable of developing into a cancer unless removed. 
The cancer may eventually break through the wall of 
the intestine and spread to other organs. This is 
known as metastatic colorectal cancer (mCRC).

| COLORECTAL CANCER
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The disease progression is often slow, happen-
ing over several years, and starts as a protrud-
ing growth of tissue, known as a polyp, which 
starts in the mucous membrane and then 
grows into the intestinal cavities. Polyps can  
be cancerous, i.e. capable of developing into a 
cancer unless removed. The cancer may even-
tually break through the wall of the intestine 
and spread to other organs. This is known as 
metastatic colorectal cancer (mCRC).

Colorectal cancer is the third most com-
mon type of cancer affecting both men and 
women. The global incidence (the number of 
new patients diagnosed every year) for this 
type of cancer is around 1.8 million patients 
per year

CAUSES - PARTIALLY ENVIRONMENTAL  
AND HEREDITARY
As with most other types of cancer, there is no 
known single triggering factor for colorectal 
cancer. Hereditary factors and diet are thought 
to affect the risk level, while smoking and life-
styles resulting in obesity increase the risk. 

HIGH MORTALITY
The prognosis for patients with colorectal 
 cancer has improved over the past decade, 
but the prognosis for survival is still worse than 
for breast or prostate cancer and is the second 
most common cause of cancer-related deaths. 
The prognosis for survival is, however, very 
good if it is diagnosed early. Health checks 

 involving screening for blood in excrement 
 allow colorectal cancer to be detected at an 
earlier stage, reducing the mortality rate. Late 
stage patients, when the cancer has spread to 
other organs (metastases) have a poorer 
prognosis and a substantially higher mortality 
rate. Only 14% of patients with mCRC are alive 
five years after diagnosis.

TREATMENT OF COLORECTAL CANCER
The genetic material in the cancer cells found 
in colorectal cancer mutate over time, which 
means that the chemotherapy provided 
needs to change over time if it is to be effec-
tive – a challenge posed by most types of 
cancer. New drugs are constantly being intro-

duced, but will for a long time, act more as 
complements to existing cytostatics than as 
replacements for them. These supplementary 
treatments are used in new combinations de-
signed to enhance the treatment’s efficacy. 
The 5-FU-based cytostatic combination in 
which arfolitixorin is being evaluated in will be 
a cornerstone treatment for colorectal can-
cer for many years to come.

The use of cytotoxins, biological and other 
targeted drugs increases as colorectal cancer 
develops into more advanced and metasta-
sised stages of the disease, with radiotherapy 
sometimes also provided, particularly for 
 patients with localised tumours. See overleaf 
for treatment alternatives. 

COLORECTAL CANCER – THE THIRD MOST 
 COMMON TYPE OF CANCER
Colorectal cancer (or CRC), also known as cancer of the large intestine, bowel 
 cancer, rectal cancer or colon cancer, is a type of cancer that results from 
 uncontrolled cell growth in the large intestine, colon or caecum. 

| COLORECTAL CANCER
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Surgery

About 70% of all chemotherapy patients receive folates in combination with 5-FU

Chemo-
therapy

+
Leucovorin

Polyp
Benign tumour 
that can 
develop into 
malignant 
cancer.

Pre-cancer
Cancer cells 
have formed.

Stage III
Spread to local 
lymph glands, but 
not to other organs. 
Chemotherapy in 
addition to surgery 
(adjuvant therapy).

Stage IV
Spread to other 
organs (e.g. liver 
and lungs). 
Chemotherapy 
(palliative treat-
ment), surgery 
only in certain 
cases.

STAGE IV — INITIAL TREATMENT AREA  
FOR ARFOLITIXORIN
Surgery is usually contraindicated in stage IV, 
when the cancer has spread outside the intes-
tine, because it has no positive effect on the 
prognosis. Surgery is consequently only used 
in exceptional cases, such as when the tumour 
is mechanically blocking passage through  
the intestine. Chemotherapy is the most com-
mon treatment used palliatively to relieve 
symptoms and extend the patient’s life. Other 

types of therapy are sometimes also used to 
this end. Newly developed drugs may be in-
troduced to complement existing combina-
tions and improve the treatment outcome, 
but both Isofol and the company’s interna-
tional clinical experts expect the 5-FU-based 
treatment combination to continue to be a 
cornerstone of colorectal cancer treatment. 
This combination has, in spite of the introduc-
tion of other treatment alternatives, contin-
ued to make the biggest difference to extend-

ed survival rates – see appended graph 
showing the stages of colorectal cancer.

Radiotherapy, which plays a prominent 
role in the treatment of many types of cancer, 
is primarily used to treat rectal tumours (rec-
tal cancer).

Immunotherapy uses the patient’s own 
immune system to inhibit the tumour growth. 
The clinical value to patients with colorectal 
cancer of the immunotherapeutic drugs that 
have attracted so much attention recently 

has been limited, to date. Immunotherapy is, 
for the time being, mostly applicable within 
certain well-defined groups of CRC patients 
(only 4% of patients with mCRC can be treat-
ed with existing immunotherapeutic drugs).

Stages and treatment of colorectal cancer

Stage I-II
I: Present in several cell layers 
but no breakthrough of the 
entire intestinal wall. No treat-
ment after surgery. II: The 
tumour has grown throughout 
the entire intestinal wall but has 
not spread to local lymph 
glands. Cytostatics in some 
cases after surgery.

| COLORECTAL CANCER
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A successful launch requires a number of fac-
tors to be in place, over and above a market-
ing authorisation. The preparatory commer-
cialisation work must, for example, be initiated 
well in advance of any launch. Isofol has 
made good progress with this preparatory 
work, but the work will be further intensified 
over the next few years, in order to construct 
a plan that will enable arfolitixorin's massive 
value to be realised in conjunction with regu-
latory approval.   

The pre-launch work can be divided up into 
different areas: 
•  Must be involved at an early stage in both 

the design of clinical studies and advisory 
discussions.  

•  The value of arfolitixorin for patients and so-
ciety must be established (health economics).

•  Knowledge of the drug's pricing and reim-
bursment pathways must be established 
(market access). 

•  Publications of clinical data must be gener-
ated in scientific literature. 

•  Symposia in the therapeutic area are im-
portant in increasing awareness of colorec-
tal cancer and the challenges.

 

A SUCCESSFUL LAUNCH 
DEMANDS EARLY PREPARATION 
Isofol will create both for patients and shareholders in conjunction with  market authori-
sation of arfolitixorin via the clinical phase III pivotal study, AGENT. But a successful 
launch of arfolitixorin authorisation also depends on thorough preparation  in all mar-
kets.

PRICING IS BASED ON BENEFIT
Not only must the clinical benefit be demon-
strated, a human and economic value must 
also be defined. One of the metrics used to do 
this is known as QALY (Quality-Adjusted Life 
Years). This metric is included in analyses of 
the social cost that enables different medical 
interventions to be compared with one another. 
Isofol has conducted a number of market sur-
veys to determine a viable price in the  major 
markets and has now also begun work on 
 establishing the value to payers based on 
these pricing assumptions. This health eco-
nomics work, as it is known, will continue until 
the product achieves its market launch and is 
a central process in ensuring that arfolitixorin 
is made available to patients quickly after 
 approval.  

Analyses of the payment structures in dif-
ferent markets are also conducted in connec-
tion with the health economics work (market 
access). At the present time, it is the payers 
who enable doctors to prescribe a drug once 
the value-based price has been accepted. 
Isofol has a number of ongoing projects 
 designed to increase payers' awareness of 
the value of arfolitixorin to patients.

BUSINESS MODEL
Isofol's business model is based on outlicens-
ing arfolitixorin to a global company special-
ising in oncology, or identifying a buyer for 
the company. Outlicensing means that the 
 licensee pays an upfront fee when signing the 
agreement, followed by a number of mile-
stone payments upon reaching certain pre-
defined goals, and which are regulated by, for 
example, marketing authorisation. Isofol would 
also receive royalties on future sales. A licens-
ing agreement can also be signed with multi-
ple partners, e.g. one partner for the Japanese 
market and another for the rest of the world.  

Isofol has, for a number of years now, 
been actively working to meet various poten-
tial partners, and this work was further inten-
sified during the past year.  

A successful launch of arfo-
litixorin in conjunction with 
 authorisation also depends  
on thorough preparation in  
all markets.

”
Sven Erickson, Chief Commercial Officer
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Fig. 1: The market size for colorectal cancer in 2018 and its growth by 2025. Based on data from 
the 2017 GlobalData CRC and the GlobalData Colorectal Cancer: Competitive landscape to 
2025 report.

The global market for colorectal cancer (CRC)
Market size by USD billions, 2018-2025

8.5 11

Annual market growth
~3%

2018 2025

| MARKET OVERVIEW

ARFOLITIXORIN – A POTENTIAL NEW CORNERSTONE OF 
STANDARD TREATMENT HAS GREAT MARKET POTENTIAL
The pharmaceutical market for the treatment of colorectal cancer this year totals USD 
8.5 billion, and it is expected to grow to around USD 11 billion by 2025. The relatively 
slow market growth is due to the fact that few new drugs have been launched, or  
are scheduled for launch in the coming years. Sales of those drugs that have recently  
been launched, or of impending launches (excluding arfolitixorin), are, furthermore, 
expected to be relatively low in that they are mainly designed to help a smaller 
 subgroup of CRC patients (e.g. immunotherapies or BRAF inhibitors).

Isofol's primary market comprises first line 
treatment of patients with metastatic colorec-
tal cancer, and is expected to grow rapidly  
in conjunction with future sales of arfolitixorin 
in the USA, the EU5, and Japan. Sales of arfo-
litixorin are expected to reach over USD 1 bil-
lion in these markets alone, as part of first line 
treatment. 

SUBSTANTIAL NEED  
FOR TREATMENT ALTERNATIVES
There is a substantial need for new treatment 
alternatives for metastatic colorectal cancer 
(mCRC). Arfolitixorin's future primary market 
comprises approximately 370,000 patients in 
first to third line treatment for metastatic 
colorectal cancer in the USA, EU5 (France, 
 Italy, Spain, the UK, and Germany) and  Japan. 
One of the reasons for this substantial need is 
that in comparison with patients with other 
types of cancer - such as breast and lung 
cancer - mCRC patients have few target mol-
ecules, such as receptors, which can be tar-

geted using new drugs, such as immunother-
apies (e.g. PD-1 inhibitors). 

LOW THRESHOLD FOR BECOMING AN 
IMPORTANT ELEMENT OF STANDARD 
TREATMENT
The goal is for arfolitixorin to replace existing 
folate-based prodrugs, such as leucovorin 
and levoleucovorin, which form part of the 
FOLFOX regimen - a treatment regimen that 
also includes 5-FU and oxaliplatin. 5-FU, which 
is a cytotoxic drug, is a cornerstone of existing 
treatment regimens for mCRC, and will re-
main so for a very long time to come. Arfo-
litixorin is expected to strengthen 5-FU's tu-
mour-killing effect. The use of arfolitixorin is 
expected to be substantial and to quickly be-
come widespread in conjunction with suc-
cessful data from the pivotal AGENT study, 
with improved tumour response and progres-
sion-free Survival Treating physicians will be 
able to use the new ARFOX (Arfolitix orin, 5-FU 
and oxaliplatin) treatment regimen in the same 
way as previous regimens, creating a low 
threashold for the introduction of arfolitixorin in 
the clinic.

The two most common forms of cytostatic 
treatments that include 5-FU and folates are 
FOLFOX (see above) and FOLFIRI (irinotecan is 
used instead of oxaliplatin), with FOLFOX by far 
the most widely used, as illustrated on page 22. 
This is why arfolitixorin is being tested in an 
 ARFOX regimen as part of the AGENT study, 
but arfolitixorin is also being evaluated as part 
of an ARFIRI regimen in the ongoing ISO-
CC-005 study.
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Number of people diagnosed with colorectal 
cancer each year

~ 1.8 million patients 
diagnosed each year

Annual mCRC drug-treated patient pool, 
in�the�first-third�line�treatment�in�the�USA,�
EU5 and Japan

Over 370,000 mCRC patients 
treated each year

Annual�market�potential�in�first�line�treatment 
in the USA, EU5 and Japan alone

Market potential in 
first line treatment 

~ USD 1 billion

USA; 
Arfolitixorin treated
patients 1st line
22 500 (50% share)

Japan; 
Arfolitixorin treated

patients 1st line
15 600 (42% share)

EU5; 
Arfolitixorin
treated
patients 1st line
26 700 (31% share)

mCRC USA; 
100 000

mCRC Japan; 
84 000

mCRC EU5; 
188 000 ~65,000>370,000

ROW;
1 307 000

EU5; 
239 000

USA; 
155 000

JAPAN; 
148 000~1.8 million
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GREAT MARKET POTENTIAL IN FIRST  
LINE TREATMENT
The estimated market value of arfolitixorin 
with annual sales in excess of USD 1 billion is 
based on data from a conducted in 2018. The 
study included analyses of both primary data 
(e.g. interviews with doctors) and secondary 
data (e.g. pharmaceutical databases), which 
gave a clear indication of potential market 
shares, take-up, and low competition.   

The estimated average treatment time is 
nine months in the first line. Analyses of three 
independent studies indicate an anticipated 
price of ca. USD 4,000 per patient per month in 
the USA. The market value of the seven biggest 
markets is, therefore, well within the block buster 
potential band, i.e. a market value of at least 
USD 1 billion, even without including subsequent 
treatment lines. To set this in comparison with 

annual sales of other CRC drugs, Roche's drug, 
Avastin, has historically achieved annual sales 
of some USD 3 billion within CRC alone.  

HIGH ANTICIPATED MARKET SHARE  
UPON MARKET AUTHORISATION
The market value is, furthermore, based on 
an estimated market share of 50% in the USA, 
42% in Japan, and 31% in the EU5 for patients 
receiving first line treatment. In total, this 
means that a market authorisation of arfo-
litixorin would result in approximately 65,000 
patients per annum receiving treatment in 
these markets when sales peak.  

And in second and third line treatment, too
It is estimated that a further ca. 60,000 pa-
tients could receive second and third line 
treatment in conjunction with market authori-

| MARKET OVERVIEW

sation that also included these treatment 
lines. The treatment periods are believed to 
be shorter and amount to as most 6 months 
in the second line and about 3 months in the 
third line.

LOW LEVELS OF COMPETITION IN FIRST 
AND SECOND LINE TREATMENT OF 
METASTATIC COLORECTAL CANCER (MCRC)
The number of candidate drugs in clinical de-
velopment for colorectal cancer is substan-
tial, but there are few drug candidates in de-
velopment for first line treatment of patients. 

The complexity of the disease has histori-
cally meant that few projects successfully 
reach phase III of development, and indeed, 
there are currently few projects in this phase.  

Isofol has conducted a number of compe-
tition analyses with the help of external parties. 
The most recent analysis of over 400 candi-
date drugs identified only 6 possible threats, 
with the majority deemed to pose weak or 

moderate threats. The lengthy patent protec-
tion for arfolitixorin - until 2037 in the USA and 
2034 in the rest of the world - also offers ex-
cellent potential for a long product life-cycle.

Those projects that do exist are more 
niched and focus on narrow patient groups: 
immuno-oncological drugs, such as Keytruda 
and Tecentriq (4% of mCRC patients) or 
B-RAF/MEK inhibitors, such as Encorafenib+/
binimetinib (8-10% of mCRC patients in sec-
ond line treatment). Alternatively, new drugs 
are being developed for the treatment of pa-
tients in later treatment lines, i.e. third to 
fourth line. Many candidate drugs are also a 
complement to existing 5-FU-based chemo-
therapy  compound treatments (FOLFOX) 
and will, therefore, be used in combination 
with arfolitixorin if they reach the market, e.g. 
masitinib and napabucasin. 

Diagram 2: 
Use of 5-FU, Oxalip-
latin and Irinotecan 
in first line treatment 
of mCRC in the USA, 
EU5 and Japan. Data 
from GlobalData's 
treatment algorithm 
for colorectal cancer 
from the Colorec-
tal Cancer - Global 
Forecast 2013-2023 
and Colorectal 
 Cancer - Global 
Forecast 2015-2025 
reports.

Arfolitixorin - Competition analysis

Limited competition
• PD-(L)1 therapies (4% of the population)
• B-RAF/MEK inhibitors 
   (8-10% of the population - second line)
• New chemotherapy project (Phase I) 

Based on data from Deallus Primary Market Research, 2018.
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Arfolitixorin is expected to achieve market 
shares of 50%, 42%, and 31% in the USA, Asia, 
and the EU5 in first line treatment of mCRC. 

The epidemiology (the number of mCRC 
patients treated with drugs in 1st-3rd line 
treatment) is based on a consensus from 

Globocan 2018 and other reports, such as 
CRC treatment algorithms from GlobalData, 
which are based on both primary and sec-
ondary data.  

Arfolitixorin's market share is based on 
 estimated future prescriptions of arfolitixorin 

Fig. 2: Arfolitixorin's anticipated market share of first to third line treatment and market potential for first line treatment in the USA, France, Germany, Italy, Spain, the UK, and 
Japan (7MM). Data from Globocan 2018, GlobalData Colorectal Cancer - Global Forecast 2015-2025 and Deallus Primary Market Research 2018.

EXPECTED  
MARKET SHARE

by colorectal cancer specialists as a percent-
age of all mCRC patients treated (N=34 USA:  
12 EU5: 16, Asia: 6). The study was conducted in 
2018 on Isofol's behalf by Deallus Consulting.

| MARKET OVERVIEW

mCRC patients 
treated in the USA, 

EU5 and Japan

372 000The number of mCRC patients per 
annum receiving first to third line 

chemotherapy treatment. 

The number  
of mCRC  

patients per  
annum receiving 

first line  
treatment

USA
100,000

EU5
188,000

JAPAN
84,000

37,00086,00045,000

50% 31% 42%

22,500

~9 months Average  
treatment time

Arfolitixorin’s first  
line sales potential

26,700 15,600 Arfolitixorin’s first 
line market share

Based on first line market penetration
Over USD 1 billion per annum

Ca. 65,000  
mCRC patients are expected to receive  

arfolitixorin treatment in the first line alone
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"GREAT NEED TO POTENTIATE 
TREATMENTS"
Johan Haux's clinic at Skövde Hospital is one of the clinics 
 taking part in the ISO-CC-005 study.

"The patients being treated have metastatic colorectal can-
cer, so surgery is not an option. Even if the number of patients 
enrolled in the 005 study at a single clinic like ours don't consti-
tute a statistically reliable sample, the efficacy of arfolitixorin for 
the patients receiving the drug was so apparent to me, and the 
adverse effects profile seemed to be the same as for leucovorin 
(folic acid), and not more pronounced. In the study, arfolitixorin 
specifically replaced leucovorin, which is the standard treatment 
nowadays in combination with 5-FU, often together with other 
cytotoxic drugs, such as oxaliplatin and irinotecan.

I'm very excited to see the results of the phase III AGENT 
study. If the efficacy can be confirmed, if arfolitixorin is demon-
strated to work and to potentiate cancer treatments without 

more/other unfavourable side effects, then this is a very inter-
esting drug indeed. For many of the gastrointestinal types of 
cancer, 5-FU in combination with leucovorin lies at the core of 
the treatments and if arfolitixorin turns out to be better, I would, 
speaking as an oncologist, like to go further and conduct trials 
on other forms of cancer where there is also a great need to 
potentiate the anti-cancer effects. There is a huge unmet need 
here, particularly for those patients who are currently incurable."

Johan Haux, MD, Ph.D. Senior Physician, Skaraborg Hospital, 
oncologist specialising in gastrointestinal cancer. Member of 

the Swedish Gastrointestinal Cancer Association (GOF) and 
Chairman of the Swedish Study group for Pancreatic Cancer 

(SSPAC)

If arfolitixorin turns out to be 
better, I would like, speaking as  
an oncologist, to go further and 
conduct trials on other forms of 
cancer where there is also a great 
need to potentiate the anti-cancer 
effects.

Johan Haux, MD, Ph.D. 

”
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TWIN-FOCUS ORGANISATION  
- CLINICAL DEVELOPMENT AND COMMERCIALISATION
Isofol has built up a body of in-house expertise in the company's two main areas  
- clinical development management and commercialisation. Partnerships have also 
been established for other operational areas.

Isofol’s organisation comprises employees 
with high-level competence, all of whom have 
graduate degrees in such areas as medicine, 
pharmaceutical bioscience, analytical chem-
istry, pharmacy, physical chemistry/surface 
and colloid chemistry, and molecular biology. 
The company had eleven full-time employees 
at the turn of the year, all of whom are based 
at the company’s head office in Gothenburg. 
The company also has around ten consult-
ants, the majority of whom can be regarded 
as working on a full-time or virtually full-time 
basis for Isofol.

The company’s functions comprise medi-
cal expertise, clinical studies management, 
quality assurance, CMC (chemistry, manufac-
turing and control), business development, 
 finance, and legal matters.

ONGOING OPERATIONAL REINFORCEMENT
The organisation was further strengthened in 
2018 with the addition of two people. The first 
of these is Jonathan Holmén, who has joined 
Isofol in the capacity of Business Develop-
ment Manager, but who also acts as a Project 
Manager for a range of areas, including regu-
latory, preclinical, and clinical projects. The 
second addition is Jenny Brinkeby, who will 
strengthen the company's communication 
and who works with investor relations and as 
a marketing coordinator. 

In early 2019, the management group was 
strengthened with the addition of Roger Tell, 
M.D., Ph.D. as Chief Scientific Officer (CSO) and 
Senior Vice President (SVP) for clinical devel-
opment, and who is responsible for scientific 
research and technical operations at Isofol.

COMMITMENT THROUGH PARTICIPATION IN 
STOCK OPTION PROGRAMMES
All senior executives and employees chose  
to participate in Isofol's "2018" stock option 
programme (series 2018/2022 and series 
2018/2023).

SENIOR ADVISORS AND ADVISORY BOARD
Isofol is supported internally by four senior 
 advisors, and externally by an Advisory Board 
comprising nine world-leading colorectal on-
cologists who are at the company’s disposal  
in connection with work on clinical develop-
ment and study planning. A list of the Advisory 
Board members is presented on the compa-
ny’s website.

In 2018, the Board appointed Robert 
Marche sani as an advisor in the areas of 
branding and marketing issues, and global on-
cology strategy.

PARTNERS
The company has established partnerships 
with a number of partners, over and above  

its own organisation, in order to enable us to 
bring arfolitixorin to market. 

Surgical Oncology Laboratory  
– folate research experts
The Surgical Oncology Laboratory (SOL) at 
the Östra Sjukhuset hospital in Gothenburg 
conducts research in the fields of surgery and 
oncology. SOL are internationally recognised 
as experts in research into folates, particularly 
with regard to folates and colorectal cancer. 
Isofol’s founder, Professor Bengt Gustavsson, 
is also the founder of SOL.

Merck & Cie  
– experts in substance refining 
Strategic research and development partner-
ship and close collaboration. Merck & Cie is  
a subsidiary of Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, 
 Germany. The partnership offers many syner-
gies, as Isofol has specialist knowledge in the 
use of arfolitixorin for the treatment of cancer, 
while Merck has expertise in synthesising a 
stable MTHF API (active pharmaceutical ingre-
dient) and in formulating a stable and sustain-
able drug (arfolitixorin).

A global licensing agreement with Merck 
KGaA of Germany gives Isofol exclusive rights 
to develop and commercialise arfolitixorin in 
the field of oncology. The licensing agreement 
with Merck also gives Isofol access to the 

unique, patented MTHF/arfolitixorin manufac-
turing process.

Recipharm – commercial manufacturers
Recipharm is the commercial manufacturer 
of arfolitixorin and has validated the com-
mercial, full-scale production method in co-
operation with Isofol and Merck.

CROs
Contract Research Organisations: companies 
that help with the practical implementation of 
clinical studies, which is absolutely essential 
for a company of Isofol’s size.

CROs can, for example, help with statisti-
cal calculations and analyses, offer data-
bases for study data, work with preclinical 
studies, label and distribute study drugs, and 
act as the long arm of the company when 
 resources and geographic distance makes it 
difficult to work directly with the hospitals. 
Isofol works with both international and local 
CROs, including Envigo, TFS, IDDI, PCG, Preci-
sion Oncology, PK-Expert, etc. 

Patent registration
AWA-patent in Sweden and Covington in the 
USA

Contractual and legal issues
Vinge Advokatbyrå in Gothenburg

Information issues: First North Premier
FNCA, certified advisors, in Stockholm

Pharmaceutical regulatory issues
B&H in the USA and NDA Group in Europe

| ORGANISATION AND PARTNERS
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"WE'VE INVESTED SEVERAL MILLION 
SWISS FRANCS IN ARFOLITIXORIN'S 
RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT"

IN SPECIFIC TERMS, MERCK & CIE HAVE HELPED WITH THE 
MANUFACTURE OF ARFOLITIXORIN'S ACTIVE INGREDIENT, 
MTHF.BUT IF WE LOOK AT THE BIG PICTURE, HOW HAVE 
YOU HELPED THERE?
For several decades now, Merck has been building up a com-
prehensive body of folate chemistry expertise - an asset that 
made our partnership possible in the first place. We have in-
vested several million Swiss francs in arfolitixorin's research 
and development, including the synthesis, analysis and for-
mulation of the active pharmaceutical ingredient. The devel-
opment of arfolitixorin's complex active pharmaceutical com-
ponent to the quality required was a huge challenge and 
demanded a great amount of effort. Our hard work bore fruit, 
however, and we eventually managed to synthesise a very 
pure and stable form of the chemically complex folate com-
pound that now bears the name, arfolitixorin. 

IF WE LOOK AHEAD, WHAT IS YOUR ROLE  
IN THE ARFOLITIXORIN PROJECT?
Our role is to focus on production of the active pharmaceuti-
cal ingredient. After the successful production of the first pilot 
batches and validation of the analytical methodologies, we 
are now ready to produce the active pharmaceutical ingredi-
ent, arfolitixorin, on a commercial scale. We also conduct an-
alytical work ahead of the launch of a pharmaceutical prod-
uct and also provide support by preparing the necessary 
documentation for the health care authorities (e.g. chemistry, 

manufacturing and controls (CMC) of the regulatory docu-
mentation) as part of the ongoing clinical pivotal study.  

HOW DO YOU HANDLE THE PROJECT'S RISKS?
Merck & Cie will focus continuously on the development of 
 arfolitixorin, a concept based on solid scientific grounds and 
where the active pharmaceutical ingredient enjoys strong 
patent protection. 

WHAT POTENTIAL DO YOU SEE IN ARFOLITIXORIN?
Merck has a leading global role as a manufacturer of high 
quality folates for pharmaceutical and nutritional supplement 
applications. The active ingredient, arfolitixorin, has an impor-
tant part to play here. 

We have identified a strong clinical need for new mole-
cules to improve the treatment of colorectal cancer. The spe-
cific product properties of arfolitixorin in combination with 
5-fluorouracil (5-FU) makes it the perfect candidate for spe-
cific and strong functionality in preventing cell division and 
tumour growth. Given this scientific background and based on 
the patent situation, we have identified substantial economic 
potential if the clinical effects of arfolitixorin can be confirmed 
by the phase III AGENT study. 

Our sales forecast planning classifies arfolitixorin as a 
product which can, in future, make a significant financial con-
tribution to our folate operations. 

Our sales forecast planning classi-
fies arfolitixorin as a product which 
can, in future, make a significant 
financial contribution to our folate 
operations.

Dr Rudolf Moser, Scientific Director
Merck & Cie, Switzerland

”
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ISOFOL'S SHARE HAS CONSIDERABLE POTENTIAL
Isofol is totally focused on the development and commercialisation of its candidate drug, 
arfolitixorin, and believes that the company's share has considerable growth potential, 
 provided that the ongoing pivotal study achieves its designated goals.   

Isofol has a long and 
close collaboration with 
both Merck & Cie and 
Recipharm on pharma-
ceutical manufacturing.
Find out more about the 
partnership on page 25

Large-scale 
manufacturing in 

place

Billion dollar market with 
substantial clinical need, 
coupled with a low level 
of competition.
Find out more about the 
market on page 20

  Billion dollar market

 A drug with an estab-
lished mechanism of 
 action and low establish-
ment threshold. 
Find out more about arfo-
litixorin on page 8

Established 
mechanism of action

Isofol has a global and 
exclusive supply and li-
censing agreement for 
the use of arfolitixorin in 
the treatment of cancer.
Find out more about the 
patent situation on page 11

Long-term 
patent protection

| ISOFOL'S SHARE

27 ISOFOL | Annual Report 2018



THE SHARE
The Isofol Medical AB (publ.) share has been listed on the NASDAQ First North Premier exchange, 
under the short name of ISOFOL, since 4 April 2017.

Share structure
On 31 December 2018, the share capital in Isofol Medical AB (publ.) totalled SEK 981,449, divided 
into 32, 054,802 shares with a nominal value of SEK 0.0306. All shares carry one vote. On 31 
 December 2018, there were a total of 4,029 shareholders.  

Option programme
An incentive programme consisting of stock and employee options in the company, which was 
initiated in 2012 with a duration until January 2018, ended during the year. The company’s CEO, 
Directors, and employees have subscribed for a total of 450,302 shares at SEK 17 per share, 
corresponding to a total of SEK 7,655,136. 

The share's performance and turnover
On 31 December 2018, the share price was SEK 23.90 per share, corresponding to a rise of  
9% from the closing price on 31 December 2017. The OMX Stockholm Pharmaceuticals & Biotech-
nology PI-index rose by 28.5% during the same period.

Isofol's market capitalisation at the end of 2018 was SEK 766 million, based on the latest price 
paid. The highest closing price during the period was SEK 31.9, on 14 September, while the lowest 
was SEK 21.3. The share price rose between January and March 2019 and the highest and lowest 
prices paid were SEK 26 and SEK 22.5, respectively. The share price at the end of March 2019 was 
SEK 25.6. 

Trading volume
7.9 million Isofol shares were traded during the period, corresponding to a turnover rate of 25%. 

Dividend policy and dividend
Isofol is a biotech company and no share dividend payment is planned for 2018 or the next few 
years. A share dividend may be paid in future when the Group’s results and financial position 
permit.

Analysts tracking Isofol
Pareto Securities, Peter Östling
Redeye, Arvid Necander
Den Norske Bank, Equity Research
Carnegie Investment Bank AB, Ulrik Trattner (2019)

THE TEN BIGGEST SHAREHOLDERS ON 31 DECEMBER 2018  

Shareholder Number of shares Share capital/votes

Biofol AB 3,454,811 10.78%
Handelsbanken Fonder 2,882,414 8.99%
Peak Partners 1,377,803 4.30%
Swedbank Robur Fonder 1,034,483 3.23%
Danica Pension 852,799 2.66%
Urus AB 800,000 2.50%
Rhenman Partners Asset Management AB 788,815 2.46%
Svenska Handelsbanken AB for PB 768,019 2.40%
Recipharm Venture Fund AB 696,500 2.17%
Jan-Eric Österlund 640,000 2.03%
Ten biggest shareholders 13,295,644 41.52%
Other shareholders 18,759,158 58.48%
Total 32,054,802 100%

PRICE TREND, 2018

Source: Pareto/ Holdings

Investor Relations
Anders Rabbe, CEO
Gustaf Albèrt, CFO
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ALL THE DUCKS  
HAVE TO BE IN A ROW
The role of the Board of Directors in a pharmaceutical company engaged in a pivotal 
study�-�the�final�stage�before�gaining�approval�for�our�candidate�drug,�arfolitixorin,�is�
clear. It is to make sure the risks are reduced and ensure that the company has all of 
its ducks in row.

The number of Board Members was increased 
in the autumn in order to ensure the expertise 
and  activities of the Board of Directors. To this 
end, we strengthened our commercialisation 
expertise through the addition of Paula Boult-
bee and Magnus Björsne, and our senior com-
petence in the field of pharmaceutical devel-
opment in the form of Anders Vedin.

One of the risks that could have a sub-
stantial impact is, of course, whether the 
study is successful - if the efficacy metrics we 
have set are, in other words, achieved. I can 
say with confidence that the chances are 
good, given a pharmaceutical substance 
whose efficacy is already known and which is 

widely used. What is, at the same time, unique 
is that arfolitixorin is a new drug, to the extent 
that it is the active substance that is adminis-
tered and which will thereby benefit larger 
numbers of patients. 

When I talk about having all of our ducks 
in a row, I'm not just talking about the struc-
ture of the clinical study and its implementa-
tion, I'm also talking about the company be-
ing ready for the next step after authorisation. 
The company needs to have a more compre-
hensive range of expertise than during the 
earlier start-up stage, and hygiene factor - 
readiness for full-scale pharmaceutical pro-
duction - must be in place. The commerciali-

sation work must also pave the way for 
ensuring arfolitixorin has the right attractive-
ness. I am confident that we have full control 
over all of these component parts. 

As you will be aware, the Board answers 
to the shareholders, and we are also examin-
ing the possibility of shifting the share's listing 
to the NASDAQ Stockholm main list, in order 
to increase accessibility for institutional inves-
tors. A broader investor collective could, rea-
sonably, also result in a fairer share valuation. 
We are now also ready, thanks to an authori-
sation granted in December, to bring in addi-
tional capital and thereby generate addition-
al financing. 

I can say with confidence that 
the chances are good, given  
a pharmaceutical substance 
whose efficacy is already known 
and which is widely used.

”
Ulf Jungnelius, MD 

Chairman of the Board

| CHAIRMAN'S COMMENTS
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DIRECTORS' REPORT

The Board of Directors and the CEO of Isofol 
Medical AB (publ.), company registration num-
ber 556759-8064, hereby submit the annual 
accounts and consolidated accounts for the 
2018 financial year.

OPERATIONS
The Group comprises the Parent Company, 
Isofol Medical AB (publ.), whose registered 
offices are in Gothenburg, and the subsid-
iary company, Isofol Medical Incentive AB. 
The  operations are conducted by the Parent 
 Company. The subsidiary company is sole-
ly concerned with the administration of the 
Group’s incentive programme. The descrip-
tions in the Directors’ Report consequently 
refer both to the Group and the Parent Com-
pany, unless otherwise specifically stated.

Isofol Medical AB (publ.) is a biotech com-
pany that develops the cancer drug, arfo-
litixorin. Arfolitixorin is a candidate drug that 
Isofol is principally developing for the treat-
ment of colorectal cancer (CRC), the third 
most common type of cancer, where there is 
a substantial need for more effective drugs. 
Isofol is also developing arfolitixorin for so-
called rescue therapy after high-dose treat-

ment with the cytotoxic drug, methotrexate, 
in conjunction with osteosarcoma (bone can-
cer). Arfolitixorin may also be developed for 
the treatment of pancreatic, breast, stomach, 
and head and neck cancer.

 When treating colorectal cancer, arfolitix-
orin is administered in combination with the 
cytotoxic drug, 5-FU (5-fluorouracil) in order 
to increase tumour shrinkage and to extend 
the life of the cancer patient. Arfolitixorin 
comprises the active substance, MTHF ([6R] 
-5,10-methylenetetrahydrofolate).

The folate-based prodrugs, leucovorin 
(LV) and levoleucovorin (LLV), are currently 
used in combination with the 5-FU cytotoxic 
drug in the treatment of colorectal cancer, but 
up to three quarters of CRC patients lack the 
ability to metabolise LV/LLV to the active sub-
stance, MTHF. Isofol intends to replace leu-
covorin and levoleucovorin with arfolitix orin, 
with the primary objective of improving the 
treatment for over 370,000 colorectal can-
cer patients in the USA, Europe, and Japan. 
Unlike leucovorin and levoleucovorin, which 
must be metabolised into MTHF in the body to 
be effective in cancer treatment, arfolitixorin 
consists of the active substance, MTHF, and 

2018
IFRS

2017
IFRS

2016
IFRS

2015
IFRS

2014 
(not IFRS)

Net sales (SEK k) - 227 508 187 -
Operating profit (SEK k) -89 ,849 -72 ,587 -64 ,949 -40 ,688 -31 ,857
Profit after financial 
items (SEK k) -83 ,125 -72 ,035 -64 ,951 -40 ,689 -31 ,834
Balance Sheet total (SEK k) 288 ,552 361 ,276 22 ,890 9 ,777 8 ,538
Equity/assets ratio(%) 92% 95% 24% 14% 53%
Average number of 
employees 10 10 6 6 3

hence no metabolism is required. Arfolitixor-
in consequently has the potential to achieve  
a more vigorous antitumoural effect for all 
patients in combination with 5-FU treatment. 

A global licensing agreement with the 
German firm, Merck KGaA, gives Isofol exclu-
sive rights to develop and commercialise arfo-
litixorin in the field of oncology. The licensing 
agreement with Merck also gives Isofol access 
to the unique, patented MTHF/arfolitixorin 
manufacturing process.

Isofol plans to conduct a number of clin-
ical studies during the period from 2018 to 
2021, the most important of which are pre-
sented below. 

The studies will primarily be conducted in 
the USA and Europe.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE YEAR 
Research and development operations
Isofol has made substantial scientific, clinical, 
and regulatory progress during the past year. 
A scientific abstract detailing arfolitixorin's 
positive effects in the treatment of metastatic 
colorectal cancer (mCRC) was published at the 
Gastrointestinal (GI) Cancer Symposium held 
in San Francisco in January and organised 
by the American Society of Clinical  Oncology 
(ASCO). The abstract concluded that "the lack 
of need for metabolic activation makes arfo-
litixorin a better candidate than the currently 
registered pharmaceuticals leucovorin and 
levoleucovorin for improved outcome of 5-FU-
based chemotherapy regimens in mCRC". 
The abstract also concluded that the results 
of  clinical documentation of arfolitixorin pro-
duced to date are considered promising, for 
both safety and efficacy.

Isofol received positive feedback during 

the year on consultations with the European 
Medicines Agency (EMA) regarding the com-
pany's candidate drug, arfolitixorin, which 
is  intended for the treatment of advanced 
colorectal cancer. The company has, therefore, 
now reached unanimity with both the EMA and 
FDA (US Food and Drug Administration) on the 
most important parameters when structuring 
and implementing the  pivotal phase III AGENT 
study, (ISO-CC-007). The study, which has en-
rolled patients for first line (initial) treatment 
of metastatic colorectal cancer (mCRC) is ad-
judged by both the FDA and EMA authorities to 
be capable of forming the basis for the MAA 
(Marketing Authorization Application) and the 
New Drug Application (NDA) for arfolitixorin in 
Europe and the USA, respectively.

Isofol's ongoing phase I/II study, ISO-
CC-005, is a clinical tolerance and dosage 
study with the primary aim of establishing  
a dose for Isofol's candidate drug, arfolitix-
orin, ahead of the impending pivotal study, 
AGENT. Isofol has already conducted several 
clinical studies of arfolitixorin and by March 
2018, a combined total of just over 115 patients 
and healthy volunteers had been treated with 
arfolitixorin in a variety of doses (10-500 mg/
m2). Based on these study data, a dosage of 
120mg/m2 was established for the ongoing 
study programme with arfolitixorin. 

The results of a retrospective study of 
 patients treated with 5-FU and leucovorin 
(LV) chemotherapy for mCRC were presented  
at this year's American Society of Clinical 
 Oncology (ASCO) congress. The study showed 
a clear link between treatment outcomes, 
measured as progression-free survival (PFS) 
and expression levels of genes that control 
folate metabolism and, hence, the metabolism 
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of LV to the active substance, methylenetetra-
hydrofolate (MTHF). Patients with a high 
 genetic expression of ABCC3 demonstrated 
an average PFS of 10.1 months, compared to 
one of 6.5 months for patients with average 
or low genetic expression. Isofol's candidate 
drug, arfolitixorin, contains the active sub-
stance, MTHF, and does not require metabolic 
activation to increase its efficacy. This gener-
ates the potential for all patients, irrespective 
of their genetic expression levels for ABCC3, 
to obtain the maximum benefit from cancer 
treatment with 5-FU in combination with leu-
covorin. The results of the study suggested 
that arfolitixorin offered scope for improve-
ment for CRC patients, and Isofol is now eval-
uating these results in the form of the pivot-
al phase III AGENT study (ISO-CC-007). The 
study was initiated in the autumn of 2018 and 
enrolment of the first patients to the study 
 began in December 2018. 

In March 2018, Isofol submitted a  Special 
Protocol Application (SPA) to the United 
States Food and Drug Administration (FDA). 
The SPA process was designed to establish 
the specific goals that shall be achieved by 
the AGENT study with arfolitixorin, in order for 
the study to be regarded as pivotal, and to 
ensure that the study protocol for the AGENT 
study complies with the FDA guidelines for a 
pivotal study. A number of discussions were 
held with the FDA during the year and Isofol 
reached consensus with the FDA on the most 
important parameters for an SPA approval. 
On 15 November,  Isofol announced that the 
SPA process had been concluded with the 
FDA. At the same time, and with the support 
of the FDA, the pivotal AGENT study was initi-
ated without an SPA agreement but under the 
terms of the company's U.S. IND (Investiga-
tional New Drug). The AGENT study is current-
ly in progress at hospitals in the USA, Canada, 

and Europe, and is expected to come to an 
end in 2021. 

Organisation
Dr. Roger Tell was recruited to the positions of  
Chief Scientific Officer (CSO) and Senior Vice 
President of clinical development for Isofol 
during the fourth quarter. Roger has just over 
ten years' experience as a clinical oncologist 
and has held advisory and executive positions 
with Eli Lilly, AstraZeneca, Merck, Servier and 
Aprea Therapeutics. Roger took up his new 
position at Isofol in February 2019. 

Robert Marchesani was also engaged 
in the autumn in the capacity of advisor to 
the Board of Directors. Robert Marchesani 
has  almost 30 years' experience in the Life 
 Science sector, where he has led a number of 
different commercial enterprises in such are-
as as product development, global branding 
strategy, and marketing, with special empha-
sis on oncology.  

"2012" incentive programme
The incentive programme of stock and em-
ployee options in Isofol Medical AB (publ.) in-
itiated in 2012 with a term ending in January 
2018, ended in January 2018. The company's 
CEO, Board Members and employees sub-
scribed for a total of 450,302 shares for SEK 
17 per share, corresponding to a total of SEK 
7,655,136. 

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER  
THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR
Research and development operations
Positive results of the ongoing phase I/IIa 
study, ISO-CC-005, in patients with meta-
static colorectal cancer (mCRC) treated with 
arfolitixorin were presented in January. Data 
presented showed that 47% of the patients  
(9 out of 19) showed early tumour reduction  

(a reduction of greater than 20% in tumour 
size from the base line) after only 8 weeks  
of first line treatment. Clinical benefit was, 
furthermore, demonstrated in 89% of patients 
(17 out of 19 patients), i.e. a reduction of great-
er than 20% in tumour size from the base line 
or  stable disease, i.e. no tumour growth. 

"2018" incentive programme
At an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 17 
December 2018, the shareholders resolved to 
introduce an incentive programme targeting 
all employees of the company and future key 
persons. The 2018 stock option programme - 
series 2018/2022 and series 2018/2023 - com-
prises a maximum of 1,461,698 stock options 
and the programme is structured such that 
the stock options shall be transferred at mar-
ket value in accordance with a Black & Scholes 
calculation conducted by  Grant Thornton 
Sweden AB. All employees participated and 
subscribed for a total of 1,260,136 stock options, 
yielding SEK 1,482,674 in option premiums, with 
senior executives (5 such) paying SEK 207,000 
per person for the stock options. 

THE GROUP'S KEY RATIOS -
MULTI-YEAR OVERVIEW
As a development company whose drug is 
still in the development stage, Isofol has no 
sales revenues to report, but does have sub-
stantial research and development expenses. 

THE SHARES AND OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE
The share capital in Isofol Medical AB (publ.) 
totals SEK 981 k. Isofol Medical's shares are 
listed on the NASDAQ First North Premier 
exchange. The total number of shares and 
votes in the company on 31 December 2018 
was 32,054,802. All shares are ordinary shares 
and carry equal entitlement to the company's 
profits, and each share carries one vote at the 

Annual General Meeting of the company. At 
the Annual General Meeting, every person en-
titled to vote may vote for the full number of 
shares owned or represented, with no restric-
tion on the number of votes.

At the end of 2018, the company had 
4,029 (3,804) shareholders and the ten largest 
shareholders owned 41.52% of the outstand-
ing shares, with the remaining shareholders 
owning 58.48%. On 31 December 2018, one 
shareholder held shares representing more 
than 10% or more of the number of shares and 
votes in the company, namely Biofol AB, which 
owned 10.78%.

NET SALES AND RESULTS
Net sales in 2018 totalled SEK 0 k (277). The 
company is not expected to generate any 
income until the company's drug has been 
launched on the market or the company has 
entered into a licensing agreement.

Other external costs increased during the 
year to SEK 72,116 k (61,210). The increase was 
primarily attributable to costs in connection 
with the implementation of ongoing clinical 
studies, Isofol's phase l/ll study, ISO-CRC-005, 
costs in connection with preparations for the 
initiation of the planned pivotal study, Isofol's 
ISO-CRC-007, and costs in connection with 
the now completed SPA process. The study 
costs are in line with the company's plan.  

The Group's personnel costs totalled SEK 
17,576 k (11,587). The increase was due to an 
increase in the number of employees.  

The profit after financial items totalled 
SEK -83,125 k (-72,035). The Group has no tax 
expense as it has not reported a profit during 
the period. 

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL POSITION
On 31 December 2018, the cash and cash 
equivalents totalled SEK 272,897 k (357,331). 
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delay the Group’s development and com-
mercialisation of its candidate drug which 
would, in turn, have a negative effect on the 
Group’s operations, financial position, and 
results.

•   There is a risk of competing drugs taking 
market shares, or that competing research 
projects will achieve better efficacy and 
reach the market more quickly. This would 
result in the future value of the drug being 
lower than anticipated.

•   The phase III pivotal study is being conduct-
ed in a currency other than Swedish kronor, 
with the USD and EUR the most important 
currencies involved, and the operations are, 
therefore, exposed to a currency risk. Some 
of the company’s cash and cash equiva-
lents are held in USD and EUR for the im-
pending pivotal study. The financial policy 
is updated at least once a year.

For further information on risks and risk 
management, see Note 17.

INSURANCE
Isofol Medical AB conducts regular reviews in 
consultation with brokers and insurance ad-
visors, thereby ensuring that the operations 
and the area of responsibility are correctly 
insured.

THE ENVIRONMENT
Isofol Medical’s operations pose no particular 
environmental risks and require no specifical-
ly environmental permits from or approval by 
the authorities. Isofol Medical is of the opinion 
that the company conducts its operations in 
accordance with applicable health and safety 
regulations and offers its employees a safe 
and healthy work environment. The company’s 
objective is to contribute to sustainable devel-
opment and to work proactively to improve 
and minimise its environmental footprint as far 

New share issues were carried out during  
the year, generating SEK 5,100 k (400,235) 
for the Group. The company has no loans. 
The liquidity acquired by the company from 
the owners has been invested in a short-term 
fixed income fund, which can be equated to a 
cash equivalent. The short-term fixed income 
fund has yielded a return during the year cor-
responding to SEK -536 k (558). 

CASH FLOW AND INVESTMENTS 
The cash flow from operating activities during 
the year totalled SEK -92,458 k (-61,943), and 
was primarily due to increased costs for the 
company's clinical activities and preparations 
for the start of the planned pivotal study, in-
cluding advances to suppliers and costs in 
connection with the now completed SPA pro-
cess. The cash flow from investment activities 
totalled SEK 0 k (-75), and was attributable 
to investments in tangible fixed assets. The 
cash flow from financing activities totalled 
SEK 5,100 k (400,235), and was attributable to 
share issues. The cash flow for the year was 
SEK -87,358 k (338,217). 

PERSONNEL
The Group had a total of 11 (10) employees 
at the year end. The average number of 
 employees was 10 (9). 

The workforce has a very high level of ed-
ucation, including doctorates or other univer-
sity or college education at master level.  
At the year end, 62% of the company’s em-
ployees were women and 38% men.

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTY FACTORS
Isofol’s primary operations comprise re-
search and development of a drug, arfolitixo-
rin. These operations are both risky and cap-
ital-intensive. The operations are associated 
with risks that can have a substantially nega-

tive effect on the Group’s operations, financial 
position, and results.

The principal risks faced by Isofol are:
•   The Group has not, as yet, launched any 

pharmaceutical product on the market. 
Pharmaceutical sales have consequently 
not begun and Isofol’s operations have not, 
therefore, generated any revenues to date. 
Arfolitixorin is currently the Group’s only 
candidate drug.

•   There is a risk that the planned studies will 
fail to indicate the level of safety and effi-
cacy required for official permission to be 
granted or which would enable the Group 
to out-license, establish partnerships, or sell 
any future product.

•   The effect on Isofol’s operations, financial 
position, and results of any failure by Isofol 
to obtain the requisite product approvals, or 
of the revocation or limitation of any future 
approvals, would be materially negative.

•   Merck owns significant rights to and patents 
for Arfolitixorin. Isofol has been granted an 
exclusive, global licence to exploit, develop 
and commercialise Arfolitixorin for the treat-
ment of cancer. If Isofol were to fail to fulfil its 
undertakings as set forth in the agreement 
with Merck, there is a risk of Merck terminat-
ing the agreement and the licence, which 
would have a materially negative effect on 
the Group’s operations and its ability to de-
velop and commercialise its drug. 

•   The continued development of Isofol’s op-
erations and of its preclinical and clinical 
projects is dependent on a number of key 
persons. There is, however, a risk that one 
or more of the Group’s employees will give 
notice of their intention to leave the Group’s 
employment, or of the recruitment of new 
individuals and consultants with relevant 
know-how and expertise failing, which could 

as is both feasible and economically viable.

THE WORK OF THE BOARD
The company’s Board of Directors comprises 
seven full members, including the Chairman 
of the Board, who has been elected by the 
2018 Annual General Meeting and Extraor-
dinary General Meeting in 2018 for the peri-
od until the end of the 2019 Annual General 
Meeting. The overriding task of the Board is 
to manage the company’s affairs on behalf 
of the shareholders and to be responsible 
for the company’s organisation. These duties 
include setting goals and strategies, estab-
lishing routines and systems for evaluating 
whether the company has achieved the goals 
set, the continuous evaluation of the compa-
ny’s results and financial position, and eval-
uating the operational management of the 
organisation. The Board met 12 times in 2018. 

The Board works to a written formal 
work plan that is revised annually and adopt-
ed at the Board Meeting following election 
every year. The formal work plan regulates, 
amongst other things, the division of labour 
between the Board and the CEO, between 
the Board and the committees that the Board 
elects to establish, and the Board praxis for 
the year ahead. 

GUIDELINES FOR REMUNERATION TO 
 SENIOR EXECUTIVES
Isofol Medical shall offer market remuneration 
levels and terms of employment that enable 
the recruitment and retention of senior ex-
ecutives with the high levels of expertise and 
capacity needed to enable the operation to 
achieve its set goals. The application of the 
principles governing remuneration and other 
terms of employment for senior executives in 
Isofol Medical AB (publ.) in 2018 is described 
below.
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The remuneration paid to the CEO and 
senior executives may comprise a fixed basic 
salary, variable remuneration, pension bene-
fits, share-related incentive programmes ap-
proved by the General Meeting, and other 
benefits. The term, senior executives, refers to 
the CEO and, at present, 4 other people (the 
CFO, CMO, CCO and SCO). The composition 
and size of this group may change over time 
as a result of operational development.

Variable remuneration refers to a fixed 
percentage of the basic salary, with the per-
centage set annually by the Board. The basic 
salary to variable remuneration ratio shall  
be in proportion to the executive’s responsibil-
ities and authority. The precise amount of 
variable remuneration depends on the indi-
vidual’s fulfilment of predetermined goals, 
which are designed to promote the long-term 
growth in value of the company. The goals 
are attributable to the organisation’s opera-
tional and financial development. The remu-
neration levels shall be at market rate. 

The company had no outstanding incen-
tive programme at the end of the year. For 
information about the resolution at the Extra-
ordinary General Meeting held on 17 Decem-
ber 2018 concerning the introduction of a new 
incentive programme, Option programme 
2018, see Note 23.

INTERNAL CONTROLS
For further information about internal con-
trols, please see the 2018 Corporate Govern-
ance Report, which is presented on page 34 
of this Annual Report.

THE PARENT COMPANY
The Group's Parent Company is Isofol Medical 
AB (publ.). The Parent Company’s operations 
correspond in every significant respect to 
those of the Group in that all operations are 

conducted by the Parent Company with the 
exception of the administration of incentive 
programmes. The net result for the year and 
the financial position of the Parent Company 
correspond, in every significant respect, to 
equivalent items for the Group and the com-
ments with regard to the Group thus also 
apply, to a substantial extent, to the Parent 
Company.
 
EXPECTATIONS OF FUTURE DEVELOPMENT
Isofol is working intensively on the implemen-
tation of the pivotal AGENT study for arfolitix-
orin (ISO-CC-007). The study will include at 
least 440 patients who are receiving first line 
treatment for colorectal cancer (CRC).

Patient recruitment will be carried out at 
some 80 clinics throughout Europe and the 
USA, and the principal results of the study 
are scheduled to become available in 2020. 
 Isofol’s aim for the study is to demonstrate 
that arfolitixorin substantially increases the 
clinical benefit for patients with metastatic 
colorectal cancer, while maintaining the safe-
ty profile.

The conditions for completion of the piv-
otal study and a subsequent application for 
marketing authorisation are good and the es-
timated potential market value of the project 
is currently adjudged to be substantial.

The company has no revenues and is con-
sequently dependent on external financing to 
secure its continuing operations until such 
time as arfolitixorin begins to generate reve-
nues.

Isofol’s outlook for the future is, therefore, 
good.

PROPOSED ALLOCATION OF COMPANY 
PROFITS 
The following amounts in SEK are at the dis-
posal of the Annual General Meeting:

Statutory reserve  617,897,371
Profit brought forward -270,363,393
Profit for the year -83,507,174
Total 264,026,804

 
The Board proposes that the funds available 
for disposal be allocated as follows:

Carried forward 264,026,804
Total 264,026,804

For further information on the company’s re-
sults and position in general, please see the 
following financial reports and associated 
Notes to the Accounts.

DIVIDEND POLICY
No dividend will be paid, in accordance with 
the Board’s dividend policy, until permitted by 
the company’s financial position.
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2018 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT FOR ISOFOL MEDICAL AB (PUBL.)

INTRODUCTION 
Isofol Medical AB (publ.) is a Swedish public 
limited company with registered offices in 
Gothenburg, Sweden, whose shares are listed 
on the NASDAQ First North Premier  exchange. 
The Board of Directors of Isofol Medical AB 
(publ.), company registration number 556759-
8064 ("the Company") hereby submit the 
2018 Corporate Governance Report and at-
test that it has been prepared in  accordance 
with the Swedish Annual  Accounts Act ("AAA") 
and the Swedish Corporate Governance 
Code ("the Code"); see the Swedish Corpo-
rate  Governance Board website at www.
bolagsstyrning.se). The report has been re-
viewed by the company's auditors and the 
auditors' opinions are presented in the Audit 
Report on pages 68-69. 

The Company complies with the NASDAQ 
First North's Issuer Rules and has, since 1 July 
2017, applied the Swedish Corporate Govern-
ance Code. The Code can be viewed at the 
Swedish Corporate Governance Board web-
site at www.bolagsstyrning.se.

The Company is not obliged to comply 
with all of the Code's regulations as the Code 
itself permits deviations from the rules, pro-
vided that any such deviation, and the pre-
ferred alternative solution, are described and 
the reasons for the deviation are explained in 
the Corporate Governance Report (in accord-
ance with the so-called "comply or explain 
principle").   

DEVIATIONS FROM THE CODE
Isofol has elected to make one deviation from 
the Code, which is regarded as reasonable 
and motivated, given the size of the Company 
and the nature of its operations. 
•    The Remuneration Committee comprises, in 

addition to the Company's Chairman of the 
Board, Ulf Jungnelius, the following mem-
bers: Jonas Pedersén and Bengt Gustavs-
son. Bengt Gustavsson is not independent 
in relation to the Company and the Remu-
neration Committee consequently does not 
comply with the Code's requirement re-
garding the independence of the members.  

The Company's principal owner has opted to 
sit on the Remuneration Committee as this in-
dividual was deemed to possess historic 
knowledge of the Company and material ex-
pertise that would enable the effective execu-
tion of the Remuneration Committee's duties.  

ISOFOL'S CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
MODEL
The graphic to the right illustrates Isofol's cor-
porate governance model and who appoints 
the central bodies. The aim is to create a clear 
distribution of roles and responsibilities be-
tween owners, the Board of Directors, and the 
company management group in which the 
bodies exercise their influence and control in 
relation to one another. The shareholders ap-
point the Company's Nomination Committee, 
Board of Directors, and Auditors at the Annual 
General Meeting of the Company. 

Shareholders

General Meeting

CEO

Management group

External auditors

Remuneration Committee

Nomination Committee

Board of Directors

Clinical and regulatory 
Committee
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CENTRAL EXTERNAL AND INTERNAL 
 REGULATIONS AND POLICIES THAT AFFECT 
THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Significant external regulations and policies:
•  The Swedish Companies Act 
•  The Swedish Accounting Act
•  The Swedish Annual Accounts Act
•  International Financing Reporting  Standards 

(IFRS)
•  NASDAQ First North Rulebook and the dis-

closure regulations contained in the NAS-
DAQ Stockholm's Issuer Rules

•  The Swedish Corporate Governance Code

Significant internal regulations and policies:
• The Articles of Association 
•  The Board of Directors' Rules of Procedure
•  The Board's instructions for the CEO
•  Financial reporting instructions
•  Financial policy
•  Insider policy
•  Information policy
•  Risk management policy
•  Accounts manual
•   Personnel manual

SHAREHOLDERS 
The shareholders' influence is primarily exert-
ed by means of voting at the Annual General 
Meeting and by the fact that the three biggest 
shareholders or shareholder groupings are 
entitled to appoint members to the Compa-
ny's Nomination Committee. All shareholders 
are also entitled to submit new Board Member 
proposals to the Nomination Committee. This 
shall, however, be done well in advance of the 
Meeting so that the Nomination Committee 
has the opportunity to conduct the relevant 
evaluations of the proposed candidates. 

There are currently no restrictions on the 
transferability of Isofol's shares due to legal 
restrictions or provisions of the Articles of As-

sociation. No agreements have, to the best of 
Isofol Medical AB (publ.)'s knowledge, been 
reached between shareholders that could re-
strict the transferability of the shares.  Biofol 
AB is the only shareholder to own more than 
10% of the Company's shares, through its 
holding of 10.78% on 31 December 2018.  

No breaches of the NASDAQ First North 
Premier Rulebook or of stock market good 
practice, as determined by the Exchange's 
disciplinary board or the Swedish Securities 
Council have been confirmed during the 
 financial year.  

INFORMATION REGARDING THE ISOFOL 
 MEDICAL SHARE
On 31 December 2018, the total number of 
shares in the company was 32,054,802, with a 
nominal value of SEK 0.031. Each share carries 
one vote and every person entitled to vote 
may do so for the full number of shares 
owned or represented by them. Each share 
grants entitlement to an equal share in the 
Company's profits available for disbursement 
as dividends. 

For additional information on Isofol's 
shareholder structure, the share, etc., see 
page 28. 

GENERAL MEETING OF THE COMPANY 
The Company's senior decision-making body 
is the General Meeting of the Company,  
and the shareholders can exercise their in-
fluence in the Company at General Meetings. 
Shareholders wishing to participate in Gener-
al Meetings, whether personally or through 
proxies, shall be registered in the Register  
of Shareholders maintained by Euroclear 
 Sweden AB five working days before the 
 General Meeting, and shall notify the Com-
pany of their intention to attend, in accord-
ance with the Convening Notice for the 
 General Meeting. Notices convening General 

Meetings are issued by means of advertise-
ments and via the Company's website (www.
isofolmedical.com). The Annual General Meet-
ing shall be held within six months of the end of 
the financial year. Each share carries one vote 
at the General Meeting. Every person entitled 
to vote may, at General Meetings, vote for the 
full number of shares held or represented by 
them, without limitation on the voting right.

The General Meeting is empowered to 
make changes to the Articles of Association, 
to elect the Chairman of the Board, the Board 
of Directors, and Auditors, to adopt Income 
Statements, to approve any dividends paya-
ble and to make other appropriations of the 
profit, and to grant discharge from liability for 
the Board of Directors. The General Meeting 
is also empowered to decide on, amongst 
other things, guidelines for salaries and oth-
er remuneration for senior executives, any 
new share issues, and the appointment of the 
Nomination Committee. 

Shareholders wishing to submit propos-
als to Isofol's 2019 Nomination Committee 
can contact the Nomination Committee by 
email: valberedningen@isofolmedical.com, 
or by letters in the post to the following ad-
dress: Isofol Medical AB, Att: Valberedningen, 
Arvid Wallgrens Backe 20, 413 46 Gothenburg, 
Sweden.

2018 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 
Isofol's 2018 Annual General Meeting was held 
on 3 May in Gothenburg. The following reso-
lutions were amongst those passed at the 
Meeting:  
•    adoption of the 2017 Annual Accounts;  
•    discharge from liability was granted for the 

Members of the Board and the CEO for the 
2017 financial year;  

•    as proposed by the Board of Directors in 
the Convening Notice, no dividend shall be 
paid for 2017; 

•    as proposed in the Convening Notice, Di-
rectors' fees shall be paid to the Board as 
follows: SEK 400,000 to the Chairman of the 
Board and SEK 200,000 to each of the other 
Board Members. The fee also includes re-
muneration for Committee work;

•    as proposed in the Convening Notice, the 
Board of Directors for the period until the 
next Annual General Meeting shall comprise: 
Jan-Eric Österlund, Chairman (re-election), 
Bengt Gustavsson (re-election), Jonas Ped-
ersén (re-election), Ulf Jungnelius (re-elec-
tion) and Alain Herrera (new election);

•    approval of the proposal contained in the 
Convening Notice regarding the re-election 
of the registered public accounting firm, 
KPMG AB, as auditors, with Authorised Pub-
lic Accountant, Jan Malm, as the Auditor in 
Charge;  

•    instructions for the Nomination Committee 
were adopted in accordance with the Nom-
ination Committee proposal; 

•    as proposed by the Board in the Convening 
Notice, approval of the guidelines for remu-
neration to senior executives. 

The Minutes of the 2018 Annual General Meet-
ing, the instructions for the work of the Nom-
ination Committee, and other information, is 
available at www.isofolmedical.com.

2019 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
Isofol Medical AB's Annual General Meeting 
will be held on 23 May 2019 at the Elite Park 
 Avenue Hotel, Kungsportsavenyn 36-38, in 
Gothenburg. A Convening Notice for the Meet-
ing was published on 25 April 2019 in the Swed-
ish Official Gazette and on Isofol's  website.  
An advertisement stating that a  Convening No-
tice has been issued was published in  Dagens 
Industri on the same day as the publication. 

The Minutes of the Annual General Meeting 
will be available at www.isofolmedical.com 
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•    the Chairman of the Annual General 
Meeting

•    the election of Members of the Board
•    the election of auditors
•    fees payable to the Members of the Board 

and Chairman
•    fees payable to auditors
•    the members of the Nomination Commit-

tee and proposals regarding instructions 
for the work of the Nomination Committee

•    remuneration for the members of the 
Nomination Committee.

When preparing their proposal for the Board 
of Directors, the Nomination Committee shall 
study the Board's evaluation of its work and 
take into account the requirements for the 
Board's composition that derive from the 
Swedish Companies Act, the Swedish Corpo-
rate Governance Code, and the NASDAQ Stock-
holm's Issuer Rules. The Nomination Commit-
tee shall, furthermore, endeavour to ensure an 
equal distribution by gender, age and ethnic 
origin, and by expertise with reference to cor-
porate management and experience of clini-
cal development and commercial operations. 
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE
The Company has, in accordance with the 
Code, established a Nomination Committee 
and drawn up principles for the Nomination 
Committee, which is tasked with preparing 
and drawing up proposals for the election of 
Board Members, the Chairman of the Board, 
the Chairman of the Meeting, and the Audi-
tors. The Nomination Committee shall also 
propose fees payable to Board Members and 
Auditors. The Nomination Committee mem-
bers shall be announced on the Company's 
website no later than six months before the 
Annual General Meeting.

The Company shall have a Nomination 
Committee that comprises 4 members. The 
Chairman of the Board shall be a member of 
the Nomination Committee but shall not be its 
Chairman. The members of the Nomination 
Committee shall be elected by the Gener-
al Meeting of the Company, which shall also 
adopt instructions for the work of the Nomi-
nation Committee. The Nomination Commit-
tee shall draw up the following proposals for 
the General Meeting of the Company: 

The Nomination Committee should also take 
into account the requirements of the Code 
with regard to the size and composition of the 
Board, and the Nomination Committee should, 
therefore, specifically motivate its proposal for 
election of the Board taking into account the 
Code's requirements for diversity and breadth 
in the Board, amongst other things.  

The Nomination Committee proposals, as 
described above, together with its motivat-
ed statement, shall be made available to the 
Company no later than one week before the 
Convening Notice for a General Meeting is 
published. 

Instructions for the Nomination Committee 
were adopted at the Annual General Meeting 
held on 23 May 2018. The Nomination Commit-
tee for the 2019 Annual General Meeting has 
been elected in accordance with these princi-
ples, and comprises Lars Lind, Malin Björkmo, 
Bo Lundgren and Ulf Jungnelius. Updated 
principles for the composition of the Nomina-
tion Committee and instructions for the Nom-
ination Committee will be approved by the 
Annual General Meeting held on 23 May 2019. 

EXTERNAL AUDITORS 
The Company's auditors are appointed by 
the Annual General Meeting for the period 
until the conclusion of the next Annual Gen-
eral Meeting. The auditor reviews the Annual 
Accounts and the bookkeeping, and the ad-
ministration of the Board of Directors and the 
CEO. The auditor shall submit an Audit Report 
to the Annual General Meeting after each 
 financial year.  

The Company's auditors submit their 
opinions derived from the audit, together with 
their opinions on the Company's internal con-
trols, to the Board of Directors on a yearly 
basis.  

At the Annual General Meeting held on  
3 May 2018, KPMG were re-elected as the 
company's auditors with Authorised Pub-
lic Accountant, Jan Malm, as the Auditor in 
Charge. The Annual General Meeting also re-
solved that auditor's fees shall be payable in 
accordance with customary debiting norms 
and approved invoices. The fees invoiced by 
the auditor for the past two financial years 
are presented in Note 5.
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Name Ulf Jungnelius
Chairman of the Board
Born: 1951

Bengt Gustavsson
Born: 1947

Anders Vedin
Born: 1942

Elected to the Board 2010 2008 2013

Education MD, Karolinska Institute. MD, Ph.D., Professor of Surgery, 
Sahlgrenska University Hospital.

MD, Ph.D.

Background Senior positions in oncology and 
clinical development at Celgene, 
Takeda, Pfizer and Eli Lilly. Key roles 
in clinical development and 
marketing authorisation for several 
best-selling pharmaceuticals, e.g. 
Gemzar® (gemcitabine) and Evista® 
(raloxifene). Involved in the clinical 
development of pharmaceuticals 
such as Alimta® (pemetrexed), 
Revlimid® (lenalidomide) and 
Vidaza® (azacitidine). Led several 
Due Diligence processes ahead of 
multi-billion dollar acquisitions, 
including Celgene’s buy-outs of 
Abraxis and Pharmion.

Isofol Medical’s founder. One of the 
authors of the positive effect of 
leucovorin on 5-FU, and subse-
quent combination treatment 
(5-FU/LV) – the core of virtually  
all treatment of colorectal cancer.
Founder of Carmel Pharma.

Anders led Astra's cardiology and 
gastrointestinal research, 
development, and strategic 
marketing activities until 1998, when 
he was appointed Professor of 
Industrial Economics at Chalmers 
University of Technology. Since 
2002, Anders has been active in the 
Life Sciences sector as an inventor 
or advisor to a variety of different 
companies and authorities. He has 
been responsible for the develop-
ment and market launch of at least 
8 new drugs, some of which have 
been global bestsellers.  

Current occupation and 
other engagements

Acting CMO of Noxxon Pharma, 
Berlin.
Member of the Boards of Biovoca 
International, Oncopeptides, and 
Monocl.
.

Overall responsibility for surgical 
oncology at Sahlgrenska 
University Hospital. Member of the 
Swedish Cancer Society’s scientific 
committee (since 1996), the 
American Society of Clinical 
Oncology, the European Surgical 
Society, the Swedish Surgical 
Society, and the Swedish Society 
for Colon and Rectal Surgeons.

Shareholding* 100,000 3,454,811 0

Independence in relation 
to the Company and its 
management Yes No Yes

Independence in relation 
to the Company's major 
shareholders Yes No Yes

BOARD OF DIRECTORSTHE BOARD OF 
 DIRECTORS 
THE PRIMARY DUTIES OF THE BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS
The primary duty of the Board of Directors  
is to manage the Company's concerns on 
 behalf of the shareholders, and to be respon-
sible for the Company's organisation. The 
work of the Board is led by the Chairman of 
the Board. The Board shall hold an annual 
Board Meeting following election after the 
Annual General Meeting. 

The Board shall, furthermore, meet regu-
larly but also as required by specific circum-
stances. The Board Meeting following elec-
tion shall, amongst other things, determine 
the Company's signatories, and the Rules of 
Procedure for the Board of Directors, and the 
instructions for the CEO and the financial re-
porting shall be reviewed and adopted. The 
Company's Board Meetings shall address, 
amongst other things, the Company's finan-
cial situation, the operational development, 
and other topical issues. The Board shall 
 supervise the work of the CEO, including with 
regard to the implementation of the decisions 
by the Board. The Board shall draw up annual 
proposals for guidelines for remuneration to 
senior executives, which shall be adopted by 
the Annual General Meeting, and shall follow 
up on compliance therewith and, where rele-
vant, incentive programme proposals.

The Company's auditors shall attend and 
submit reports to the Board Meetings as re-
quired. The Board is quorate when more than 
half of the Members are present. The Board 
of Isofol currently comprises seven Members. 

* Personal shareholding in the Company, or holding by a related party, whether a natural person or a legal entity, on 31 March 2019.
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Name Jonas Pedersén
Born: 1969

Magnus Björsne
Born: 1964

Paula Boultbee
Born: 1958

Alain Herrera
Born: 1950

Elected to the Board 2011 2018 2018 2018

Education MBA, Stockholm School of 
Economics, Ph.D. in neurophysiolo-
gy, Umeå University, and B.Sc. in 
psychology, Uppsala University.

Ph.D., MBA RN MD, Ph.D., Professor of Surgery, 
Sahlgrenska University Hospital.

Background Director and Head of the Amgen 
Competitive Intelligence depart-
ment, Research Intelligence 
Manager Therapy Area Pain 
Control, AstraZeneca R&D, and 
Assistant Professor/Assistant 
Director of the Repetitive Strain 
Injuries department at the National 
Institute for Working Life.
Has advised pharmaceutical 
organisations internationally and is 
a well-known speaker at Business 
schools, conventions and forums.

Magnus has worked with 
commercial development at 
AstraZeneca since 2006. He has 
also been responsible for the 
commercial development group at 
AstraZeneca in Gothenburg and 
has taken part in numerous 
licensing deals and other types of 
transactions with both major 
pharmaceutical companies and 
small Biotech companies. 

Paula's expertise ranges from global 
commercialisation planning and 
pre-launch preparations, to major 
launch initiatives for pharmaceuti-
cals and patient advocacy. She has 
helped introduce and support 
brands such as Imbruvica (ibrutinib), 
Glivec / Gleevec (imatinib), Aranesp 
(darbopoetin), Camptosar 
(irinotecan) and Vectibix (panitu-
mumab). Paula has also both held 
senior positions with and acted as 
an advisor to major companies such 
as Pharmacia (Pfizer), Novartis, 
Amgen, Proteolix (Onyx), Dendreon, 
Incyte and Pharmacyclics. 

Dr. Alain Herrera, MD, is an 
oncologist/haematologist who has 
been directly involved in numerous 
registration processes, including for 
the drug, oxaliplatin, which, together 
with fluorouracil and leucovorin, 
currently forms the core of one of 
today's fundamental treatment 
regimes, FOLFOX, for the treatment 
of colorectal cancer. Before working 
as an expert advisor on oncology, 
Dr. Herrera was Vice President of 
the Global Oncology Business 
Strategy and Development 
department at Sanofi, where he 
also previously headed the Global 
Oncology Franchise. 

Current occupation and 
other engagements

CEO/owner of Deallus Consulting, 
a London-based management 
consultancy firm focusing on the 
life sciences sector, with offices in 
New York, Princeton, Los Angeles 
and Tokyo. Advises the majority of 
the biggest pharmaceutical 
companies on commercialisation 
and competition strategies.

Magnus has run AZ BioVentureHub 
AB - an undertaking to strengthen 
the national development of Life 
Science companies - since 2014.

Paula is currently the Chief 
Commercial Officer at 
 Oncopeptides AB.

Alain is also a Member of the 
Boards of, amongst others: IDDI, 
Nanobiotix, PDCline Pharma, 
Gustave Roussy-Transfert and the 
Arcad Foundation.

Shareholding* 100,000 0 0 0

Independence in relation 
to the Company and its 
management Yes Yes Yes Yes

Independence in relation 
to the Company's major 
shareholders Yes Yes Yes

 
Yes

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

* Personal shareholding in the Company, or holding by a related party, whether a natural person or a legal entity, on 31 March 2019.
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The Chairman of the Board shall ensure 
that he or she is well-informed with regard to 
the Company's operations and monitors them 
closely. The Chairman is responsible for ensur-
ing that the work of the Board is conducted 
efficiently and that the Board fulfils its obliga-
tions in accordance with applicable laws and 
regulations, the Code, the Articles of Associa-
tion, the resolutions of the General Meetings, 
and the Board's Rules of Procedure. The Chair-
man is also responsible for ensuring that the 
decisions by the Board are implemented and 
that their work is evaluated and shall, further-
more, ensure that the Members of the Board 
regularly update their knowledge of the Com-
pany and that new Board Members receive 
the necessary introductory training. 

The Chairman of the Board prepares 
the Board Meetings in cooperation with the 
CEO. The Chairman shall approve the agen-
da drawn up by the CEO, which shall then be 
sent to the Board Members, together with a 
comprehensive body of supporting informa-
tion, before every Board Meeting. Every ordi-
nary Board Meeting shall include a review of 
the operations, including its development and 
progress in research and development, clinical 
studies, commercial development, the Group's 
financial results and position, financial report-
ing, and forecasts. 

THE WORK OF THE BOARD AND 
 SIGNIFICANT EVENTS IN 2018
In 2018, the Board has held twelve meetings, 
two of which were Board Meetings following 
elections and two of which were per capsulam 
meetings. The Board's work during the year 
has primarily focused on securing planning 
and initiation of the pivotal study for the candi-
date drug, arfolitixorin. 

The Board has also actively been involved 
in strategic issues concerning the Compa-
ny's candidate drug, arfolitixorin, with regard 
to clinical development plans and regulatory 

COMPOSITION AND INDEPENDENCE
The elected Board Members are elected 
 annually at the Annual General Meeting for 
the  period until the conclusion of the next 
Annual General Meeting. Isofol's Articles of 
Association, dated 3 May 2018, state that the 
Board shall comprise a minimum of three (3) 
and a maximum of nine (9) Members, with a 
maximum of three (3) Deputy Members. The 
 majority of the elected Members of the Board 
shall, in accordance with the Code, be inde-
pendent in relation to the Company and the 
company management. When determining 
whether a Member is independent, an overall 
view shall be taken of all circumstances that 
may give rise to questioning the Member's 
independence in relation to the Company or 
the company management. The Code further 
states that at least two of the Members who 
are independent in relation to the Company 
and the company management shall also be 
independent in relation to major shareholders.

The term, major shareholders, refers to 
shareholders who, directly or indirectly, con-
trol 10% or more of all shares and votes in the 
Company. When determining a Member's in-
dependence, direct or indirect relationships 
with the major shareholder shall be taken 
into account. A Member of the Board who is 
employed by or a Member of the Board of a 
company that is a major shareholder is not re-
garded as independent. 

6 of the 7 Board Members are adjudged 
to be independent in relation to the Company 
and its major shareholders. These Members 
are, furthermore, adjudged to be independ-
ent in relation to the Company's management. 
Isofol has elected to deviate from the Code's 
requirement for independence, as described 
under the heading, "Deviations from the Code". 

At the end of the financial year, the Board 
of Isofol comprised seven (7) Members, name-
ly the Chairman of the Board, Ulf Jungnelius, 
and the following ordinary Members: Bengt 

Gustavsson, Jonas Pedersén, Alain Herrera, 
Anders Vedin, Paula Boultbee and Magnus 
Björsne.

THE RESPONSIBILITIES AND WORK  
OF THE BOARD
The Board of Directors is, after the General 
Meeting of the Company, the Company's most 
senior decision-making body. The principal 
task of the Board is to manage the Company's 
concerns on behalf of the shareholders in an 
optimum manner. The Board shall continuous-
ly evaluate the Company's operations and de-
velopment, and its financial position, and shall 
evaluate the operational management work. 
The Board decides on, amongst other things, 
issues relating to the Group's strategic orienta-
tion and organisation, business plans, financial 
plans, and budget. 

The Board also takes decisions on sig-
nificant agreements, major investments and 
undertakings, and sets the financial, informa-
tion, and risk management policies. The Board 
shall, furthermore, ensure that the Company 
draws up insider instructions and other inter-
nal policies and ethical guidelines. The Board is 
additionally tasked with appointing the Com-
pany's Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and with 
determining salaries and other remuneration 
for the same, based on the guidelines adopted 
by the Annual General Meeting. 

The Board works in accordance with the 
Rules of Procedure adopted annually and 
which regulate the frequency of and agenda 
for Board Meetings, the distribution of material 
for Meetings, and matters that shall be referred 
to the Board for information purposes or de-
cisions. The Rules of Procedure also regulate 
the division of labour between the Board and, 
where relevant, its Committees. The Board has 
also adopted instructions for the CEO that reg-
ulate the division of labour between the Board 
of Directors, the Chairman of the Board, and 
the CEO, and defines the CEO's authorities. 

issues with the relevant US and European au-
thorities. The Board has also been involved 
in budgetary work and work on the year-end 
accounts, and decisions in relation thereto. 
The presence of Board Members at the Board 
Meetings held in the 2018 financial year is 
shown in the table below. The number shown 
in parentheses indicates the maximum num-
ber of meetings that the Member in question 
could have attended. The reporting period is 
from 1 January to 31 December 2018.  

The number of Board Members was in-
creased, in conjunction with the Extraordinary 
General Meeting held on 10 October 2018, from 
five to seven, and this change meant that, 
amongst other things, the Board is now com-
pliant with the Code's requirements for inde-
pendence in relation to the Company and the 
company management, which constituted a 
deviation from the Code in 2017. 

EVALUATION OF THE WORK  
OF THE BOARD
The Code mandates that the Board of Direc-
tors shall evaluate the work of the Board an-
nually, by means of a systematic and struc-
tured process, with the aim of developing the 
Board's methodologies and efficiency. The 
work of the Board in 2018 has been evaluated 
during the first quarter of 2019. 

The evaluation required the completion 
by all Board Members of a questionnaire con-
taining questions about the operations of the 
Board. The results of the evaluation have been 
compiled in a report and presented to the 
Board and the members of the Nomination 
Committee. 

THE BOARD'S COMMITTEES
The Company's Board of Directors has estab-
lished the following Committees: the Remuner-
ation Committee and the Clinical and Regula-
tory Committee. The Board has adopted Rules 
of Procedure for the Committees. 
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Member of the Board Elected
Present at Board 

Meetings
Present at Remuneration 

Committee meetings
Present at Clinical and Regu-

latory Committee meetings

Independent in relation to 
the Company and the 

company management

Independent in relation to 
the Company's major 

shareholders

Ulf Jungnelius 2010 11 (12) 1 (2) 1 (1) Yes Yes

Bengt Gustavsson 2008 12 (12) 2 (2) 1 (1) No No

Anders Vedin 2013 5 (5) Yes Yes

Jonas Pedersén 2011 11 (12) 2 (2) Yes Yes

Magnus Björsne 2018 5 (5) Yes Yes

Paula Boultbee 2018 5 (5) Yes Yes

Alain Herrera 2018 8 (8) 1 (1) Yes Yes

Lars Lind1 2008 4 (4) Yes Yes

Jan-Eric Östlund2 2012 7 (7) 1 (2) Yes Yes

1 Resigned his seat in conjunction with the 2018 AGM.  2 Resigned in October 2018.

The Board has, at the time of writing, planned a total of four meetings in 2018, including the Board Meeting following election. 
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The Board has chosen not to establish an 
Audit Committee: rather, the Audit Committee 
comprises the Board as a whole. The auditor 
has reported to the Audit Committee on three 
occasions during the financial year. 

THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The Remuneration Committee comprises 
J onas Pedersén, the Chairman of the Commit-
tee, and the Board Members, Bengt Gustavs-
son and Ulf Jungnelius. The primary areas of 
responsibility of the Remuneration Committee 
are as follows: 
•  Submission of proposals to the Board regard-

ing decisions on remuneration, the principles 
governing the same, and other terms of em-
ployment. 

•  Analysis and evaluation of variable remuner-
ation, both ongoing and that concluded 
 during the year, on behalf of the company 
management. 

•  Evaluation of and monitoring compliance 
with the remuneration guidelines adopted by 
the AGM.  

The Committee met twice in 2018. At these 
meetings, the Committee discussed the Com-
pany's existing compensation systems, and 
proposed remuneration guidelines for the CEO 
and senior executives.  

CLINICAL AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE
The Clinical and Regulatory Committee com-
prises Ulf Jungnelius, the Chairman of the 
Committee and the Board Members, Alain 
Herrera and Bengt Gustavsson. The primary 
areas of responsibility of the Clinical and Reg-
ulatory Committee are as follows: 
•  Supporting the company's management in 

its monitoring of ongoing clinical studies. 
•  Drawing up proposals for new clinical stud-

ies and research to support the company's 
 development of arfolitixorin.

•  Participating in the evaluation of documenta-
tion in interactions with regulatory authorities. 

•  Supporting the company management in 
their evaluation of patient data.

The Committee met once in 2018. At this meet-

ing, the Committee discussed ongoing clinical 
studies and proposals for new and comple-
mentary studies and research that support the 
company's development of arfolitixorin.

COMPANY 
 MANAGEMENT 
THE CEO
The Board of Directors appoints the Chief Ex-
ecutive Officer (CEO) to lead the Company. The 
role of the CEO is subordinate to the Board and 
his or her primary task is to handle the Com-
pany's ongoing administration and the day-to-
day operations of the Company. The Board's 
Rules of Procedure and the CEO instructions 
determine the issues on which the Company's 
Board shall decide and which fall within the re-
mit of the CEO. The CEO is also responsible for 
producing reports and the necessary support-
ing documentation ahead of Board Meetings, 

and presents the material at Board Meetings. 
The CEO shall take the measures required to 
ensure that the Company's bookkeeping is 
completed in accordance with legislative provi-
sions and that the Company's assets are man-
aged securely. The CEO is, therefore, respon-
sible for ensuring that the Company has good 
internal controls and routines to ensure that the 
established principles for financial reporting 
and internal controls are applied.  

The CEO is obliged to attend all General 
Meetings of the Company, whether they be An-
nual General Meetings or Extraordinary Gen-
eral Meetings. The CEO is also tasked, in the 
case of serious crises, with informing the Board 
immediately and, if necessary, setting up and 
instructing a crisis management committee 
and an operational preparedness plan. The 
CEO shall notify the Chairman of the Board im-
mediately, as soon as he or she suspects that 
an event or procedure man have a materially 
negative effect on the operations or the Com-
pany's position, such as a liquidity crisis.
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Name Anders Rabbe, 
Chief Executive Officer (CEO)
Born: 1970

Karin Ganlöv,   
Chief Medical Officer (CMO) 
Born: 1964

Employed by the Com-
pany

2010 2015

Education BA Economics, Webster University, Geneva MD, specialising in cardiothoracic surgery, Lund University 

Background Experience of senior positions, such as CEO, CFO, and Member of 
the Boards of both listed and privately owned companies. Broad 
financial and entrepreneurial background and has successfully 
structured and developed new companies in several sectors.  

Medical Director, Mölnlycke Healthcare 2010-2015, ALK Abellò 
2007-2009 and Bayer HealthCare 2003-2007. Prior to this, 
specialist at Örebro University Hospital.

Shareholding* 115,932 shares, 176,300 stock options 13,664 shares, 176,300 stock options

Name Roger Tell,   
Chief Scientific Officer, CSO
Senior Vice President of Clinical Development, SVP 
Born: 1965

Sven Erickson, 
Chief Commercial Officer (CCO)
Born: 1970

Gustaf Albèrt,  
Chief Financial Officer (CFO)
Born: 1968

Employed by the Com-
pany

2019 2017 2017

Education MD, specialist oncology physician at Karolinska University 
Hospital
Ph.D. in Experimental oncology, Karolinska Institute

Ph.D. in Experimental oncology, Karolinska University Hospital M.Sc. in International Accounting and Auditing, Gothenburg 
School of Business, Economics and Law.

Background Vice President of Clinical Development at Aprea Therapeutics 
AB and International Clinical Project Manager at Servier, in 
Suresnes, France. Extensive experience as an oncologist 
and advisor to the Eli Lilly, AstraZeneca and Merck Serono 
biopharma companies.

Medical Director at PTC Therapeutics Norden, Product Search 
and Evaluation Manager at Medivir, and various roles at 
Novartis, including Scandinavian Medical Head Critical Care.

Broad financial and operational experience, most recently as 
CEO of Elanders Sverige AB, and previously as CFO of the same 
company. Prior to this, 17 years as an auditor, 11 of them as an 
Authorised Public Accountant, at Deloitte and Arthur Andersen.

Shareholding* 0 shares, 176,300 stock options 7,000 shares, 176,300 stock options 8,000 shares, 176,300 stock options

*Personal shareholding in the Company, or holding by a related party, whether a natural person or a legal entity, on 1 April 2019.
** Isofol Medical AB (publ.) 2018 Stock option programme, series 2018/2022 and series 2018/2023.
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MANAGEMENT
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MANAGEMENTSENIOR EXECUTIVES
The company management comprises, in ad-
dition to the CEO, four people: 
• Chief Medical Officer (CMO)
• Chief Scientific Officer (CSO) & Senior Vice  
   President of Clinical Development (SVP)
• Chief Commercial Officer (CCO)
• Chief Financial Officer (CFO)
The management group meets every month 
to discuss the Group's financial results and 
position, the status of research and develop-
ment projects, strategic issues, and monitor-
ing of budgets and forecasts.
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REMUNERATION TO MEMBERS  
OF THE BOARD
The 2018 Annual General Meeting resolved 
that the fees payable to the Board for its work 
in 2018 shall be payable as follows: a fee of 
SEK 400,000 shall be paid to the Chairman of 
the Board, and fees of SEK 200,000 to each of 
the other Members of the Board. 

Remuneration over and above the above- 
mentioned fees shall comprise: consultancy 
fees and expenses payable to Healthcom 
(owned by the Chairman of the Board, Ulf 
Jungnelius) of SEK 384,617 and SEK 84,251, 
respectively; consultancy fees and expenses 
payable to Biofol (owned by Board Member, 
Bengt Gustavsson) of SEK 480,000 and SEK 
74,074, respectively; and consultancy fees 
and expenses payable to AD Bio (owned by  
Board Member, Alain Herrera) of SEK 74,242  
and SEK 24,930, respectively. No pension 
premiums or similar benefits have been paid  
to the Board Members. None of the Board 
Members is entitled to benefits once their  
engagement has ended. For a further descrip-
tion of the terms of employment of the Board and   
senior executives, see the Directors' Report 

and Notes 4 and 20 of the 2018 Annual Re-
port.

REMUNERATION TO THE CEO AND OTHER 
SENIOR EXECUTIVES
Remuneration to the senior executives com-
prises a basic salary, variable remuneration, 
pension benefits, share-related incentive pro-
grammes, and other benefits and terms in 
conjunction with termination of employment. 
Salaries and other remuneration paid to the 
CEO and other senior executives in the 2018 
financial year are shown in the table below. All 
amounts are shown in SEK. 

INCENTIVE PROGRAMME 2012/2018
At the Extraordinary General Meeting held 
on 18 December 2012, the Company decided 
to establish an incentive programme based 
on stock options and employee options, di-
rected at the Board of Directors and employ-
ees. A total of 940,000 stock options (after 
the split) were issued, granting entitlement to 
subscribe for a maximum of 940,000 shares. 
On 31 December 2017, 625,000 stock options 
and 155,000 employee options had been sub-

scribed. No additional stock options will be 
subscribed under the programme. Full exercise 
of the options will result in a total dilution effect 
not exceeding ca. 2.47% of the share capital 
and number of votes, based on the number 
of shares outstanding on 31 December 2017. 
 Under the terms of the incentive programme, a 
change in the number of shares by reason of a 
bonus issue, preferential rights issue of shares, 
stock options, or convertible debentures, to-
gether with a reduction in the share capital 
with reimbursement of the shareholders, shall 
result in a recalculation of the number of stock 
options and the strike price. 

The strike price for shares subscribed 
for in line with the options shall be SEK 17 
per share. The stock option premium was 
SEK 2.84 and there was no employee op-
tion  premium. Shares may be subscribed for 
from 24 January 2013, incl. until 24 January 
2018, incl. Full exercise of the stock options 
will  result in an increase of SEK 22,650 in the 
Company's share capital.  

The incentive programme with stock op-
tions and employee options in Isofol Medical 
AB (publ.), initiated in 2012 with a term ending in 

January 2018, was ended in January 2018. The 
Company's CEO, Members of the Board, and 
employees subscribed for a total of 450,302 
shares at SEK 17 per share, corresponding to a 
total of SEK 7,655,136. The subscription resulted 
in a dilution of 1.4%. Isofol's Board of Directors 
has evaluated the incentive programme and 
concluded that the additional investment in 
Isofol by the Company's management and 
Board was extremely positive.

At an Extraordinary General Meeting 
held on 17 December 2018, the shareholders 
 decided to introduce an incentive programme 
directed at all employees of the Company 
and future key persons. The 2018 stock op-
tion programme - series 2018/2022 and series 
2018/2023 - comprises a maximum of 1,461,698 
stock options and the programme is struc-
tured so that the stock options are transferred 
at market value in accordance with a Black & 
Scholes calculation conducted by Grant Thorn-
ton Sweden AB. All employees took part and 
subscribed for a total of 1,260,136 stock options, 
yielding SEK 1,482,674 in option premiums, with 
senior executives (5 such) paying SEK 207,000 
per person for the stock options. 

The reporting period refers to
1 January-31 December 2018 Basic salary Benefits Invoiced fees Bonus Pension costs Total

CEO, Anders Rabbe 1,833,000 99,876 - 456,000 329,000 2,717,876

Other senior executives (3) 2,795,000 511,298 2,220,000 603,000 606,692 6,735,990

Total 4,628,000 611,174 2,220,000 1,059,000 935,692 9,453,866

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT 
REGARDING  

FINANCIAL REPORTING 

INTRODUCTION 
The following description is based on guidelines 
issued in 2008 by the Confederation of Swedish 
Enterprise and FAR. 

The Company's internal control processes 

for financial reporting have been structured to 
ensure the quality and accuracy of the report-
ing. The processes are structured to ensure 
that the reports are prepared in accordance 
with applicable legislation and regulations. 
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This requires the following important precon-
ditions to be in place: 
•  there must be a satisfactory control environ-

ment;  
•  reliable risk assessments must be carried out;  
•  there must be established control structures 

and control activities, and 
•  information, communication and monitoring 

must function satisfactorily.   

INTERNAL AUDITS 
The Board of Directors has evaluated the need 
for an internal audit function and concluded 
that no such function is motivated within Isofol, 
given the scope of the operations and the fact 
that the Board's monitoring of internal controls 
is deemed sufficient to ensure that the internal 
controls are effective. The Board will review the 
need when changes occur that many occasion 
review and at least once a year.  

CONTROL ENVIRONMENT
The Board has overall responsibility for the 
internal control of scientific data, pharma-
ceutical material, and financial reporting. The 
Board has adopted a number of policies and 
steering documents that regulate the finan-
cial reporting, in order to establish and main-
tain a functioning control environment. These 
policies and documents primarily comprise 
the Board's Rules of Procedure, the instruc-
tions for the CEO, and the financial reporting 
instructions. The Board has also adopted a 
special authorisation order and a financial 
policy. The Company also has an Accounts 
Manual that sets forth principles, guidelines 
and process descriptions for reporting and 
financial reporting. The Board continuously 
monitors the Company's financial position, 
and the effectiveness of the Company's inter-
nal control and risk management. The Board 
has also established routines for ensuring it 
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is informed with regard to the audit of the 
 annual accounts and consolidated accounts 
and for reviewing and monitoring the audi-
tor's impartiality and independence. Respon-
sibility for the ongoing work with internal con-
trol in respect of financial reporting has been 
delegated to the Company's CEO. The CEO 
reports to the Board on an ongoing basis in 
accordance with the instructions adopted for 
the CEO and the financial reporting instruc-
tions. The Board also receives reports from 
the Company's auditors. 

RISK ASSESSMENT 
The risk assessment process entails iden-
tifying risks that may arise in the event of 
non-compliance with the fundamental re-
quirements for financial reporting within the 
Company. Isofol's management group has 
identified, in a separate risk assessment docu-
ment, the relevant risks within the Company's 
operations and evaluated ways of managing 
these risks. The Board is then responsible, 
based on documentation supplied by the 
management, for the ongoing evaluation of 
the Company's risk situation, after which the 
Board also conducts an annual review of the 
risk situation. 

CONTROL STRUCTURES AND  
CONTROL ACTIVITIES
The Board's Rules of Procedure and the 
 instructions for the CEO and the Board's 
Committees ensure a clear division of roles 
and responsibilities. The Board has overall re-
sponsibility for the internal controls. The CEO 
is responsible for the system of routines, pro-
cedures, and controls drawn up for the oper-
ating activities. These include guidelines and 
role descriptions for different individuals and 
regular reporting to the Board. Policies, pro-
cedures, routines, instructions and templates 

for financial reporting and ongoing work with 
financial administration and financial issues 
are documented in Isofol's Accounts Manual. 
The most significant, general steering docu-
ments within the company, over and above 
the Accounts Manual, are the financial policy, 
the information policy, the insider policy, and 
the risk management policy.  

The primary purpose of control activities 
is to prevent and detect at an early stage any 
errors in the financial reporting so that they 
can be managed and corrected. Control ac-
tivities take place at both overall and more 
detailed levels and are both manual and 
 automated in nature.  

INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATION 
The Company has information and commu-
nication pathways designed to promote the 
 accuracy of the financial reporting and to 
enable reporting and feedback from the op-
erations to the Board and the management, 
e.g. through steering documents in the form 
of internal policies, guidelines, and instructions 
relating to financial reporting, which have been 
made available and known to all relevant em-
ployees. The Board has also adopted an infor-
mation policy that regulates Isofol's informa-
tion provision. The establishment of a uniform 
strategy for external communication reduces 
the risk of incorrect information, rumours, and 
misunderstandings. The policy applies to all 
employees and Members of the Board of Isofol 
Medical and applies to both verbal and written 
information. 

The Board publishes annual accounts, 
year-end reports, and interim reports. All fi-
nancial reports are published on the website 
(www.isofolmedical.com) once they have 
been published in accordance with NASDAQ 
First North Premier's instructions. The Annual 
Report is published on the website and made 

available in paper format to those share-
holders who request it. 

MONITORING, EVALUATION,  
AND REPORTING
Compliance with and the effectiveness of the 
internal controls are monitored continuous-
ly. The CEO ensures that the Board receives 
ongoing reports on the development of the 
Company's operations, including the devel-
opment of the Company's financial results 
and position, and information on important 
events, such as important agreements and 
clinical development results. The CEO also re-
ports on these issues at every Board Meeting. 
The Company's compliance with applicable 
policies and steering documents is subject  to 
annual evaluation. The results of these eval-
uations are compiled by the Company's CEO 
and reported to the Board. 

EXTERNAL AUDITS
The Company's auditors are appointed by the 
Annual General Meeting for the period until 
the end of the next Annual General Meeting. 
The auditor audits the annual accounts and 
bookkeeping, and the management by the 
Board of Directors and the CEO. The auditor is 
tasked with presenting an Audit Report to the 
General Meeting of the Company after the 
end of every financial year. The Company's 
auditors submit their opinions from the audit 
and their evaluations of the Company's inter-
nal controls to the Board on a yearly basis. 
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS
1 January – 31 December  
SEK k Note 2018 2017

OPERATING INCOME
Other operating income 3 – 227

OPERATING EXPENSES
Other external costs 5, 18 -72,116 -61,210
Personnel costs 4, 20 -17,576 -11,587
Depreciation of tangible and intangible fixed 
assets 8, 9 -157 -157
Other operating expenses – 140
Total operating expenses -89,849 -72,814
Operating profit/loss -89,849 -72,587

FINANCIAL ITEMS
Financial income 7,362 558
Financial expenses -638 -6
Net financial items 26 6,724 552

Loss after financial items -83,125 -72,035

Loss before tax -83,125 -72,035
Tax on the profit/loss for the period 7 – –
Result for the period -83,125 -72,035
Attributable to:
The Parent Company’s shareholders -83,125 -72,035

EARNINGS PER SHARE 24
Before dilution (SEK) -2.60 -2.60
After dilution (SEK) -2.60 -2.60

There are no amounts to report under Other comprehensive income and the Net profit/loss for 
the year consequently corresponds to the Total net profit/loss for the year.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

SEK k Note 2018 2017

ASSETS
Intangible fixed assets
Patents 8 193 292

Tangible fixed assets
Equipment, tools, fixtures & fittings 9 132 189

Financial assets
Other long-term receivables 27 3,767 –
Total fixed assets 4,092 481

Accounts receivable 6 – 17
Other receivables 6, 10 10,076 2,806
Prepaid costs and accrued income 6, 10, 11 1,487 641
Cash and cash equivalents 6, 12, 19 272,897 357,331
Total current assets 284,460 360,795
Total assets 288,552 361,276

EQUITY 13
Share capital 981 968
Other capital contributed 617,520 609,879
Loss brought forward -270,368 -195,779
Loss for the year -83,125 -72,035
Total equity 265,008 343,033

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 6 12,353 9,327
Other liabilities 6, 15 1,297 912
Accrued expenses and prepaid income 16 9,894 8,004
Total current liabilities 23,544 18,243
Total liabilities 23,544 18,243
Total equity and liabilities 288,552 361,276
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SEK k
Share 

 capital
Other capital 

contributed
Profit brought forward incl. 
net profit/loss for the year Total

Opening equity, 1 Jan 2017 322 201,302 -196,130 5,494

TOTAL NET PROFIT/LOSS FOR THE YEAR
Net loss for the year – – -72,035 -72,035
Other comprehensive income for the year – – – –
Total net loss for the year – – -72,035 -72,035

TRANSACTIONS WITH THE GROUP’S OWNERS
Contributions by and distributions to owners
Effect of employee options for the period 351 351
Completed ongoing issue 14 8,974 8,988
Bonus issue 178 -178 –
New share issue 454 429,558 430,012
Issue costs -29,798 -29,798
Subsidiary’s options in the Parent Company 21 21
Total contributions by and distributions to owners 646 408,577 351 409,574
Closing equity, 31 Dec 2017 968 609,879 -267,814 343,033

SEK k
Share 

 capital
Other capital 

contributed
Profit brought forward incl. 
net profit/loss for the year Total

Opening equity, 1 Jan 2018 968 609,879 267,814 343,033

TOTAL NET PROFIT/LOSS FOR THE YEAR
Net loss for the year – – -83,125 -83,125
Other comprehensive income for the year – – – –
Total net loss for the year – – -83,125 -83,125

TRANSACTIONS WITH THE GROUP’S OWNERS
Contributions by and distributions to owners
New share issue 13 7,641 -2,554 5,100
Total contributions by and distributions to owners 13 7,641 -2,554 5,100
Closing equity, 31 Dec 2018 981 617,520 -353,493 265,008

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN CONSOLIDATED EQUITY
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1 January – 31 December  
SEK k Note 2018 2017

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit/loss after financial items -83,125 -72,035
Adjustment for non-cash items 22 -10,975 157
Income tax paid – –
Cash flow from operating activities before 
changes in working capital -94,100 -71,878

CASH FLOW FROM CHANGES  
IN WORKING CAPITAL
Increase (-)/Decrease (+) in operating 
 receivables -3,660 -251
Increase (+)/Decrease (-) in operating liabilities 5,302 10,186
Cash flow from operating activities -92,458 -61,943

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investment in tangible fixed assets – -75
Cash flow from investing activities – -75

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
New share issue 5,100 400,235
Cash flow from financing activities 5,100 400,235

Cash flow for the year -87,358 338,217
Opening cash and cash equivalents 357,331 19,114
Exchange rate differences for cash and 
cash equivalents 2,924 –
Closing cash and cash equivalents 12 272,897 357,331

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW

1 January – 31 December  
SEK k Note 2018 2017

OPERATING INCOME
Other operating income 3 – 227

OPERATING EXPENSES
Other external costs 5, 18 -72,122 -61,210
Personnel costs 4, 20 -17,576 -11,587
Depreciation of tangible and intangible fixed 
assets 8, 9 -157 -157
Other operating expenses – 140
Total operating expenses -89,855 -72,814
Operating loss -89,855 -72,587

FINANCIAL ITEMS
Financial income 7,362 558
Financial expenses -638 -6
Net financial items 26 6,724 552

APPROPRIATIONS
Group contributions made -376 –

Loss before tax -83,507 -72,035
Tax on the profit/loss for the year 7 – –
Loss for the year -83,507 -72,035

There are no amounts to report under Other comprehensive income and the Net profit/loss for 
the year consequently corresponds to the Total net profit/loss for the year.

PARENT COMPANY INCOME STATEMENTS
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1 January – 31 December  
SEK k Note 2018 2017

ASSETS
Intangible fixed assets
Patents, licenses and similar rights 8 193 292

Tangible fixed assets
Equipment, tools, fixtures & fittings 9 132 189

Financial fixed assets
Participations in Group companies 21 50 50
Other long-term receivables 27 3,767 –
Total fixed assets 4,142 531

Accounts receivable 6 – 17
Other receivables 6, 10 10,074 3,180
Prepaid costs and accrued income 6, 10, 11 1,487 641
Cash and bank 6, 12, 19 272,850 357,283
Total current assets 284,411 361,121
Total assets 288,553 361,652

PARENT COMPANY BALANCE SHEETS

1 January – 31 December  
SEK k Note 2018 2017

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity 13
Restricted equity
Share capital 981 968

Non-restricted equity
Share premium reserve 617,898 610,257
Loss brought forward -270,364 -195,775
Net loss for the year -83,507 -72,035
Total equity 265,008 343,415

Accounts payable 6 12,353 9,327
Other liabilities 6, 15 1,298 912
Accrued expenses and prepaid income 6, 16 9,894 7,998
Total current liabilities 23,545 18,237
Total liabilities 23,545 18,237
Total equity and liabilities 288,553 361,652
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Restricted equity Non-restricted equity 

SEK k Share capital
Ongoing  

new share issue
Share 

premium reserve
Profit/loss 

brought forward
Net profit/loss  

for the year Total equity
Opening equity, 1 Jan 2017 322 14 201,687 -131,199 -64,927 5,897

TOTAL NET PROFIT/LOSS FOR THE YEAR
Net loss for the year -72,035 -72,035
Comprehensive income for the year – –
Total net profit/loss for the year – – – – -72,035 -72,035

Appropriation of profits -64,927 64,927 –
Employee options 351 351
Ongoing new share issue 14 -14 8,988 8,988
Bonus issue 178 -178 –
New share issue 454 429,558 430,012
Issue costs -29,798 -29,798
Closing equity, 31 Dec 2017 968 – 610,257 -195,775 -72,035 343,415

SEK k
Share  

capital
Ongoing  

new share issue
Share premium 

reserve
Profit/loss  

brought forward
Net profit/loss for 

the year
Total

equity

Opening equity, 1 Jan 2018 968 – 610,257 -195,775 -72,035 343,415

TOTAL NET PROFIT/LOSS FOR THE YEAR
Net loss for the year -83,507 -83,507

Comprehensive income for the year – –
Total net profit/loss for the year – – – – -83,507 -83,507

Appropriation of profits – – – -72,035 72,035 –
New share issue 13 – 7,641 -2,554 – 5,100
Closing equity, 31 Dec 2018 981 – 617,898 -270,364 -83,507 265,008

CHANGES IN EQUITY – THE PARENT COMPANY
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1 January – 31 December  
SEK k Note 2018 2017

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit/loss after financial items -83,507 -72,035
Adjustment for non-cash items 22 -,10,592 157
Income tax paid – –
Cash flow from operating activities before 
changes in working capital -94,099 -71,878

CASH FLOW FROM CHANGES 
IN WORKING CAPITAL
Increase (-)/Decrease (+) in operating 
 receivables -3,660 -251
Increase (+)/Decrease (-) in operating liabilities 5,302 10,186
Cash flow from operating activities -92,457 -61,943

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investment in tangible fixed assets – -75
Cash flow from investing activities – -75

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
New share issue 5,100 400,235
Cash flow from financing activities 5,100 400,235

Cash flow for the year -87,357 338,217
Opening cash and cash equivalents 357,283 19,066
Exchange rate differences for cash and 
cash equivalents 2,924 –
Closing cash and cash equivalents 12 272,850 357,283

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW – PARENT COMPANY
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SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION AND NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL REPORTS
General information
Isofol Medical AB (publ.), company registration number 556759-8064, is a limited company 
 registered and with registered offices in Gothenburg, Sweden, at Arvid Wallgrens Backe 20, 
SE-413 46 GOTHENBURG, Sweden. The Parent Company shares are listed on the NASDAQ First 
North Premier exchange in Stockholm. 

NOTE 1  ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES  

NORMATIVE AND LEGISLATIVE COMPLIANCE
The consolidated accounts have been prepared in accordance with the IFRS standards issued  
by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), as adopted by the EU. The Swedish 
 Financial Reporting Board’s Recommendation RFR 1, Supplementary accounting rules for 
groups, has also been applied.

The Parent Company’s annual accounts have been prepared in accordance with the pro-
visions of the Swedish Annual Accounts Act (1995:1554) and the Swedish Financial Reporting 
Board’s Recommendation RFR 2, Accounting for legal entities. The IFRS valuation and disclosure 
rules have, therefore, been applied with the exceptions set forth in the section entitled “Parent 
Company accounting principles”.

The accounting principles presented below have been applied consistently to all periods 
 presented in the Group’s financial reports. The Group’s accounting principles have, furthermore, 
been consistently applied by the Group’s companies.

VALUATION PRINCIPLES APPLIED WHEN PREPARING 
THE FINANCIAL REPORTS
Assets and liabilities are reported at historical cost, unless otherwise specified.

ASSESSMENTS AND ESTIMATES IN THE FINANCIAL REPORTS
Preparation of the financial reports in accordance with IFRS requires the company management 
to perform assessments and estimates and to make assumptions that affect the application of 
the accounting principles and the assets and liabilities, income and expenses amounts reported. 
The actual outcome may differ from these estimates. 

The estimates and assumptions are subject to continuous evaluation. Amendments to esti-
mates are reported in the period in which the amendment is made if the amendment only  affects 
that period, or in the period in which the amendment is made and future periods if the amend-
ment affects both the current and future periods. 

Isofol has substantial expenditures for clinical studies. The company management is of the 
opinion that expenses disbursed up to the closing date of 31 December 2018 do not meet all 
 criteria for capitalisation as assets in accordance with IAS 38 Intangible Assets. The expenses 
have, therefore, been carried as expenses.

NEW OR AMENDED REPORTING STANDARDS DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR
In 2018, the Group and the Parent Company have begun to apply IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 
and IFRS 15 Revenues from Contracts with Customers. The effects of the transition to IFRS 9 and 
IFRS 15 are presented below.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments has replaced IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Meas-
urement, effective as of 1 January 2018. The change in accounting principle has had no material 
effect on the Group’s result or position.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers replaces, as of 2018, all previously issued stand-
ards and interpretations addressing revenue with a combined model of revenue recognition. 
The company has no income generated by the sale of pharmaceuticals and no other revenues 
have been affected by the introduction of IFRS 15, and there is consequently no need to make 
complementary disclosures.

None of the other new and amended standards and interpretations that came into force on 
1 January 2018 have had any material effect on the financial reports of the Group or the Parent 
Company. No new or amended IFRS standards have been applied in advance.

NEW IFRS STANDARDS NOT YET APPLIED BY THE GROUP
IFRS 16 Leases replaces, as of 2019, existing IFRS in relation to the reporting of leasing agree-
ments, such as IAS 17 Leases and IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a lease. 
Isofol will apply IFRS 16 from 1 January 2019. This standard will primarily affect the reporting 
of the Group’s operational leasing agreements where undertakings exist in the form of rental 
agreements for premises and the leasing of fixtures and fittings, and vehicles. These types of 
agreement often have a contractual term of 3 years. The transition to IFRS 16 will be effected 
using the cumulative method and any effect of IFRS 16 will be reported under Equity at the be-
ginning of the first year of application, i.e. 1 January 2019. No conversion of comparative figures 
will take place. Note 23 below provides an indication of the type and scale of the agreements that 
will be affected by the new reporting standard.

A number of new or amended IFRS standards will not come into force until future financial 
years and have not been the subject of early adoption when preparing these financial reports. 
Other new or amended standards or interpretations published by the IASB are not expected to 
have any effect on the financial reports of either the Group or the Parent Company.

CLASSIFICATION, ETC.
Fixed assets and long-term liabilities comprise, in every significant respect, amounts that the 
organisation expects to recover or pay more than twelve months after the closing day. Current 
assets and current liabilities comprise, in every significant respect, amounts that the organisa-
tion expects to recover or pay within twelve months of the closing day.
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CONSOLIDATION PRINCIPLES
Subsidiary companies
The consolidated accounts include the Parent Company, Isofol Medical AB (publ.) and the wholly 
owned Swedish subsidiary company, Isofol Medical Incentive AB.

Consolidation principles 
Subsidiary companies are companies under the controlling influence of Isofol Medical AB (publ.). 
Controlling influence exists if Isofol Medical AB (publ.) exerts influence over the investment 
 object, is exposed to or entitled to variable remuneration from its involvement, and can exert 
its influence over the investment in order to affect the return. When determining whether a con-
trolling influence exists, potential vote-carrying shares and whether de facto control exists are 
taken into account. 

Business combinations are reported using the acquisition accounting method. Under this 
method, the acquisition of a subsidiary company is regarded as a transaction by means of which 
the Group indirectly acquires the subsidiary company’s assets and assumes its liabilities. In the 
acquisition analysis, assets and liabilities are reported at fair value in accordance with the acqui-
sition analysis performed. The difference between the historic cost of the subsidiary company 
shares and the fair value of the assets acquired, liabilities assumed, and contingent liabilities, 
comprises consolidated goodwill. The purchase price also includes the fair value of all assets 
and liabilities arising from a contingent consideration agreement. Acquisition-related costs are 
carried as expenses as they arise.

The subsidiary company’s financial reports are incorporated into the consolidated accounts 
from the acquisition date until the date when a controlling influence ceases to exist.

Transactions eliminated in conjunction with consolidation
Intra-Group receivables and liabilities, income or expenses, and unrealised profits or losses 
 arising from intra-Group transactions between Group companies are eliminated in their entirety 
when preparing the consolidated accounts. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way, 
but only to the extent that no impairment requirement exists.

Assets and liabilities in foreign operations are converted to Swedish kronor at the closing day 
exchange rate. Income and expenses in foreign operations are converted to Swedish kronor 
at an average rate that constitutes an approximation of the rates obtaining on the respective 
transaction dates. Translation differences arising in conjunction with currency conversion for 
foreign operations are reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

FOREIGN CURRENCY CONVERSION
Functional currency and reporting currency
The Parent Company’s functional currency is Swedish kronor which is also the reporting currency 
for the Group. The financial reports are, therefore, presented in Swedish kronor. All amounts, 
unless otherwise specified, are stated and rounded off to the nearest thousand (SEK k).

Transactions in foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are converted to the functional currency at the exchange rate 
on the transaction date. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are converted to the 
functional currency at the exchange rate on the closing day. Exchange rate differences arising 
in conjunction with these conversions are reported in the profit/loss for the year. Exchange rate 
profits and losses on operating receivables and liabilities are reported in the operating profit/
loss, while exchange rate profits and losses on financial receivables and liabilities are reported 
as financial items. 

REVENUES
The Group recognises revenues when the amount can be reliably quantified, when it is probable 
that future economic benefits will accrue to the company, and special criteria have been met for 
each of the Group’s operations. Revenue is recognised excluding Value Added Tax, returns, and 
discounts, and after elimination of intra-Group sales. The Group does not currently recognise 
any revenues as the drug has not, as yet, been launched. 

STATE SUBSIDIES
State subsidies are reported when the company complies with the terms and conditions asso-
ciated with the subsidies and receipt of the subsidies can be confirmed. Subsidies received are 
reported in the Balance Sheet as prepaid income and are booked in the period when the cost 
to which the subsidy refers is reported. State subsidies are reported as Other income when it is 
clear that compliance with the terms and conditions associated with the subsidies exists.

LEASING
Operational leasing agreements
Costs in respect of operational leasing agreements are reported linearly over the leasing period 
in the net profit/loss for the year. Benefits received in conjunction with the signing of an agree-
ment are reported linearly over the term of the leasing agreement in the net profit/loss for the 
year as a reduction in leasing charges. Variable charges are carried as expenses in the periods 
in which they arise. All of Isofol’s leasing agreements are operational.

FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES
Financial income and expenses comprise interest income on bank deposits, receivables, and in-
terest-bearing securities, interest expenses on loans and liabilities, unrealised and realised profits 
and losses on financial assets, and derivative instruments used within the financing  operations.

Exchange rate profits and losses are reported net.

INCOME TAXES
Income taxes comprise current tax and deferred tax. Income taxes are reported in the net profit/
loss for the year other than when the underlying transaction is reported under Other compre-
hensive income or in equity, when the associated tax effect is reported under Other comprehen-
sive income or equity.

Note 1, cont.
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Current tax is the tax that shall be paid or received for the current year, applying the rates of 
taxation approved or approved in practice on the closing day. Current tax also includes adjust-
ments to current tax attributable to previous periods. The management regularly evaluates the 
claims made in general income tax returns in respect of situations where applicable tax regu-
lations are subject to interpretation and makes provision, where such is deemed necessary, for 
amounts that will probably be payable to the tax authorities. 

Deferred tax is calculated using the Balance Sheet method, starting with temporary differ-
ences between reported and fiscal values of assets and liabilities. 
Deferred tax receivables in respect of deductible temporary differences and loss carry forwards 
are only reported to the extent that it is probable that they will be utilised. The value of deferred 
tax receivables is reduced when it is no longer considered likely that they can be utilised.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments has replaced the existing IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement, as of 1 January 2018. The change in accounting principle has had no material 
effect on the Group’s result or position and the Group is of the opinion that the new financial 
asset categories introduced by IFRS 9 have no material effect on its reporting. 

Financial instruments reported in the Balance Sheet include, on the assets side, cash and 
cash equivalents, accounts receivable, other receivables, and other long-term securities holdings. 
Those on the liabilities side include accounts payable and other liabilities.

A financial asset or financial liability is recognised in the Balance Sheet when the company 
becomes a party to the instrument’s contractual terms and conditions. Accounts receivable are 
recognised in the Balance Sheet when an invoice has been raised. Accounts payable are reported 
when an invoice has been received. A financial asset is eliminated from the Balance Sheet when 
the rights set forth in the agreement have been realised, expire, or the company loses control 
over them. The same applies to parts of a financial asset. A financial liability is eliminated from 
the Balance Sheet when the contractual obligation is met or otherwise extinguished. The same 
applies to parts of a financial liability. 

FINANCIAL ASSETS
First reporting date and valuation
The Group classifies and reports its financial assets in the following categories: financial assets 
reported at amortised cost, financial assets reported at fair value either via the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income or the Income Statement.

The classification on the first reporting date depends on the nature of the financial asset’s 
contractual cash flows and the Group’s business model for the management of financial assets. 
The Group initially values a financial asset at fair value.

A financial asset must, in order to be classified and valued at amortised cost or fair value via 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income, give rise to cash flows that comprise solely payments 
of principal and interest on the outstanding amount. This assessment is known as the SPPI test 
and is conducted at instrument level.

The Group’s business model for the management of financial assets refers to the way in 
which the Group manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows. The business 

model determines whether cash flows result from the collection of contractual cash flows, the 
divestment of financial assets, or both. 

Subsequent valuation 
Subsequent valuation of investments in debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model 
for handling the asset and the type of cash flow to which the asset gives rise. The Group classifies 
its investments in debt instruments in two valuation categories:

• Financial assets valued at amortised cost (debt instruments) 
• Financial assets valued at fair value via the Income Statement

Financial assets valued at amortised cost (debt instruments) 
This category is most relevant to the Group. The Group reports financial assets at amortised cost 
if both of the following criteria are met:

•  the business model for the financial assets entails collection of contractual cash flows,
 and   
•  the asset’s contractual terms and conditions give rise to cash flows on specific dates 

that comprise solely payments of principal and interest on the outstanding amount.
Financial assets valued at amortised cost are subsequently valued using the effective interest 
method, less provisions for decrease in value. The amortised cost is equal to the amount 
reported in conjunction with the acquisition, after deductions for repayment of nominal 
amounts, plus or minus any adjustments for effective interest. Interest income for such 
financial assets is reported as financial income by applying the effective interest method. 

The Group’s financial assets valued at amortised cost include accounts receivable, other cur-
rent receivables, and cash and cash equivalents. Bank deposits are payable upon demand and 
the amortised cost consequently corresponds to the nominal amount.

Loan-loss provisioning is reported for anticipated losses.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the Statements of Cash Flow include cash assets, bank deposits, 
and other short-term liquid investments in short-term fixed income funds that can easily be con-
verted to cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Other short-term 
investments are classified as cash and cash equivalents when their maturity date is within three 
months of the acquisition date, they can easily be converted to cash assets in a known amount, 
and are subject to an insignificant risk of fluctuations in value. Cash assets and bank deposits are 
categorised as financial assets valued at amortised cost. Short-term liquid investments in fixed 
income funds are valued at fair value and categorised as financial assets valued at fair value 
with changes in value reported in the Income Statement.

Fair value via the Income Statement 
Assets that fail to meet the requirements for reporting at amortised cost or fair value via the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income are valued at fair value via the Income Statement. A profit 
or loss for a debt instrument reported at fair value via the Income Statement and which is not 
part of a hedging relationship is reported net in the Income Statement in the period when the 
profit or loss occurs. 

Note 1, cont.
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The Group’s financial assets valued at fair value via the Income Statement include fixed 
 income funds which are classified as cash and cash equivalents. Fixed income funds can easily be 
converted to cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in values.

Elimination from the statement of financial position for financial assets
A financial asset (or, when applicable, part of a financial asset or a group of similar financial 
assets) is primarily eliminated from the consolidated statement of financial position when:

• the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset cease, 
 or
•  the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the assets or has under-

taken to pay the cash flows received in their entirety, without delay, to a third party.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
First reporting date and valuation 
The Group classifies and reports its financial liabilities in the following categories: financial liabil-
ities reported at fair value via the Income Statement, loans, and accounts payable.

All financial liabilities are initially reported at fair value and, with regard to loans and accounts 
payable, less deductions for directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities comprise accounts payable and other liabilities.

Subsequent valuation
The valuation of financial liabilities with regard to accounts payable and other liabilities is initially 
reported at fair value via the Income Statement, and subsequently at amortised cost applying 
the effective interest method. 

Loans
The Group has no loans. 

Elimination from the statement of financial position for financial liabilities 
A financial liability is eliminated from the consolidated statement of financial position when the 
liability for the debt is cancelled, concluded, or expires.

Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and reported in a net amount in the Balance Sheet when 
there exists a legal right to offset and an intention to settle the items with a net sum or to simulta-
neously realise the asset and settle the liability. 

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
Accounts payable are financial instruments and refer to obligations to pay for goods and services 
acquired from suppliers by the operating activities. Accounts payable are classified as current 
liabilities if they fall due within one year. If not, they are reported as long-term liabilities. Accounts 
payable are initially reported at fair value and, subsequently, at amortised cost applying the 
effective interest method.

CURRENCY DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS
Isofol holds currency derivatives. Currency derivative instruments are valued at fair value in the 
Balance Sheet. Any profits or losses are reported in the Income Statement under Net financial 
items. The derivatives are reported under the heading, “Current receivables and current liabil-
ities” and are categorised as level 2 instruments in the fair value hierarchy, in accordance with 
IFRS 13. There are no official market listings for the currency derivative instruments, and the 
market  valuation obtained from the bank is consequently used to establish the fair value of the 
derivatives. This market valuation is based on the difference between the future rate and the 
current  future rate. The bank uses available market information and calculates an indicative 
market value.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS REPORTING FOR 2017 IN ACCORDANCE WITH IAS 39
Reporting in and elimination from the statement of financial position
A financial asset or liability is reported in the Balance Sheet when the company becomes a 
party in accordance with the contractual terms and conditions of the instrument. A receivable is 
reported when the company has performed and a contractual obligation exists for the counter-
party to pay, even if an invoice has not yet been raised. Accounts receivable are reported in the 
statement of financial position when an invoice has been raised. Liabilities are reported when 
the counterparty has performed and a contractual obligation exists to pay, even if an invoice 
has not yet been received. Accounts payable are reported when an invoice has been received. 

A financial asset is eliminated from the Balance Sheet when the rights set forth in the agree-
ment have been realised, expire, or the company loses control over them. The same applies to parts 
of a financial asset. A financial liability is eliminated from the Balance Sheet when the contractual 
obligation is met or otherwise extinguished. The same applies to parts of a financial liability. 

Classification and valuation
Financial instruments that are not derivatives are initially reported at the historic cost corre-
sponding to the instrument’s fair value plus transaction costs for all financial instruments, other 
than in respect of those that come under the category of financial assets reported at fair value 
via the profit/loss, which are reported at fair value excluding transaction costs.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash funds and bank deposits that are immediately 
accessible.

Financial assets are written down when objective proof exists of an impairment requirement.

TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
Tangible fixed assets are reported in the Group at the historic cost after deductions for accumulat-
ed depreciation and any write-downs. The historic cost includes the purchase price and expenses 
directly attributable to the asset in bringing it to the location and condition that permits its use in 
accordance with the purpose of the acquisition. Additional expenses are either added to the asset’s 
reported value or reported as a separate asset, as applicable, only when it is probable that future 
economic benefits associated with the asset will accrue to the Group and the asset’s acquisition 
value can be reliably measured. All other forms of repairs and maintenance are reported as costs 
in the Income Statement as they arise. 

Note 1, cont.

| OMRÅDESBESKRIVNING| NOTES

53 ISOFOL | Annual Report 2018



The reported value of a tangible fixed asset is eliminated from the statement of financial 
position in conjunction with disposal or divestment or when no future economic benefits are ex-
pected from the use or disposal/divestment of the asset. Profits or losses arising in conjunction 
with the divestment or disposal of an asset comprise the difference between the sale price and 
the reported value of the asset less direct selling expenses. Profits and losses are reported as 
Other operating income/expenses.

DEPRECIATION PRINCIPLES
Depreciation is effected linearly over the estimated useful life of the asset. The Group applies 
component depreciation, whereby the estimated useful life of the components forms the basis 
for the depreciation. The estimated useful life of the Group’s equipment, tools, fixtures and fittings, 
is five years.

The assets’ residual value and useful life are assessed on every closing day and adjusted as 
necessary. 

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible assets acquired by the Group comprises patents, which are reported at the historic 
cost minus accumulated depreciation and any write-downs.

Depreciation principles
Depreciation is reported linearly in the net profit/loss for the year over the estimated useful lives 
of intangible assets, provided that such useful lives cannot be determined. Useful lives are re-
viewed at least once a year. Intangible assets with determinable useful lives are depreciated from 
the date when they become available for use. The estimated useful life of a patent is 10 years.

WRITE-DOWNS
An assessment of whether there is any indication of a decrease in value, over and above the 
depreciation reported, with regard to the Group’s tangible and intangible assets is conducted on 
every reporting occasion. 

Write-downs of tangible and intangible assets
Indications of impairment result in a calculation of the asset’s recoverable value. If it is not possible 
to link materially independent cash flows to an individual asset, and its fair value minus selling 
expenses cannot be used, the assets are grouped, during impairment testing, at the lowest level 
at which materially independent cash flows can be identified, known as a cash-generating unit.

The recoverable value is whichever is the higher of the fair value minus selling expenses and the 
value in use. When calculating the value in use, future cash flows are discounted using a discount 
factor that takes into account risk-free interest and the risk associated with the specific asset.

Write-down of financial assets
The company evaluates whether objective proof exists of impairment with regard to a financial 
asset or group of assets in conjunction with the preparation of every set of financial reports. 

Objective proof comprises both observable circumstances that have occurred and which have 
a negative effect on the potential for recovering the historic cost, and significant or extended 
reductions in the fair value of an investment in a financial investment classified as a financial 
asset that can be sold.

Reversal of write-downs
A previous write-down is reversed when there has been a change in the assumptions that formed 
the basis for establishing the recoverable value of the asset when it was written down, such that 
the write-down is no longer deemed necessary. Reversals of previous write-downs are reviewed 
on an individual basis and reported in the Income Statement. 

EMPLOYEE REMUNERATION
Short-term benefits
Short-term employee benefits, such as salaries, social security contributions, holiday pay, and 
bonuses are carried as expenses in the period in which the employee performs the services. 

Defined contribution pension plans
The Group’s pension undertakings exclusively comprise defined contribution plans. Defined con-
tribution plans are defined as plans where the company’s undertaking is limited to the fees 
that the company has undertaken to pay. In such cases, the size of the employee’s pension is 
determined by the fees paid into the plan or to an insurance company by the company, and 
the capital return on these fees. The employee consequently bears both the actuarial risk (that 
the returns will be less than anticipated) and the investment risk (that the assets invested will be 
insufficient to yield the anticipated returns). The company’s undertakings with regard to charges 
payable to defined contribution plans are reported as a cost in the net profit/loss for the year 
as they are earned by the employee performing services for the company over a period of time. 
The Group consequently bears no additional risk.

PROVISIONS
A provision differs from other liabilities in that a degree of uncertainty exists with regard to the 
payment date or the size of the sum that will be required to settle the provision. A provision is 
reported in the Balance Sheet when a legal or informal obligation exists due to an event that has 
occurred and where it is probable that a disbursement of financial resources will be required to 
settle the undertaking and a reliable estimate of the amount can be calculated. The provision 
is reported in an amount that corresponds to the best estimate of the disbursement required 
to settle the undertaking. If the outflow of resources is expected to occur far into the future, the 
anticipated future cash flow is discounted, and the provision reported at a current value. The 
discount rate corresponds to the market rate before tax and the risks associated with the liability.

EQUITY
Transaction costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are reported, net 
after tax, in equity as a deduction from the issue proceeds.

Note 1, cont.
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OPTIONS PROGRAMME
Share-based incentive programmes are reported in accordance with IFRS 2. As of 31 December 
2018, there are no outstanding incentive programmes for the Board of Directors or employees. 
An incentive programme based on warrants to subscribe will be implemented on 1 January 2019. 
Employees who choose to participate in the stock options programme will pay a premium cor-
responding to the market value of the warrant, calculated using the Black & Scholes formula. As 
the market value will be paid, there will be no effect on the company’s result for the period, or its 
financial position. A description of the options programme is provided in Note 23.

DIVIDENDS 
Dividends are reported as liabilities after the Annual General Meeting has approved the dividend.

 
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
A contingent liability is reported when there is a possible undertaking deriving from events that 
have occurred and whose existence is only confirmed by one or more uncertain future events, 
or when there is an undertaking that is not reported as a liability or provision as it is unlikely that 
any disbursement of resources will be required.

EARNINGS PER SHARE
The calculation of the earnings per share is based on the consolidated net profit/loss attribut-
able to the Parent Company’s shareholders and the weighted average number of shares out-
standing during the year. 

THE PARENT COMPANY’S ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
The Parent Company has prepared its annual accounts in accordance with the provisions  
of the Swedish Annual Accounts Act (1995:1554) and the Swedish Financial Reporting Board’s 
Recommendation RFR 2, Accounting for legal entities. Statements issued by the Swedish 
 Financial Reporting Board and applicable to listed companies are also applied. Under RFR 
2, the Parent Company, in its annual accounts for the legal entity, shall apply all IFRS stand-
ards and statements adopted by the EU wherever this is possible within the framework of the 
 Swedish Annual Accounts Act and the Swedish Pension Obligations Vesting Act, and with due 
regard for the link between reporting and taxation. The recommendation states which excep-
tions shall be made from IFRS and which additional disclosures are required. 

DIFFERENCES BETWEEN THE GROUP’S AND  
THE PARENT COMPANY’S ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
The differences between the Group’s and the Parent Company’s accounting principles are pre-
sented below. The following accounting principles for the Parent Company have been applied 
consistently to all periods presented in the Parent Company’s financial reports. The principles 
remain unchanged from last year.

CLASSIFICATION AND FORMATS
The Income Statements and Balance Sheets comply with the formats mandated in the Swedish 
Annual Accounts Act. The Statement of changes in equity complies with the format used by the 
Group but must include the columns mandated in the Swedish Annual Accounts Act. The differ-
ences from the Group’s reports that apply to the Parent Company’s Income Statements and 
Balance Sheets primarily comprise equity.

PARTICIPATIONS IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
Participations in subsidiary companies are reported at the historic cost after deductions for any 
depreciation. The recoverable value is calculated when there is an indication of a decrease in the 
value of participations in subsidiary companies. If the recoverable value calculated is less than 
the reported value, depreciation is effected. Depreciation is reported in the items under “Profit/
loss on participations in Group companies”.

GROUP CONTRIBUTIONS
Group contributions are reported as appropriations.

NOTE 2  IMPORTANT ESTIMATES AND ASSESSMENTS

When the Board of Directors and company management prepare financial reports in accord-
ance with the accounting principles applied, certain estimates must be made that can affect the 
reported values of assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses. 

The estimates and assumptions are valued on an ongoing basis. Amendments to estimates 
are reported in the period in which the amendment is made if the amendment only affects this 
period, or in the period in which the amendment is made and future periods if the amendment 
affects both the current period and future periods. 

Uncertainties in estimates entail a significant risk that there may be a need for a substantial 
adjustment to the assets’ or liabilities’ value during the impending financial year.

Development expenses for research intended to generate new scientific know-how and 
where the research findings are applied to create a new product are recognised as an expense 
in the period in which they arise. The Group’s development project is a PHASE II/III project and 
the company management has, on the basis thereof, adjudged that no development costs have 
been or will be capitalised for the ongoing development project.

Input goods are recognised as expenses in conjunction with their purchase as they are not 
intended for sale or use in conjunction with the provision of services. The company management 
is of the opinion that input goods, such as in-house manufactured candidate drugs or input 
goods that are included in the ongoing development project shall be recognised as expenses 
on a rolling basis.

Fiscal loss carry forwards in the Group totalled SEK 385,501 k (266,716) on 31 December 2018. 
The company management are of the opinion that no deferred tax receivable shall be reported 
until such time as the Group reports profits and in absence of any fiscal temporary differences 
that can offset the loss carry forward.

Note 1, cont.
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NOTE 3  OPERATING SEGMENTS

The Group’s operations are organised so that the management only monitors operations at 
Group level. All operations are conducted by the Parent Company. The Group’s operations are 
conducted in Sweden and no sales revenues have, as yet, been generated.

NOTE 4    EMPLOYEES, PERSONNEL COSTS,  
AND BENEFITS FOR SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Cost of remuneration to employees
SEK k 2018 2017

GROUP
Salaries and benefits, etc. 12,513 7,943
Social security contributions 2,507 1,501
Pension costs 2,390 1,525
Total 17,410 10,969

SEK k 2018 2017

PARENT COMPANY
Salaries and benefits, etc. 12,513 7,943
Social security contributions 2,507 1,501
Pension costs 2,390 1,525
Total 17,410 10,969

Average number of  
employees
SEK k 2018 of whom, men 2017 of whom, men

PARENT COMPANY
Sweden 10 45% 9 38%
Parent Company, total 10 45% 9 38%
Group, total 10 45% 9 38%

Gender breakdown of Group Management
SEK k

2018 
of whom,-

women

2017 
of whom, 

women

PARENT COMPANY
Board of Directors 14% -
Other senior management 25% 40%

GROUP
Boards of Directors 14% -
Other senior management 25% 40%

Salaries, other benefits, and social security contributions
SEK k 2018 2017

PARENT COMPANY
Salaries and benefits 12,513 7,943
Social security contributions 4,897 3,026
(of which, pension cost) (2,390) (1,525)

Salaries and other benefits broken down by senior executives and other employees,  
and social security contributions in the Parent Company

SEK k

2018
Senior 

management  
(4 persons)

Other  
employees

2017 
Senior 

management 
(4 persons)

Other  
employees

PARENT COMPANY
Salaries and other benefits 7,907 4,606 4,894 3,049
(of which, bonuses etc.) -(1,059) -(502) -(916) -(308)
Total, Parent Company 7,907 4,606 4,894 3,049
(of which, bonuses etc.) -(1,059) -(502) -(916) -(308)

The term, senior executives, refers to the CEO, CMO, CCO and CFO.

CEO
Salary payments totalling SEK 2,289 k (2,238), including holiday pay, have been disbursed to the 
CEO, Anders Rabbe, during the 2018 financial year. A company car benefit of SEK 94 k (143) has 
been paid. Pension premiums have been paid totalling 25% of the salary. The company and the 
CEO have mutual notice periods of 6 months. Severance pay comprising 12 months’ salary shall be 
paid if notice of termination is given by the company (other than in conjunction with gross breach 
of contract). The pensionable age is 65. The employment is regulated by a CEO agreement. 

| OMRÅDESBESKRIVNING| NOTES

56 ISOFOL | Annual Report 2018



OTHER SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Salaries and benefits totalling SEK 5,618 k (2,492), including holiday pay, have been disbursed 
to other senior executives in the 2018 financial year. Benefits have been disbursed in the sum 
of SEK 511 k, of which the redemption of option programmes comprised SEK 353 k (0) and car 
benefits, SEK 153 k (20). Premiums for the customary occupational pensions have been paid. The 
pensionable age is 65. The company and other senior executives have mutual notice  periods 
of 3-6 months. No severance pay is payable. There were no loans to senior executives on  
31 December 2018.

Salaries and other benefits, pension costs and pension 
undertakings for the CEO and Board of Directors.
SEK k

2018 
Senior 

management

2017 
Senior

management

GROUP
Salaries and other benefits 5,370 7,606
(of which, bonuses etc.) -(456) -(702)
Pension costs 329 408
Pension undertakings (-) (-)

Salaries and other benefits for the 
Board of Directors. 
Parent Company, 2018

SEK k

Basic 
salary, 

Directors’ 
fees

Variable 
remu-

neration
Other  

benefits
Pension 

cost Total
Chairman of the Board, (Jan-Oct)
Jan-Eric Österlund, via Gilera
Remuneration from the Parent Company 267 729 996
Chairman of the Board, (Oct-Dec) and 
Member of the Board, (Jan-Sep) Ulf Jun-
gnelius, privately and via Healthcom
Remuneration from the Parent Company 217 469 686
Member of the Board, Lars Lind,  
via Lars Lind AB 29 29
Member of the Board, Bengt  Gustavsson, 
privately and via Biofol
Remuneration from the Parent Company 167 554 721
Member of the Board, Jonas  Pedersén, 
privately and via Crebena
Remuneration from the Parent Company 167 – 167
Member of the Board, Anders Vedin, 
privately and via Vedicus
Remuneration from the Parent Company 50 – 50

Salaries and other benefits for the 
Board of Directors. 
Parent Company, 2018

SEK k

Basic 
salary, 

Directors’ 
fees

Variable 
remu-

neration
Other  

benefits
Pension 

cost Total

Member of the Board, Paula Boultbee, 
privately and via PTB
Remuneration from the Parent Company 50 – 50
Member of the Board, Alain  Herrera, 
privately and via AD Bio
Remuneration from the Parent Company 133 99 232
Member of the Board, Magnus Björsne, 
privately
Remuneration from the Parent Company 50 – 50
CEO (Anders Rabbe)
Remuneration from the Parent Company 1,833 456 100 329 2,718
Remuneration from the Parent Company 2,963 2,307 100 329 5,699

Lars Lind and Jan-Eric Österlund have resigned their seats on the Board in 2018.

Salaries and other benefits for the 
Board of Directors. 
Parent Company, 2018

SEK k

Basic 
salary, 

Directors’ 
fees

Variable 
remu-

neration
Other  

benefits
Pension 

cost Total
Chairman of the Board, 
Jan-Eric Österlund, via Gilera
Remuneration from the Parent Company 200 1,534 1,734
Member of the Board, Anders Vedin, via 
Vedicus
Remuneration from the Parent Company 15 949 964
Member of the Board, Lars Lind, 
via General Venture
Remuneration from the Parent Company 100 307 407
Member of the Board, 
Tommy Marklund, via WEPS
Remuneration from the Parent Company 10 – 10
Member of the Board, Bengt  Gustavsson, 
privately and via Biofol
Remuneration from the Parent Company 100 735 835
Member of the Board, Jonas Pedersén, 
via Crebena
Remuneration from the Parent Company 100 – 100

Note 4, cont.
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Salaries and other benefits for the 
Board of Directors. 
Parent Company, 2018

SEK k

Basic 
salary, 

Directors’ 
fees

Variable 
remu-

neration
Other  

benefits
Pension 

cost Total

Member of the Board, Ulf Jungnelius, 
privately and via Healthcom
Remuneration from the Parent Company 100 1,075 1,175
CEO Anders Rabbe
Remuneration from the Parent Company 1,536 702 143 408 2,789
Remuneration from the Parent Company 2,161 5,302 143 408 8,014

Isofol Medical AB had an outstanding incentive programme based on stock and employee 
 options, for the Board of Directors and employees, which expired in January 2018. 

NOTE 5  AUDITORS’ FEES

SEK k 2018 2017

GROUP
KPMG
Audit engagement 327 499
Other statutory assignments
Tax assignments
Other assignments 159 464

SEK k 2018 2017

PARENT COMPANY
KPMG
Audit engagement 327 499
Other statutory assignments
Tax assignments
Other assignments 159 464

The term, audit engagements, refers to the statutory audit of the annual and consolidated 
 accounts and bookkeeping, and of the administration by the Board of Directors and the CEO, 
together with audits and other reviews conducted in accordance with agreements or contracts.

This includes other duties incumbent upon the company’s auditor and the provision of advice 
or other assistance occasioned by observations in conjunction with such reviews or the conduct 
of other such duties.

Forts. not 4

NOTE 6   FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS PER CATEGORY

Financial assets and financial liabilities valued 
at amortised cost.
SEK k 2018 2017

GROUP
Accounts receivable – 17
Prepaid costs and accrued income 1,487 641
Cash and cash equivalents 62,875 31,773
Total 64,362 32,431

SEK k 2018 2017

PARENT COMPANY
Accounts receivable – 17
Prepaid costs and accrued income 1,487 641
Cash and bank 62,828 31,725
Total 64,315 32,383

SEK k 2018 2017

GROUP
Accounts payable 12,353 9,327
Accrued costs 9,019 7,139
Total 21,372 16,466

SEK k 2018 2017

PARENT COMPANY
Accounts payable 12,353 9,327
Accrued costs 9,019 7,139
Total 21,372 16,466

All of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities in the Balance Sheet are valued at 
 amortised cost. The book value is an approximation of the fair value, and these items are 
 accordingly not broken down into levels in accordance with the valuation hierarchy.
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Maturity structure of financial liabilities
SEK k 2018 2017

Financial liabilities on 31 December 2018 
fall due for payment:

Within 
3 months 

After 
more than 

3 months
Within 

3 months

After 
more than 

3 months

GROUP
Accounts payable 12,353 9,327
Accrued costs 9,019 7,139
Total 21,372 16,466

SEK k 2018 2017

PARENT COMPANY
Accounts payable 12,353 9,327
Accrued costs 9,019 7,139
Other liabilities 1 -
Total 21,373 16,466

Classification and fair value
2018 2017

Compulso-
rily valued 

at fair 
value via 

the Income 
Statement

Financial 
assets 

valued at 
amortised 

cost

Financial 
assets and 

liabilities 
valued at 
fair value 

via the 
Income 

Statement

Financial 
assets 

valued at 
amortised 

cost

Group
SEK k

FINANCIAL ASSETS VALUED AT FAIR 
VALUE
Currency futures 4,438 - - -
Cash and cash equivalents, short-
term fixed income fund 210,022 325,558

FINANCIAL ASSETS NOT REPORTED 
AT FAIR VALUE
Accounts receivable - - - 17
Prepaid costs 
and accrued income - 1,487 - 641
Cash and cash equivalents - 62,875 - 31,773

Classification and fair value, cont.
2018 2017

Compulso-
rily valued 

at fair 
value via 

the Income 
Statement

Financial 
assets 

valued at 
amortised 

cost

Financial 
assets and 

liabilities 
valued at 
fair value 

via the 
Income 

Statement

Financial 
assets 

valued at 
amortised 

cost

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES VALUED AT 
FAIR VALUE
Currency futures - - - -
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES NOT 
 REPORTED AT FAIR VALUE
Accounts payable - 12,353 - 9,327
Accrued costs - 9,019 - 7,139

Parent Company
SEK k

FINANCIAL ASSETS VALUED  
AT FAIR VALUE
Currency futures 4,438 - - -
Cash and Bank, short-term fixed 
income fund 210,022 325,558

FINANCIAL ASSETS NOT REPORTED 
AT FAIR VALUE
Cash and Bank - - - 17
Prepaid costs 
and accrued income - 1,487 - 641
Cash and Bank - 62,828 - 31,773

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES VALUED  
AT FAIR VALUE
Currency futures - - - -

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES NOT 
 REPORTED AT FAIR VALUE
Accounts payable - 12,353 - 9,327
Accrued costs - 9,019 - 7,139
Other liabilities - 1 - -

Note 6, cont.
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NOTE 7  TAXES

Reported in the Income Statement and Statement of Other 
comprehensive income/Income  Statement
Group
SEK k 2018 2017

CURRENT TAX EXPENSE (-)/TAX RECEIVABLE (+)
Tax expense/tax receivable for the year – –

DEFERRED TAX EXPENSE (-)/TAX RECEIVABLE (+)
Deferred tax in respect of temporary differences – –
Total reported tax expense for the Group – –

Parent Company
SEK k 2018 2017

CURRENT TAX EXPENSE (-)/TAX RECEIVABLE (+)
Tax expense for the year – –

DEFERRED TAX EXPENSE (-)/TAX RECEIVABLE (+)
Deferred tax in respect of temporary differences – –
Total reported tax expense for the Parent Company – –

Reconciliation of effective tax 
Group
SEK k 2018 2017

Loss before tax -83,125 -72,035
Tax at current tax rate for 
the Parent Company 22.0% 18,288 22.0% 15,848
Non-deductible expenses 0.4% 352 0.3% 233
Non-taxable revenues -1.2% -976 0.3% 233
Increase in loss carry for-
ward without corresponding 
capitalisation of deferred tax -21.2% -17,663 -22.3% -16,081
Reported effective tax 0.0% - 0.0% -

Reconciliation of effective tax
Parent Company
SEK k 2018 2017

Loss before tax -83,507 -72,035
Tax at current tax rate for 
the Parent Company 22.0% 18,371 22.0% 15,848
Non-deductible expenses 0.4% 352 0.3% 233
Non-taxable revenues -1.2% -976 0.3% 233
Increase in loss carry for-
ward without corresponding 
capitalisation of deferred tax -21.3% -17,747 -22.3% -16,081
Reported effective tax 0.0% - 0.0% -

Accumulated loss carry forwards totalled SEK 385,501 k (266,716) on 31 December 2018.  
No  deferred tax receivable has been reported.

NOTE 8  INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

Intangible assets acquired  
Patents

SEK k Group Parent Company
ACQUISITION COST
Opening balance, 1 Jan 2018 994 994
Closing balance, 31 Dec 2018 994 994

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
Opening balance, 1 Jan 2018 -702 -702
Depreciation for the year -100 -100
Closing balance, 31 Dec 2018 -802 -802
Closing balance, 31 Dec 2018 193 193

Intangible assets acquired  
Patents

SEK k Group Parent Company
ACQUISITION COST
Opening balance, 1 Jan 2017 994 994
Closing balance, 31 Dec 2017 994 994

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
Opening balance, 1 Jan 2017 -602 -602
Depreciation for the year -100 -100
Closing balance, 31 Dec 2017 -702 -702
Closing balance, 31 Dec 2017 292 292

Note 7, cont.
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NOTE 9  TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

Equipment, tools,  
fixtures & fittings

SEK k Group
Parent  

Company

ACQUISITION COST
Opening balance, 1 Jan 2018 328 328
Closing balance, 31 Dec 2018 328 328

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
Opening balance, 1 Jan 2018 -139 -139
Depreciation for the year -57 -57
Closing balance, 31 Dec 2018 -196 -196
Closing balance, 31 Dec 2018 132 132

Equipment, tools,  
fixtures & fittings

SEK k Group
Parent  

Company

ACQUISITION COST
Opening balance, 1 Jan 2017 253 253
New acquisitions 75 75
Closing balance, 31 Dec 2017 328 328

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
Opening balance, 1 Jan 2017 -82 -82
Depreciation for the year -57 -57
Closing balance, 31 Dec 2017 -139 -139
Closing balance, 31 Dec 2017 189 189

NOTE 10  OTHER RECEIVABLES

SEK k 31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2017

GROUP
Other receivables 2,213 2,806
Supplier advances 3,425 -
Derivatives 4,438 -
Total 10,076 2,806

SEK k 31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2017

PARENT COMPANY
Other receivables 2,211 2,805
Group company receivables - 375
Supplier advances 3,425 -
Derivatives 4,438 -
Total 10,074 3,180

NOTE 11  PREPAID EXPENSES AND ACCRUED INCOME

SEK k 31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2017

GROUP
Rent 316 304
Clinical studies 414 -
Other 757 337
Total 1,487 641

SEK k 31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2017

PARENT COMPANY
Rent 316 304
Clinical studies 414 -
Other 757 337
Total 1,487 641

NOTE 12  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Group
SEK k 31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2017

The following subsidiary components are included in cash and 
cash equivalents:
Cash and bank balances 62,789 31,773
Short-term investments, equivalent to cash and cash  equivalents 210,109 325,558
Total in accordance with the Statement of Financial Position 272,897 357,331
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Parent Company 
SEK k 31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2017

The following subsidiary components are included in cash and 
cash equivalents:
Cash and bank balances 62,741 31,725
Short-term investments, equivalent to cash and cash equivalents 210,109 325,558
Total in accordance with the Statement of Financial Position 272,850 357,283

Short-term investments include cash and cash equivalents corresponding to SEK 69 m in both 
the Parent Company and the Group and which are pledged as security for currency futures that 
mature in June 2019.

NOTE 13  EQUITY

Share types
Number of shares 2018 2017

ORDINARY SHARES
Issued on 1 January 31,604,500 32,187
New share issue – 683,000
Split 500:1 – 16,061,313
New share issue in conjunction with IPO, April 2017 – 14,828,000
New share issue, redemption of Warrants 450,302 –
Issued on 31 December - paid 32,054,802 31,604,500

On 31 December 2018, the registered equity comprised 32,054,802 ordinary shares (31,604,500), 
with a nominal value of SEK 0.0306 (0.0306).

Holders of ordinary shares are entitled to dividends which are determined over time and the 
share holding grants entitlement to vote at General Meetings, with each share carrying one vote. 
All shares grant the same entitlement to the company’s remaining net assets.

Non-restricted equity in the Parent Company comprises the amount available for disburse-
ment to the shareholders in the form of dividends. For Isofol, the non-restricted equity in the 
Parent Company comprises the profit/loss brought forward and the share premium reserve. The 
share premium reserve comprises amounts received in conjunction with new share issues, over 
and above the nominal value of the shares issued, less any issue expenses. 

NOTE 14  ALLOCATION OF PROFITS

PROPOSED APPROPRIATION OF THE COMPANY’S PROFITS
The Board proposes that the non-restricted equity of SEK 264,026,804 be appropriated as  follows:

Carried forward 264,026,804
Total 264,026,804

NOTE 15  OTHER LIABILITIES

Group 
SEK k 31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2017

Personnel-related liabilities 1,297 912
Other current liabilities – –
Total other current liabilities 1,297 912

Parent Company
SEK k 31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2017

Personnel-related liabilities 1,297 912
Other current liabilities 1 –
Total other current liabilities 1,298 912

NOTE 16  ACCRUED EXPENSES AND PREPAID INCOME

SEK k 31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2017

GROUP
Holiday pay 875 644
Accrued salaries 2,053 1,267
Clinical studies 5,000 3,325
Other 1,967 2,768
Total 9,894 8,004

SEK k 31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2017

PARENT COMPANY
Holiday pay 875 644
Accrued salaries 2,053 1,267
Clinical studies 5,000 3,325
Other 1,967 2,762
Total 9,894 7,998

Note 12, cont.
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NOTE 17  FINANCIAL RISKS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group is, by virtue of its operations, exposed to various different kinds of financial risks. 
The term, financial risks, refers to fluctuations in the Group’s profit/loss and cash flow due to 
changes in exchange rates, interest rates, refinancing and credit risks. The Group’s overall risk 
management work focuses on securing the Group’s ability to carry out its research and develop-
ment work and associated clinical studies, and the Group consequently endeavours to minimise 
potentially unfavourable effects on the Group’s financial results and position.

The Group’s financial transactions and risks are managed by the Parent Company through 
the CEO and CFO. The Board draws up guidelines and principles, both for the overall risk manage-
ment work and for specific areas such as credit risks, currency risks, interest risks, refinancing risks, 
and the use of derivatives and investment of surplus liquidity.

REFINANCING RISK
The term, refinancing risk, refers to the risk of cash and cash equivalents being unavailable and of 
financing being only either partially available or completely unavailable, or alternatively, only being 
available at a higher cost. The Group’s operations are currently fully financed through equity and 
the Group is consequently not exposed to any risks in relation to external loan financing. The prima-
ry risks, therefore, relate to the risk of being unable to obtain additional contributions from and in-
vestments by the shareholders, if required. The Group consequently carries out continuous liquidity 
planning in order to ensure that funds are available for planned studies, over and above ongoing 
general administrative expenses. The Group has, to date, obtained its financing through issues of 
equity instruments and this has also been the primary source of financing for planned studies.

CURRENCY RISK
Currency risk is the risk of fluctuations in the value of a financial instrument due to changes in 
exchange rates. This risk is related to changes in anticipated and contracted payment flows (trans-
action exposure), revaluation of liabilities in foreign currencies (translation exposure), and financial 
exposure in the form of exchange rate risks in the payment flows for investments.

The Group is affected by variations in exchange rates and the Group’s objective is to minimise 
the effect of these changes wherever this is practically and cost-effectively possible. Changes 
in EUR and USD exchange rates have the biggest effect. The effect has, to date, been limited, 
but the majority of the costs for impending clinical studies will be incurred in these currencies.

CREDIT RISKS
Credit risk is the risk that the Group’s counterparty in a financial instrument is unable to fulfil 
their obligation and thereby cause the Group to suffer a financial loss. The Group’s exposure to 
credit risk is limited.

ASSET MANAGEMENT
Isofol has reported a negative operating result since its operations began, and the cash flow 
is expected, by and large, to continue to be negative until Isofol has succeeded in generating 

revenues from any product launched, or in selling or out-licensing rights. The Group may also 
continue to require substantial amounts of capital for research and development work in order 
to carry out preclinical and clinical studies with Arfolitixorin. The Group currently has a substan-
tial surplus liquidity and this will be used to carry out the planned clinical studies. The Group has 
elected to invest the surplus liquidity in a short-term fixed income investment with a very short 
term and low duration in order to ensure access to cash and cash equivalents.

FINANCIAL POLICY
Isofol has a Group policy for its financial operations, the financial policy, which defines financial 
risks and mandates the ways in which the company manages these risks.

NOTE 18  OPERATIONAL LEASING

Leasing agreements where the company is the lessee

Non-reversible leasing payments total:
The Group rents office premises in Gothenburg. The agreement is classified as an operational 
leasing agreement. Rental charges are CPI-linked and vary in line with the market as a whole. 
Variable charges are invoiced 1:1 and an annual reconciliation is performed. There are no restric-
tions as a result of leasing agreements entered into. If the cost of renovation or extension work 
has been defrayed by the Group, an individual review is conducted of whether the costs are 
balance approved or whether they shall be recognised in their entirety as an expense. The Group 
has also signed leasing agreements for company cars and certain items of office equipment.

Agreed future minimum leasing charges in respect of 
non-cancellable contracts break down as follows: 
SEK k 2018 2017

GROUP
Within one year 1,385 1,463
Between one and five years 3,847 3,266
More than five years - -
Total 5,232 4,729

SEK k 2018 2017

PARENT COMPANY
Within one year 1,385 1,463
Between one and five years 3,847 3,266
More than five years - -
Total 5,232 4,729
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Operational leasing agreement charges carried as expenses total:
SEK k 2018 2017

GROUP
Minimum leasing charges - -
Variable charges 1,428 1,403
Total leasing costs 1,428 1,403

Leasing revenues from sublet objects total: – 223

SEK k 2018 2017

PARENT COMPANY
Minimum leasing charges - -
Variable charges 1,428 1,403
Total leasing costs 1,428 1,403

Leasing revenues from sublet objects total: – 223

NOTE 19  PLEDGED ASSETS, CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT ASSETS

Group
SEK k 31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2017

PLEDGED ASSETS
In the form of pledged assets for the Group’s own liabilities and 
provisions
Blocked bank deposits 50 50
Total pledged assets 50 50

Contingent liabilities none none

Parent Company
SEK k 31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2017

PLEDGED ASSETS
In the form of pledged assets for the Parent Company’s own 
liabilities and provisions
Blocked bank deposits 50 50
Total pledged assets 50 50

Contingent liabilities none none

Pledged assets also refer to assets in the form of cash and cash equivalents for derivative instruments and 
currency futures. The company has pledged SEK 69,000 k (-) in cash and cash equivalents as security.

NOTE 20  RELATED PARTIES

Related party transactions
The Parent Company has a related party relationship with its subsidiary company, Isofol Medical 
Incentive AB. Transactions with related parties are priced on market terms. 

Key persons within senior positions have received the following remuneration: 

SEK k 2018 2017

GROUP
Remuneration to senior executives 2,718 2,789
Directors’ fees 1,1,30 625
The Board’s consultancy costs 1,851 4,600
SEK k 2018 2017

PARENT COMPANY
Remuneration to senior executives 2,718 2,789
Directors’ fees 1,130 625
The Board’s consultancy costs 1,851 4,600

For individual details of remuneration paid to key persons in senior positions, see Note 4.

Transactions with related parties are on market terms. Isofol has consultancy agreements with 
companies individually owned by the Board Members, namely Bengt Gustavsson, Alain Herrera, 
and Jarl Ulf Jungnelius, and the former Chairman of the Board, Jan-Eric Österlund, in respect 
of engagements over and above the customary work of the Directors. The consultancy agree-
ments mandate that staffing for the engagements shall be provided by Bengt Gustavsson, Alain 
Herrera, Jarl Ulf Jungnelius, and Jan-Eric Österlund. 

The consultancy agreements with Bengt Gustavsson’s company and Jan-Eric Österlund’s 
company were terminated for renegotiation in December 2017. The terminated agreement with 
Bengt Gustavsson’s company expired in April 2018 and a new agreement has been signed. Bengt 
Gustavsson’s company received SEK 480,000 in remuneration and SEK 74,074 in reimbursement 
of expenses during the financial year.

The terminated consultancy agreement with Jan-Eric Österlund’s company expired in April 
2018 and no new agreement has been signed. Jan-Eric Österlund’s company received SEK 
333,333 in remuneration and SEK 396,064 in reimbursement of expenses during the financial year. 

The consultancy agreement with Ulf Jungnelius’ company will continue until further notice 
with a notice period of one month and a payment by Isofol for the engagement of EUR 2,500 
per working day. Ulf Jungnelius has received SEK 384,617 in remuneration and SEK 84,251 in 
 reimbursement of expenses during the financial year.

The consultancy agreement with Alain Herrera’s company will continue until further notice 
with a notice period of one month and a payment by Isofol for the engagement of EUR 2,500 per 
working day. Alain Herrera has, since his election to the Board of Directors, received SEK 74,242 
in remuneration and SEK 24,930 in reimbursement of expenses during the financial year.

Note 18, cont.
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NOTE 21  GROUP COMPANIES

Specification of the Parent Company’s direct holdings of participations  
in subsidiary companies 

Subsidiary company/  
Company registration 
number/ Registered office

Reported value
Number of 

participations
Participation 

as a % 31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2017

Isofol Medical (Incentive) AB, 
556894-0133/Gothenburg 500 100 50 50

NOTE 22  CASH FLOW STATEMENT SPECIFICATION

Cash and cash equivalents – Group
SEK k 31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2017

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS COMPRISE THE FOLLOWING 
SUB-COMPONENTS:
Cash and bank deposits 62,789 31,773
Short-term investments, equating to cash and cash equivalents 210,109 325,558
Total as per Balance Sheet 272,897 357,331

Cash and cash equivalents – Parent Company
SEK k 31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2017

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS COMPRISE THE FOLLOWING 
SUB-COMPONENTS:
Cash and bank deposits 62,741 31,725
Short-term investments, equating to cash and cash equivalents 210,109 325,558
Total as per Balance Sheet 272,850 357,283

Interest paid and dividends received
SEK k 2018 2017

GROUP
Interest received 254 558
Interest paid -24 -6

PARENT COMPANY
Interest received 254 558
Interest paid -24 -6

Adjustment for items not included in the cash flow
SEK k 2018 2017

GROUP
Depreciation 157 157
Foreign exchange gain -2,924 -
Profit on financial instruments -,4,438 -
Long-term lending -3,767
Other -3 -
Total -10,975 157

SEK k 2018 2017

PARENT COMPANY
Depreciation 157 157
Foreign exchange gain -2,924 -
Profit on financial instruments -4,438 -
Long-term lending -3,767
Group contributions made 376 -
Other 4 -
Total -10,592 157

The Adjustment for items not included in the cash flow item includes other long-term receivables.

NOTE 23  EVENTS AFTER THE CLOSING DAY

The incentive programme approved at the Extraordinary General Meeting held on 17 Decem-
ber 2018 was open to all company employees and future key persons. The 2018 stock option 
programme – series 2018/2022 and series 2018/2023 – comprises a maximum of 1,461,698 stock 
 options and the programme is structured such that the options are transferred at market value 
using a Black & Scholes calculation performed by Grant Thornton Sweden AB. All employees 
took part and subscribed for a total of 1,260,136 options yielding SEK 1,482,674 in option premiums. 
Senior executives (5 such) paid approximately SEK 207,000 per person for the stock options.

Every option grants, at the end of the respective programme, the right to subscribe for one 
new share in Isofol at a fixed strike price. The strike price for series 18/22 is SEK 51.3 per share 
(subscription period from 15 May to 15 July 2022), while for series 18/23, the strike price is SEK 
76.9 per share (subscription period from 15 May to 15 July 2023).

The company’s share capital will, in conjunction with full exercise of the stock options, in-
crease by approximately SEK 44,700, corresponding to a dilution effect of around 4.5% of the 
total number of shares and votes.

| OMRÅDESBESKRIVNING| NOTES

65 ISOFOL | Annual Report 2018



NOTE 24  EARNINGS PER SHARE

When calculating the earnings per share after dilution, the weighted average number of out-
standing ordinary shares are adjusted for the dilution effect of all potential ordinary shares. 
These potential ordinary shares are attributable to the options allocated to the Board of Direc-
tors and the CEO, and the employees who have vested employee options. See Notes 4 and 13. If 
the profit/loss for the year is negative, the options are not regarded as having a diluting effect. 
For details of changes in the number of outstanding shares, see Note 13 Equity. The weighted 
average number of shares during the period totalled 32,001,753 (27,741,810).

Definitions

Equity/assets ratio Equity divided by the Balance 
Sheet total at the period end.

The equity/assets ratio shows the 
percentage of the Balance Sheet 
total that comprises equity and 
has been included to enable in-
vestors to gain an overview of the 
Company’s capital structure.

Earnings per share The profit/loss for the period 
divided by the weighted average 
number of shares during the period, 
both basic and diluted.

This key ratio has been included 
to enable investors to gain an 
overview of the earnings per share 
for the respective periods.

NOTE 25  EFFECT OF THE IMPLEMENTATION OF IFRS 16

Isofol has limited operations and hence a limited number of agreements and leasing agreements. 
Isofol has, as part of its implementation of the new IFRS 16 standard, inventoried all of the Group’s 
agreements and identified which contracts fall within the framework of the definition of a leasing 
contract in accordance with the IFRS 16 standard. 6 agreements were identified in conjunction with 
the inventory, 5 of which will be entered in the Balance Sheet, together with one that was regarded 
as a short-term lease with a term of less than 12 months. The implicit interest rate is initially applied 
when choosing the discount rate. No such rate was available for the rental contract, and Isofol has 
accordingly carried out an overall assessment to determine which interest corresponds to the mar-
ginal loan rate for the Group and applied that.

The transition to IFRS 16 will be conducted using the cumulative method and any effect  
of IFRS 16 will be reported under equity at the beginning of the first implementation year, i.e.  
1 January 2019. The standard will affect the Group’s Balance Sheet and it is estimated that the 
opening asset and liabilities balances on 1 January 2019 will increase by SEK 4,800 k. The tran-
sition to IFRS 16 will initially have a negative effect on the profit after financial items and the 
earnings per share, in that the usufruct is depreciated linearly and the interest component of the 
leasing payments decreases over time.

NOTE 26  FINANCIAL ITEMS

SEK k 2018 2017

GROUP
Financial income
Foreign exchange gain 2,924 -
Profit on financial instruments 4,438 558
Other interest income – -
Total 7,362 558
Financial expenses
Other interest expenses -638 -6
Total -638 -6

SEK k 2018 2017

PARENT COMPANY
Financial income
Foreign exchange gain 2,924 -
Profit on financial instruments 4,438 558
Other interest income – -
Total 7,362 558
Financial expenses
Other interest expenses -638 -6
Total -638 -6

NOTE 27  LONG-TERM RECEIVABLES

As part of the 007 study, Isofol has signed an agreement with a CRO in the USA who will man-
age and coordinate the 007 study there. Under the terms of the agreement, Isofol has made 
an advance payment in 2018 of 15% of the order total, corresponding to USD 854 k (7,534). The 
receivable will be offset over the course of the impending periods, down to 7.5% of the order sum. 
Under the terms of the agreement, the remaining 7.5% will be settled in 2021, and is consequently 
classified as a financial fixed asset corresponding to SEK 3,767 k. The receivable is denominated 
in USD. Isofol’s reporting and functional currency is SEK.  

NOTE 28  INFORMATION ON THE PARENT COMPANY

Isofol Medical AB (publ.) is a Swedish-registered limited company whose registered offices are 
in Gothenburg. The Parent Company’s shares are listed on the NASDAQ First North Premier 
exchange, Stockholm. The address of the head office is Arvid Wallgrens Backe 20, 413 46 Goth-
enburg, Sweden. The consolidated accounts for 2018 comprise the Parent Company and its sub-
sidiary company, together referred to as the Group.
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DECLARATION BY THE BOARD

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director hereby certify that the annual accounts 
have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in Sweden 
and that the consolidated accounts have been prepared in accordance with the international 
accounting standards referred to in the European Parliament and Council regulation (EC) No. 
1606/2002 of 19 July 2002 regarding the application of international accounting standards. The 
annual accounts and the consolidated accounts provide a true and fair view of the Parent Com-
pany’s and the Group’s financial position and financial performance. The Directors’ Report for 
the Parent Company and the Group provides a true and fair view of the Parent Company’s and 

Ulf Jungnelius
Chairman of the Board

Bengt Gustavsson
Member of the Board

Anders Vedin
Member of the Board 

Magnus Björsne
Member of the Board

Jonas Pedersén
Member of the Board

Paula Boultbee
Member of the Board

Alain Herrera
Member of the Board

Anders Rabbe
CEO

Our audit report was submitted

Gothenburg, 11 April 2019

KPMG AB

Jan Malm
Authorised Public Accountant

Group’s operations, financial position, and financial performance, and describes material risks 
and uncertainties faced by the Parent Company and the companies that make up the Group.

The annual accounts and the consolidated accounts have, as indicated above, been ap-
proved for publication by the Board of Directors and the CEO on 11 April 2019. The Consolidated 
Income Statements and Statement of financial position, together with the Parent Company’s 
Income Statement and Balance Sheet, will be submitted for adoption by the Annual General 
Meeting held on 23 May 2019.

Gothenburg, 11 April 2019
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AUDIT REPORT

To the Annual General Meeting of Isofol  
 Medical AB (publ.), company registration num-
ber 556759-8064

REPORT ON THE ANNUAL ACCOUNTS AND  
CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS
Opinions
We have audited the annual accounts and con-
solidated accounts of Isofol Medical AB (publ.) 
for the 2018 financial year with the  exception 
of the Corporate Governance  Report on pages 
34-43.

In our opinion, the annual accounts have been 
prepared in accordance with the Annual 
 Accounts Act and present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Parent 
Company on 31 December 2018 and its finan-
cial performance and cash flow for the year 
then ended in accordance with the Annual 
 Accounts Act. The consolidated accounts have 
been prepared in accordance with the Annual 
Accounts Act and present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Group on 
31 December 2018 and its financial perfor-
mance and cash flows for the year then ended 
in accordance with International Financial Re-
porting Standards (IFRS), as adopted by the 
EU, and the Annual Accounts Act. Our opinions 
do not include the Corporate  Governance 
 Report on pages 34-43. The statutory adminis-
tration report is consistent with the other parts 
of the annual accounts and consolidated ac-
counts. 

We therefore recommend that the general 
meeting of shareholders adopt the Income 
Statement and Balance Sheet for the Parent 
Company and the Statement of Comprehen-
sive Income and Balance Sheet for the Group.

Basis for opinions
We conducted the audit in accordance with In-

ternational Standards on Auditing (ISA and  
generally accepted auditing standards in 
 Sweden. Our responsibilities under those stand-
ards are further described in the  Auditor’s 
 Responsibilities section. We are independent  
of the Parent Company and the Group in ac-
cordance with professional  ethics for account-
ants in Sweden and have other wise fulfilled our 
ethical responsibilities in  accordance with these 
requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to pro-
vide a basis for our opinions.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors  
and the Managing Director
The Board of Directors and the Managing 
Director are responsible for the prepara-
tion of the annual accounts and consolidat-
ed  accounts and for ensuring that they give  
a fair presentation in accordance with the An-
nual Accounts Act and, concerning the consol-
idated accounts, in accordance with IFRS as 
adopted by the EU. The Board of  Directors and 
the Managing Director are also responsible 
for such internal control as they determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation of annual 
accounts and consolidated accounts that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error.

In preparing the annual accounts and con-
solidated accounts, the Board of Directors and 
the Managing Director are responsible for the 
assessment of the Company’s and the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. They 
disclose, as applicable, matters related to the 
going concern and use of the going concern 
basis of accounting. The going concern basis of 
accounting is, however, not applied if the Board 
of Directors and the Managing Director intend 
to liquidate the Company, cease operations, or 
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The duties of the Board of Directors’ 
 audit committee shall, without affecting the 
 responsibilities and duties of the Board of 
 Directors in general, include monitoring of the 
company’s financial reporting.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable ass-
urance about whether the annual accounts 
and consolidated accounts as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that  includes our opinions. Reasonable assu-
rance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accor-
dance with ISA and generally accepted audi-
ting standards in Sweden will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Missta-
tements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered  material if, individually or in the ag-
gregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users 
made on the basis of these annual accounts 
and consolidated accounts.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISA, 
we exercise professional judgement and main-
tain professional scepticism throughout the 
 audit. We also: 
–  identify and assess the risks of material mis-

statement of the annual accounts and con-
solidated accounts, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, amongst others, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinions. The risk of not detecting a  material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the over-
ride of internal control;

– obtain an understanding of the company’s 

internal control relevant to our audit in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the company’s internal control revision;
– evaluate the appropriateness of accounting 
principles used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures 
made by the Board of Directors and the Man-
aging Director;
–  conclude on the appropriateness of the 

Board of Directors’ and the Managing 
 Director’s use of the going concern basis 
of accounting in preparing the annual ac-
counts and consolidated accounts. We also 
draw a conclusion, based on the audit evi-
dence obtained, as to whether any mate-
rial uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the company’s and the group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude 
that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
 required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the annu-
al accounts and consolidated accounts or, if 
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
our opinion about the annual accounts and 
consolidated accounts. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditor’s report. However, fu-
ture events or conditions may cause a com-
pany and a group to cease to continue as a 
going concern;

–  evaluate the overall presentation, structure 
and content of the annual accounts and con-
solidated accounts, including the disclosures, 
and whether the annual accounts and con-
solidated accounts represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation;

–  obtain sufficient and appropriate audit 
 evidence regarding the financial information 
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of the entities or business activities within the 
group to express an opinion on the consoli-
dated accounts. We are responsible for the 
direction, supervision and performance of 
the group audit. We remain solely respon-
sible for our opinions. We must inform the 
Board of Directors of, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit. 
We must also inform of significant audit find-
ings during our audit, including any signifi-
cant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identified.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND 
 REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
Opinions
In addition to our audit of the annual accounts 
and consolidated accounts, we have also au-
dited the administration of the Board of Direc-
tors and the Managing Director of Isofol Med-
ical AB (publ.) for the 2018 financial year and 
the proposed appropriations of the company’s 
profit or loss.

We recommend to the general meeting of 
shareholders that the loss be appropriated in 
accordance with the proposal in the statutory 
administration report and that the members 
of the Board of Directors and the Managing 
Director be discharged from liability for the 
financial year.

Basis for opinions
We conducted the audit in accordance with 
generally accepted auditing standards in 
 Sweden. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the  Auditor’s 
Responsibilities section. We are independent of 
the parent company and the group in accord-
ance with professional ethics for accountants 
in Sweden and have otherwise fulfilled our eth-
ical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinions.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors 
and the Managing Director
The Board of Directors is responsible for the 
proposal for appropriations of the company’s 
profit or loss. At the proposal of a dividend, 
this includes an assessment of whether the 
dividend is justifiable considering the require-
ments which the company’s and the group’s 
type of operations, size and risks place on the 
size of the parent company’s and the group’s 
equity, consolidation requirements, liquidity 
and position in general.

The Board of Directors is responsible for 
the company’s organization and the adminis-
tration of the company’s affairs. This includes 
among other things continuous assessment 
of the company’s and the group’s financial 
situation and ensuring that the company’s 
 organization is designed so that the account-
ing, management of assets and the compa-
ny’s financial affairs otherwise are controlled 
in a reassuring manner.

The Managing Director shall manage the 
ongoing administration according to the Board 
of Directors’ guidelines and instructions and 
among other matters take measures that are 
necessary to fulfil the company’s accounting in 
accordance with law and handle the manage-
ment of assets in a reassuring  manner.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our objective concerning the audit of the ad-
ministration, and thereby our opinion about 
discharge from liability, is to obtain audit evi-
dence to assess with a reasonable degree of 
assurance whether any member of the Board 
of Directors or the Managing Director in any 
material respect:

–  has undertaken any action or been guilty of 
any omission which can give rise to liability to 
the company; 

   or
–  in any other way has acted in contravention 

of the Companies Act, the Annual Accounts 
Act or the Articles of Association.

Our objective concerning the audit of the 
proposed appropriations of the company’s 
profit or loss, and thereby our opinion about 
this, is to assess with reasonable degree of as-
surance whether the proposal is in accordance 
with the Companies Act.

Reasonable assurance is a high level 
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
 audit conducted in accordance with general-
ly accepted auditing standards in Sweden will 
always detect actions or omissions that can 
give rise to liability to the company, or that the 
proposed appropriations of the company’s 
profit or loss are not in accordance with the 
Companies Act.

As part of an audit in accordance with 
generally accepted auditing standards in Swe-
den, we exercise professional judgement and 
maintain professional scepticism throughout 
the audit. The examination of the administra-
tion and the proposed appropriations of the 
company’s profit or loss is based primarily 
on the audit of the accounts. Additional audit 
procedures performed are based on our pro-
fessional judgement with starting point in risk 
and materiality. This means that we focus the 
examination on such actions, areas and rela-
tionships that are material for the operations 
and where deviations and violations would 
have particular importance for the company’s 
situation. We examine and test decisions un-
dertaken, support for decisions, actions taken 
and other circumstances that are relevant to 
our opinion concerning discharge from liabil-
ity. As a basis for our opinion on the Board 

of Directors’ proposed appropriations of the 
company’s profit or loss we examined whether 
the proposal is in accordance with the Com-
panies Act.

Auditor’s review of the Corporate 
 Governance Report
It is the Board of Directors who is responsible 
for the Corporate Governance Report on 
 pages 34-43 and for ensuring that it has been 
prepared in accordance with the Swedish 
 Annual Accounts Act.

Our examination has been conducted in 
accordance with FAR’s auditing standard RevU 
16 The auditor’s examination of the corporate 
governance statement. This means that our 
examination of the corporate governance 
statement is different and substantially less in 
scope than an audit conducted in accordance 
with International Standards on Auditing and 
generally accepted auditing standards in Swe-
den. We believe that the examination has pro-
vided us with sufficient basis for our opinions.

A corporate governance statement has 
been prepared. Disclosures in accordance 
with chapter 6 section 6 the second paragraph 
points 2–6 the Swedish Annual Accounts Act 
and chapter 7 section 31 the second paragraph 
the same law are consistent with the annual 
accounts and the consolidated accounts and 
are in accordance with the Swedish Annual 
 Accounts Act.

Gothenburg, 11 April 2019 
 
KPMG AB 

Jan Malm 
Authorised Public Accountant 
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GLOSSARY

The following explanations are intended to help the reader understand certain specific terms 
and expressions used in Isofol Medical’s financial reports.

EMA European Medicines Agency
FDA Food and Drug Administration, USA
HDMTX High-dose treatment with methotrexate
IND Investigational New Drug Application (for the FDA)
MTHF Methylenetetrahydrofolate
MTX Methotrexate
ORR Objective Response Rate
PFS Progression Free Survival

STUDY PHASES
Preclinical study
Research that takes place before a drug or treatment method is sufficiently documented to be 
studied in humans. Includes testing of substances on tissue samples and subsequent testing on 
laboratory animals. 

Clinical study/trial
Investigation of a new drug or treatment method on healthy volunteers or patients where the 
aim is to study the efficacy and safety of an, as yet, unapproved form of treatment.

Clinical phase l
The first time when a new substance is given to humans. Phase I studies are often carried out 
on a small number of healthy volunteers to study safety and dosage for an, as yet, unapproved 
form of treatment.

Clinical phase ll
Phase ll refers to the first time when a drug under development is given to patients to study the 
safety, dosage and efficacy of an, as yet, unapproved form of treatment.

Clinical phase lll
Phase III studies/trials comprise numerous patients and are often conducted over an extended 
period of time. They are intended to map the efficacy and side effects of the drug under ordinary 
but still closely monitored conditions.

Pivotal study (study forming the basis for a decision)
A clinical study designed to provide data on the efficacy and safety of the drug when applying 
for marketing authorisation from the FDA or EMA, for example. 

Production: Stakeholder communication in partnership with Carlund & Co. and Isofol Medical AB (publ.).
Photos, page 1: Random42 Scientific Communication; page 3: iStock; page 4: iStock; page 8: Shutterstock; page 16: Josh Felise; 
page 24: Peter Johansson, Bild och Media, SkaS; page 26: Michael Kessler; page 27 Depositphotos, other: Magnus Sundberg.
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Financial calendar
Interim Report, January-March 2019  23 May 2019
2018 Annual General Meeting   23 May 2019
Interim Report, January-June 2019    22 August 2019
Interim Report, January-September 2019 13 November 2019
Year-End Report, 2019     February 2020

For additional 
information
Anders Rabbe, Chief Executive Officer
anders.rabbe@isofolmedical.com

Gustaf Albèrt, Chief Financial Officer
+46 (0)709 168 302
gustaf.albert@isofolmedical.com

Isofol Medical AB (PUBL.)
Biotech Center
Arvid Wallgrens Backe 20
413 46 Gothenburg, Sweden

www.isofolmedical.com | info@isofolmedical.com
Company registration number: 556759-8064 | Registered office: Gothenburg
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A NEW DRUG 
FOR THE TREATMENT 
OF COLORECTAL CANCER 
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